

Loudoun County Baseline Biological Monitoring Survey (2004 – 2006)

Phase II: Clarks Run, Catoctin Creek, Quarter Branch, Dutchman Creek and Piney Run Conditions

> Prepared for: National Fish and Wildlife Foundation

Prepared by: Phong Trieu, Katherine Levendosky, and John Galli

Department of Environmental Programs Metropolitan Washington Council of Governments

October 2006

#### Acknowledgments

The authors wish to thank a number of individuals for their many contributions to this study. First and foremost, we thank the National Fish and Wildlife Foundation and Mr. Thomas Kelsch for providing the financial grant support necessary to make this study possible. Furthermore, we wish to especially thank Ms. Pat McIlvaine and Chris Van Vlack (Loudoun County Soil & Water Conservation District), for both coordination assistance and helping COG staff conduct the RSAT survey. Also, the creation of the many maps which appear in this report could not have been possible without the important contribution of data from Loudoun County's Mapping and Geographic Information, Public Information Center. We are very grateful to Fairfax County and more especially to Mr. Chad Grupe (Department of Public Works and Environmental Services, Stormwater Planning Division, Stream Protection Strategy Unit) for providing us with laboratory equipment necessary to identify all of the macroinvertebrate samples. Next, the authors would like to thank Mr. Michael Cole, Ph.D., (Alaska Biological Research Northeast Division) for helping to identify, to the species level, the mayfly *Ephemerella septentrionalis*. Finally, the authors would like to extend their appreciation to the COG Board, and in particular to Mr. Stuart Freudberg and Dr. Edward Graham (both COG) who provided support during the course of this project.

## **Executive Summary**

Under Phase II of a proposed multi-phased study, Clarks Run, Catoctin Creek, Quarter Branch, Dutchman Creek and Piney Run were surveyed to systematically evaluate existing physical, chemical and biological stream quality conditions. Using COG's Rapid Stream Assessment Technique (RSAT), 16 strategically located and representative mainstem and tributary sites (totaling approximately five stream miles) were surveyed between October 2005 and April 2006. This report presents the findings of the RSAT survey, and provides valuable baseline data for assessing general stream conditions in the five preceding watersheds.

In addition, COG staff analyzed existing riparian buffer conditions under 35, 50, 100, and 200 foot width scenarios (on both sides of the stream) for the Catoctin Creek watershed. Using the Loudoun County stream geodata file and year 2005 Spot 5 satellite imagery within the ArcGIS platform, riparian buffer conditions were additionally classified into two generic forest and non-forest categories.

Major summary findings for each of the six RSAT categories (i.e., Streambank Stability, Channel Scouring/Sediment Deposition, Physical Aquatic Habitat, Water Quality, Riparian Habitat Conditions, and Biological Indicators (Benthic Macroinvertebrates)) and the riparian buffer condition analyses are presented herein by individual watershed.

## 1. Streambank Stability

#### **Clarks Run**

Overall, streambank stability in Clarks Run (78.8 percent) was rated as being in the good range (i.e., 71 - 80 percent). Neither moderate/severe or severe bank erosion conditions were observed. A total length of 356.4 feet of moderate streambank erosion, representing 7.6 percent of the total stream network length, was recorded. The associated calculated rate for the moderate streambank erosion category (i.e., 60-70 percent of the bank network is stable) is 401.2 linear feet per mile. The majority of the stream network survey length was observed to have slight or slight/moderate levels of streambank erosion. Corresponding lengths were 1,951.0 feet and 2027.0 feet, respectively. Not surprisingly, moderate streambank erosion conditions were generally associated with streambank outer bends.

#### **Catoctin Creek**

#### **Mainstem Areas**

The overall, mean streambank stability for the Catoctin Creek upper mainstem surveyed area was, at 75.4 percent, rated as being good. Specifically, mean bank stability for the North and South Fork mainstem areas were 74.2 and 76.0 percent, placing them in the good range. Streambank erosion survey totals were as follows: 1,343.7 linear feet of moderate erosion, 270.5 linear feet of moderate/severe erosion and 153.3 linear feet of severe bank erosion. The moderate/severe and severe streambank erosion condition totals were recorded in the North Fork, Hillsboro Road, and in the South Fork, Ketoctin Church Road, stream segments, respectively. In addition, of the four recent tree falls observed, two were documented within the North Fork mainstem. Erosional log jams were not recorded for either the upper North or South Fork mainstems.

#### Tributaries

Overall mean streambank stability for the seven Catoctin Creek tributaries surveyed was in the fair to excellent range. Mean bank stability for the upper tributaries, Hamilton Station Road and Talbot Farm tributaries (i.e., 70.8 and 74.5 percent, respectively), was rated as being good. Mean bank stability for the middle tributaries, Clover Mill Road tributary (62.7 percent), Richard Creek (63.8 percent) and Brens Creek (69.2 percent), was rated fair. The mean bank stability for the lower tributaries, Milltown Creek (80.0 percent) and EcoVillage Tributary (80.5 percent), was rated as being excellent. RSAT Catoctin Creek tributary streambank erosion summary results are as follows: 6,000 linear feet of moderate erosion (i.e., 61-70 percent of the streambank network is stable), 2,939.3 linear feet of moderate/severe erosion (i.e., 10.50-60 percent of the streambank network is stable). In addition, a total of eight recent tree falls were recorded - two each in the Hamilton Station Road tributary and two in Milltown Creek.

#### **Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek**

Streambank stability for both Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek was rated as being excellent (i.e., greater than 80 percent of the bank network is stable). Moderate/severe or severe erosion conditions were not observed at either survey site. RSAT Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek streambank erosion survey results and totals are as follows: 1) Quarter Branch - 203 linear feet of moderate streambank erosion (i.e., 5.4 percent of the surveyed streambank network), 2) Dutchman Creek - 320 linear feet of moderate streambank erosion (i.e., 11.9 percent of the surveyed streambank network) and 3) two recent tree falls, both observed within Quarter Branch.

#### **Piney Run**

Overall mean streambank stability in Piney Run (i.e., 87.1 percent) was rated as being in the excellent range. Mean streambank stability for the middle and the lower mainstem areas surveyed was 89.2 and 85.0 percent, respectively. It should be noted that neither moderate/severe or severe streambank erosion conditions were observed during COG's Piney Run 2005 survey. However, streambank erosion levels in lower Piney Run increased noticeably from COG's 2000 and 2002 surveys. This has resulted in a six percent lower 2005 streambank stability rating for the lower mainstem. RSAT 2005 Piney Run streambank erosion survey results are as follows: zero linear feet of moderate/severe or severe erosion, 300 linear feet of moderate erosion, and no recent tree falls. One erosional log jam was recorded for the lower mainstem; whereas, none was recorded for the middle mainstem.

## 2. Channel Scouring/Sediment Deposition

## **Clarks Run**

Large, unstable point bars were not observed in Clarks Run. Riffle embeddedness levels were rated as being good to excellent, and ranged from 23 to 60 percent. The overall mean embeddedness level of 42.7 percent was rated as being good. RSAT survey results also revealed a moderate level of in-channel sand deposition.

#### **Catoctin Creek**

#### **Mainstem Areas**

The observed mainstem riffle embeddedness levels, with the exception of South Fork at Piggott Bottom, were in the good category (i.e., 25-50 percent). Riffle embeddedness for the South Fork at Piggott Bottom Road was 80.7 percent (poor category). The overall mean embeddedness level for the three mainstem stream segments was 51.3 percent (fair). In addition, the relative level of in-channel sand deposition was generally in the high range for the South Fork (Piggott Bottom Road); whereas, it was in the moderate/high range for both the South Fork (Ketoctin Church Road) and North Fork (Hillsboro Road). The relatively low embeddedness levels in combination with low levels of in-channel sand deposits, suggests that sandy sediment loads are generally low and that such material is efficiently transported in these mainstem areas.

#### Tributaries

A total of seven large point bars were observed. Three of these (i.e., 43 percent) were unstable and were distributed evenly among the middle tributaries: Clover Mill Road tributary (one), Richard Creek (one) and Brens Creek (one). Riffle embeddedness levels varied, ranging from 63.3 percent (fair) to 15 percent (excellent). Upper Milltown Creek (63.3 percent) and middle Milltown Creek (15.0 percent) represented the two ends of this spectrum. The relative level of in-channel sand deposition varied from low for the Hamilton Station Road tributary and middle Milltown Creek to moderate/ high for upper Milltown Creek.

#### **Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek**

Large point bars were not observed in Quarter Branch. A total of two large point bars, both of which were stable, were observed in the Dutchman Creek surveyed mainstem. Mean embeddedness levels in Quarter Branch, 55 percent, were rated as being fair (i.e., 51 - 75 percent). In contrast, the Dutchman Creek embeddedness levels were rated as being excellent, ranging from 10 to 25 percent.

#### **Piney Run**

A total of four large point bars were observed; two were classified as unstable (i.e., devoid of any vegetation), and both were located in the lower mainstem. Riffle embeddedness levels ranged from poor (i.e., 100 percent) to excellent (i.e., 10 percent). The overall mean mainstem embeddedness level of 34.1 percent was rated good.

## 3. Physical Aquatic Habitat

#### **Clarks Run**

The overall RSAT physical aquatic habitat condition rating for Clarks Run was good. Major contributing factors for this rating were low embeddedness levels (i.e., 42.7 percent = good), relatively deep mean riffle depths (i.e., greater than 2.5 inches deep) and excellent pool quality. Generally, the excellent pools were deep (i.e., greater than 22 inches), featured cobble and large gravel substrate, provided abundant overhead cover for fish, and were frequently associated with in-stream limestone rock outcrops.

#### **Catoctin Creek**

#### **Mainstem Areas**

RSAT physical aquatic habitat condition ratings were as follows: 1) Good - South Fork, (Piggott Bottom Road) and South Fork (Ketoctin Church Road), 2) Excellent - North Fork (Hillsboro Road). Major contributing factors for the good and excellent ratings were the presence of deeper pools and good, coarse-sized riffle substrate material.

## Tributaries

RSAT physical aquatic habitat condition ratings for the upper, middle and lower tributaries were all good. With the exception of Richard Creek, pools were present in relatively high numbers and featured both good depth (i.e., >18 inches) and overhead cover for fish habitat. For Richard Creek, shallow pool depth (i.e., <12 inches), suboptimal substrate composition (i.e., dominated by small sandy/silty material) and the lack of overhead cover for fish habitat, all contributed to the poor pool quality rating.

#### **Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek**

RSAT physical aquatic habitat condition ratings for both Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek were good. For Quarter Branch, the major contributing factors for its good rating included good pool quality (i.e., pools were >18 inches with abundant overhead cover for fish habitat) and good mean wetted perimeter (i.e., that portion of the bottom channel width at a riffle covered with water). For Dutchman Creek, the major contributing factors for the good rating included good riffle substrate quality (i.e., high levels of coarse substrate material such as cobble, rubble and gravel with little sand present) and very good quality pools.

#### **Piney Run**

The RSAT physical aquatic habitat condition rating for Piney Run was good. One of the major factors contributing to the overall good rating was excellent riffle substrate quality. In addition, the mean pool quality for both the middle and lower mainstem areas were rated as good and very good, respectively. It should be noted that for the lower mainstem, little has changed in the riffle substrate material composition since the 2000 and 2002 surveys. In contrast, pool quality and depth has dramatically improved, increasing from a poor to very good rating. No fish barriers were observed in any of the surveyed years.

## 4. Water Quality

#### **Clarks Run**

The mean TDS concentration, 240 mg/l, was in the poor range (i.e., >150 mg/l), but also reflects the higher level of dissolved solids associated with streams draining limestone parent material. Not surprisingly, pH (9.51) was within the alkaline range. The mean nitrate level of 3.8 mg/l is considered high (i.e., >3.0 mg/l). A 0.5 mg/l concentration is generally considered to be the upper threshold level for naturally occurring nitrate. Mean substrate fouling, 65 percent, was in the poor range (i.e., >50%). With regard to instantaneous dissolved oxygen (DO) levels, there were no violations of the Virginia Department of Environmental Quality (VADEQ) minimum 4.0 mg/l criterion. In fact, Clarks Run was

observed to be well oxygenated, with a mean DO concentration of 12.83 mg/l. The overall RSAT water quality rating for Clarks Run was fair.

## **Catoctin Creek**

#### **Mainstem Areas**

Levels of total dissolved solids (TDS) for the three mainstem stream segments ranged from fair (i.e., 101-150 mg/l) to good (i.e., 50-100 mg/l). The highest mean TDS concentration, 150 mg/l, was observed in the North Fork (Hillsboro Road). Nitrate concentrations were all within the upper moderate range (i.e., 1.1 - 2.9 mg/l). The highest (2.7 mg/l) and lowest (2.4 mg/l) mean nitrate concentration levels were observed in the North Fork (Hillsboro Road) and both South Fork stream segments, respectively. Mean substrate fouling levels were all in the poor to fair range. Mainstem RSAT water quality scores were all in the fair range.

## Tributaries

Tributary TDS levels ranged from 50 mg/l (good) to 160 mg/l (poor). The highest mean TDS concentration, 160 mg/l, was recorded at the Hamilton Station Road tributary. Nitrate concentrations ranged from 1.6 mg/l up to 4.5 mg/l and fell within the moderate to high range. The highest nitrate concentration (4.5 mg/l) was observed at the Hamilton Station Road tributary. At the time of the survey, several horses occupied a paddock area and field that were in close proximity to the stream. Mean substrate fouling levels ranged from a low of 27 percent (fair) to a high of 68 percent (poor). Except for the two Milltown Creek stream segments, which were rated good (i.e., 5-6 points), overall RSAT water quality ratings for the tributaries were all fair.

#### **Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek**

TDS levels were in the fair range for Quarter Branch (i.e., 101-150 mg/l) and in the good range for Dutchman Creek (i.e., 50-100 mg/l). Nitrate concentrations for Quarter Branch were high (i.e., >3.0 mg/l) and moderate for Dutchman Creek (i.e., 1.1-2.9 mg/l). Quarter Branch substrate fouling levels were excellent (i.e., <11 percent of the bottom side of cobble-sized stones covered by organic film); whereas, Dutchman Creek's were fair (i.e., 21-50 percent of the bottom side of cobble-sized stones covered by organic film). The overall RSAT water quality ratings for Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek were good and fair, respectively.

## **Piney Run**

TDS levels for both Piney Run mainstem sites were in the good range (i.e., 50 - 100 mg/l). The nitrate concentration for the middle mainstem was low (i.e., 0.3 mg/l) and moderate (2.8 mg/l) for the lower mainstem. Mean substrate fouling levels were in the fair range at both locations, with the fouling level at the middle mainstem bordering on good.

# 5. Riparian Habitat Conditions

### **Clarks Run**

The Clarks Run riparian habitat condition was rated as being in the lower good range. The overall mean canopy coverage observed along the survey reach was 82 percent, which is considered excel-

lent. Riparian buffer vegetation composition was typically a mix of forest, grass and row crop (i.e., corn). The buffer was generally 200 feet wide or greater on both sides of the stream.

#### **Catoctin Creek**

#### **Mainstem Areas**

Riparian habitat conditions within the three surveyed Catoctin Creek mainstem areas were rated as being in the fair to excellent range. Mean canopy coverage ranged from a low of 58.3 percent to a high of 78.0 percent, averaging 65.4 percent (i.e., good). While portions of the riparian buffer zones contained mixed forest/grass or grass only (i.e., South Fork - Ketoctin Church Road) vegetation types, the vast majority of the steam corridors were comprised of mature hardwood forest. Riparian buffer widths were generally good to excellent, ranging from 100 (i.e., good range) to greater than 200 feet (i.e., excellent range).

#### Tributaries

RSAT riparian habitat condition ratings for the Catoctin Creek tributaries ranged from poor to good, with an overall fair rating. Mean canopy coverage ranged from poor (i.e., <50 percent) to good (i.e., 60-79 percent) with an overall fair (i.e., 50.3 percent) rating. In general, riparian vegetation consisted primarily of hardwood forest with some grass area intermixed. For the EcoVillage tributary, riparian vegetation was principally hardwood forest (optimal vegetation type). In sharp contrast, the Brens Creek buffer was predominately suboptimal grass vegetation. Mean riparian buffer widths for all tributary areas surveyed were generally rated as being good (i.e., >100 feet).

#### **Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek**

Riparian habitat conditions within Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek were rated as being in the fair to good range. Quarter Branch mean canopy coverage was 63 percent (good). Its riparian buffer zone widths were generally greater than 200 feet wide and consisted of hardwood forest. Dutchman Creek mean canopy coverage was 52 percent (fair), and its mean riparian buffer zone width was 170 feet. It also featured a mix of forest/grass vegetation types.

#### **Piney Run**

RSAT riparian habitat condition ratings for both Piney Run mainstem sites were good. The middle Piney Run riparian corridor included a wide, hardwood forest buffer (i.e., >200 feet wide) with good (i.e., 60-79%) canopy coverage. The riparian buffer along the lower Piney Run mainstem was generally well-forested and wide. This survey reach included a well-maintained, gravel surfaced road that paralleled the stream for most of its length. This effectively reduced the right bank buffer width to 20 to 30 feet.

## 6. Biological Indicators (Benthic Macroinvertebrates)

#### **Clarks Run**

Macroinvertebrate community conditions for the Clarks Run mainstem were excellent. The RSAT voucher total number of taxa collected was 29 (excellent). A total of twelve taxa from the pollution intolerant stonefly, flathead mayfly and cased caddisfly groups (i.e., Ephemeroptera, Plecoptera and Trichoptera - EPT) were present. This voucher included a stonefly family group (i.e., Capniidae) that is

generally considered highly pollution intolerant. As for relative abundance for the EPT taxa groups, flathead mayflies, stoneflies and cased caddisflies were classified as 'scarce/common'. The relative abundance of roundhead mayflies was also observed to be 'scarce/common'. It should be noted that the relative abundance of moderately pollution tolerant cranefly larvae was 'common.'

#### **Catoctin Creek**

#### **Mainstem Areas**

Macroinvertebrate community conditions for the three Catoctin Creek mainstem survey areas were rated as being in the fair to excellent range. RSAT voucher total number of taxa results were as follows: 1) South Fork - Ketoctin Church Road, 26 (excellent), Piggott Bottom Road, 14 (fair), and 2) North Fork - Hillsboro Road, 22 (good). Taxa from the pollution intolerant stonefly, flathead mayfly and cased caddisfly groups (i.e., Ephemeroptera, Plecoptera and Trichoptera - EPT) were present at South Fork (Ketoctin Church Road) and North Fork (Hillsboro Road). Stonefly individuals were absent at South Fork (Piggott Bottom Road). However, both the flathead mayfly and cased caddisfly groups were present. As for relative EPT abundance at the three mainstem sites, stoneflies were classified as being 'common' in the South Fork (Ketoctin Church Road) and generally 'scarce' to absent elsewhere. In addition, the relative abundance of flathead mayflies were 'common' only at North Fork (Hillsboro Road) and 'scarce' at the other two mainstem sites. Cased caddisflies were 'scarce' in all three mainstem survey areas.

#### Tributaries

Macroinvertebrate community conditions for the Catoctin Creek tributaries surveyed were all rated excellent. RSAT voucher total number of taxa ranged from 27 to 40 (i.e., excellent range). Pollution intolerant taxa of stonefly, flathead mayfly and cased caddisfly groups were present in all tributary stream reaches. The relative abundance of the EPT individuals were generally 'scarce' to 'scarce/common' in all of the tributary stream segments. The single exception was Brens Creek, where stoneflies and cased caddisflies were 'common' in abundance.

#### **Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek**

Macroinvertebrate community conditions for Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek were rated excellent. The RSAT voucher total number of taxa collected for Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek was 11 (fair) and 23 (good) taxa. As for the pollution intolerant stonefly, flathead mayfly and cased caddisfly groups, 11 taxa groups were collected in Dutchman Creek; whereas, only five were collected in Quarter Branch. It should be noted that the stonefly family group, Taeniopterygidae (generally considered highly pollution intolerant), were present in both streams. Dutchman Creek also included two other stonefly individuals, *Acroneuria sp.* and *Eccoptura sp.*, both highly pollution intolerant. The relative abundance of the mayflies, stoneflies and caddisflies (i.e., EPT taxa groups) generally fell into the 'scarce/common' to 'common' category for Dutchman Creek. Notably, net-spinning caddisflies and water pennies were both observed to be 'common/abundant'. As for Quarter Branch, stoneflies belonging to the family Capniidae were observed to be 'common'. Flathead mayflies, generally considered more pollution intolerant than the roundhead mayflies, were absent from the survey. Cranefly larvae were also observed to be 'common' in relative abundance.

#### **Piney Run**

The macroinvertebrate conditions for both Piney Run mainstem reaches were excellent. Specifically, the RSAT voucher number of taxa collected for the middle and lower reaches totaled 19 (i.e., good) and 15 (i.e., fair), respectively. Pollution intolerant mayflies representing Heptageniidae and Isonychiidae families and stoneflies representing Perlidae family were present at both sites. Their relative abundances were observed to be in the 'scarce/common' to common/abundant' ranges. It should be noted that pollution intolerant cased caddisflies were not observed in the lower mainstem. In contrast, the highly pollution intolerant cased caddisfly, *Glossosoma sp.*, was observed to be 'scarce/ common' in the middle mainstem.

## Catoctin Creek Riparian Buffer Analysis

#### **Riparian Buffer Condition Result**

In 2005, approximately 56 percent of the total 200 foot buffer area (i.e., 3,973.2 acres) was forested. The total land areas covered by a forested buffer within riparian buffer widths of 35, 50, 100 and 200 feet were 505.6, 690.3, 1,283.8 and 2,226.4 acres, respectively. The associated overall percent forest canopy coverage within the four buffer widths were 68.0, 68.0, 60.9, and 56.0 percent, respectively.

#### Non-Forested 35 Foot Wide Riparian Buffer

The COG analysis identified a number of areas lacking forest cover within the 35 foot buffer zone scenario (Table 32). Approximately 25 miles of mainstem and tributary streams do not meet the 35 foot forested riparian buffer. The Talbot Farm tributary has the greatest non-forested stream length, with 1.6 miles of its total 2.0 miles (i.e., 82.8 percent) lacking a 35 foot riparian buffer. In contrast, stream lengths lacking forest coverage within the 35 foot riparian buffer zone along the Catoctin Creek mainstem comprised only 1.3 miles of the total 18.1 mile stream length (i.e., 7.4 percent).

#### **Potential Riparian Buffer Reforestation Areas**

COG staff identified 271 potential sites for both riparian reforestation candidate and livestock exclusion sites within the 35 and 100 foot wide buffer areas. Of this total, 165 sites were identified for the 100 foot buffer scenario. For the Catoctin Creek mainstem-specific potential riparian buffer reforestation areas, the reader is referred to Appendix 6, Figures 1 through 3. A more extensive list for both the mainstem and tributary candidate sites can be found in Appendix 6, Tables 2 and 3.

## Table of Contents

List of Tables xii	
List of Figures xiv	
1.0 Introduction 1	
1.1 Project Background1	
1.2 Loudoun County - Major Watersheds 1	
2.0 Study Design/Methods 4	
2.1 Study Area	
2.2 RSAT Level III Survey	
2.2.1 Bank Stability 6	
2.2.2 Channel Scouring/Sediment Deposition	
2.2.3 Physical Instream Habitat7	
2.2.4 Water Quality	
2.2.5 Riparian Habitat	
2.2.6 Biological Indicators-Benthic Macroinvertebrate Biosurvey	
2.3 Channel Cross-Sections	
2.4 Modified Pebble Count Survey	
2.5 Modified Rosgen Level I and II-Stream Channel Morphology Characterization 10	
2.6 Biological Monitoring	
2.6.1 RSAT Macroinvertebrate Voucher Sample	
2.6.2 20-Jab Best Habitat Macroinvertebrate Sampling 10	
2.6.3 Taxonomy 10	
2.6.4 Macroinvertebrate Biosurvey Scoring 11	
2.7 Catoctin Creek Riparian Buffer Analysis 11	
3.0 Results	
3.1 Clarks Run	
3.1.1 Streambank Stability, Relative Erodibility and Channel Downcutting	
3.1.2 Channel Scouring and Sediment Deposition 17	
3.1.3 Physical Aquatic Habitat	

3.1.4	Water Quality	19
3.1.5	Riparian Habitat Conditions	20
3.1.6	Biological Condition - Benthic Macroinvertebrate Survey	21
3.1.7	RSAT Summary Stream Quality Ratings	24
3.2 Ca	atoctin Creek Watershed - North and South Forks, and Tributaries	26
3.2.1	Streambank Stability, Relative Erodibility and Channel Downcutting	26
3.2.2	Channel Scouring and Sediment Deposition	36
3.2.3	Physical Aquatic Habitat	38
3.2.4	Water Quality	41
3.2.5	Riparian Habitat Conditions	44
3.2.6	Biological Condition - Benthic Macroinvertebrate Survey	46
3.2.7	RSAT Summary Stream Quality Ratings	54
3.3 Qu	arter Branch and Middle Dutchman Creek Watersheds	56
3.3.1	Streambank Stability, Relative Erodibility and Channel Downcutting	56
3.3.2	Channel Scouring and Sediment Channel Deposition	60
3.3.3	Physical Aquatic Habitat	62
3.3.4	Water Quality	63
3.3.5	Riparian Habitat Conditions	65
3.4.6	Biological Condition - Benthic Macroinvertebrate Survey	66
3.4.7	RSAT Summary Stream Quality Ratings	70
3.4 Pir	ney Run Watershed	72
3.4.1	Streambank Stability, Relative Erodibility and Channel Downcutting	72
3.4.2	Channel Scouring and Sediment Deposition	76
3.4.3	Physical Aquatic Habitat	78
3.4.4	Water Quality	80
3.4.5	Riparian Habitat Conditions	81
3.4.6	Biological Condition - Benthic Macroinvertebrate Survey	82
3.4.7	RSAT Summary Stream Quality Ratings	87
3.5 Ca	toctin Creek Riparian Buffer Analysis	89
3.5.1	Potential Riparian Reforestation Areas	89
3.5.2	Non-Forested 35 Foot Wide Riparian Buffer	92

3.5.3 Potential Riparian Buffer Reforestation Areas	93
4.0 Study Recommendations	95
4.1 General Recommendations	94
4.2 Watershed - Specific Recommendations	96
4.2.1 Clarks Run	97
4.2.2 Catoctin Creek	98
4.2.3 Piney Run	100
4.2.4 Quarter Branch	100
4.2.5 Dutchman Creek	100
5.0 Literature Cited	101
6.0 Appendix	105

# List of Tables

Table 1. Loudoun County Major Watershed - General Study Area Information	.3
Table 2. RSAT Scoring System	. 8
Table 3. Clarks Run - Streambank Erosion Conditions	. 13
Table 4. Summary: Clarks Run - Stream Channel Downcutting	. 15
Table 5. Summary: Clarks Run - Channel Scouring/Sediment Deposition Conditions	. 17
Table 6. Summary: Clarks Run - General Physical Aquatic Habitat Conditions	. 18
Table 7. Summary: Clarks Run - Riparian Habitat Conditions	. 20
Table 8. Summary: Clarks Run - 1m <sup>2</sup> Macroinvertebrate Sample Metrics and Fairfax County SPS      IBI Score and Rating	. 23
Table 9. Clarks Run Study Summary: RSAT Rating	. 24
Table 10. Catoctin Creek - Streambank Erosion Conditions	. 27
Table 11. Summary: Catoctin Creek – Stream Channel Downcutting	. 29
Table 12. Summary: Catoctin Creek – Channel Scouring/Sediment Deposition Conditions	. 36
Table 13. Summary: Catoctin Creek - General Physical Aquatic Habitat Conditions	. 39
Table 14. Summary: Catoctin Creek - Riparian Habitat Conditions	. 44
Table 15. Summary: Catoctin Creek - 1m <sup>2</sup> Macroinvertebrate Sample Metrics and Fairfax County      SPS IBI Score and Rating	.52
Table 16. Catoctin Creek Study Summary: RSAT Ratings	. 54
Table 17. Summary: Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek - Streambank Erosion Conditions	. 56
Table 18. Summary: Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek - Stream Channel Downcutting	. 60
Table 19. Summary: Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek - Channel Scouring/Sediment      Deposition Conditions	. 60
Table 20. Summary: Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek - General Physical Aquatic Habitat      Conditions	. 62
Table 21. Summary: Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek - Riparian Habitat Conditions	. 65

Table 22. Summary: Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek - 1m² Macroinvertebrate Sample Metrics and      Fairfax County SPS IBI Score and Rating      69
Table 23. Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek Study Summary: RSAT Ratings 70
Table 24. Piney Run - Streambank Erosion Conditions 72
Table 25. Summary: Piney Run – Stream Channel Downcutting
Table 26. Summary: Piney Run – Channel Scouring/Sediment Deposition Conditions    76
Table 27. Summary: Piney Run - General Physical Aquatic Habitat Conditions 78
Table 28. Summary: Piney Run - Riparian Habitat Conditions 81
Table 29. Summary: Piney Run - 1m² Macroinvertebrate Sample Metrics and Fairfax County      SPS IBI Score and Rating
Table 30. Piney Run Study Summary: RSAT Ratings 87
Table 31. Catoctin Creek: Summary - 2005 Riparian Forest Buffer Acreage And Percent Cover
Table 32. Catoctin Creek: Summary - 35 Foot Width Riparian Buffer Scenario 92

# **List of Figures**

Figure 1. Loudoun County Major Watersheds - Study Area
Figure 2. Loudoun County - General RSAT Transect Station Locations
Figure 3. Summary: Clarks Run - Bank Stability
Figure 4. Summary: Clarks Run - Mean Streambank Stability and Relative Erodibility (%)15
Figure 5. Representative Channel Cross-Sections - Clarks Run Mainstem
Figure 6. Clarks Run - Mean Riffle Embeddedness Levels
Figure 7. Clarks Run - Mean Riffle Substrate and Pool Quality
Figure 8. Clarks Run - TDS, Nitrate and Mean Substrate Fouling
Figure 9. Summary: Clarks Run Mainstem RSAT Voucher Collection Macroinvertebrate Condition
Figure 10. Clarks Run Mainstem - Mean Relative Abundance of Observed Macroinvertebrates and General Pollution Tolerance
Figure 11. Clarks Run Study Summary: RSAT Ratings
Figure 12. Summary: Catoctin Creek - Mean Streambank Stability and Relative Erodibility (%)
Figure 13. Summary: Catoctin Creek - Bank Stability
Figure 14. Representative Channel Cross-Sections - Catoctin Creek Mainstems
Figure 15. Representative Channel Cross-Sections - Catoctin Creek Tributaries
Figure 16. Representative Channel Cross-Sections - Catoctin Creek Tributaries
Figure 17. Representative Channel Cross-Sections - Catoctin Creek Tributaries
Figure 18. Catoctin Creek – Mean Riffle Embeddedness Levels
Figure 19. Catoctin Creek - Mean Riffle Substrate and Pool Quality
Figure 20. Catoctin Creek - TDS, Nitrate and Mean Substrate Fouling
Figure 21. Summary: Catoctin Creek Mainstem RSAT Voucher Collection Macroinvertebrate Conditions

Figure 22. Catoctin Creek Mainstems - Mean Relative Abundance of Observed Macroinvertebrates and General Pollution Tolerance
Figure 23. Catoctin Creek Upper Tributaries - Mean Relative Abundance of Observed Macroinvertebrates and General Pollution Tolerance
Figure 24. Catoctin Creek Middle Tributaries - Mean Relative Abundance of Observed Macroinvertebrates and General Pollution Tolerance
Figure 25. Catoctin Creek Lower Tributaries - Mean Relative Abundance of Observed Macroinvertebrates and General Pollution Tolerance
Figure 26. Catoctin Creek Study Summary: RSAT Ratings
Figure 27. Summary: Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek - Mean Streambank Stability and Relative Erodibility (%)
Figure 28. Summary: Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek - Streambank Stability Conditions 58
Figure 29. Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek Mainstem - Representative Channel Cross-Sections
Figure 30. Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek - Mean Riffle Embeddedness Levels
Figure 31. Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek - Mean Riffle Substrate and Pool Quality
Figure 32. Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek - TDS, Nitrate and Mean Substrate Fouling 64
Figure 33. Summary: Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek Mainstem RSAT Voucher Collection Macroinvertebrate Conditions
Figure 34. Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek Mainstems - Mean Relative Abundance of Observed Macroinvertebrates and General Pollution Tolerance
Figure 35. Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek Study Summary: RSAT Ratings
Figure 36. Summary: Piney Run - Mean Streambank Stability and Relative Erodibility (%)
Figure 37. Summary: Piney Run - Streambank Stability
Figure 38. Piney Run Mainstem - Representative Channel Cross-Sections
Figure 39. Piney Run – Mean Riffle Embeddedness Levels
Figure 40. Summary: Piney Run - Mean Riffle Substrate and Pool Quality
Figure 41. Piney Run - TDS, Nitrate and Mean Substrate Fouling
Figure 42. Summary: Piney Run Mainstem RSAT Voucher Collection Macroinvertebrate Conditions

Figure 43. Piney Run Mainstems - Mean Relative Abundance of Observed Macroinvertebrates and General Pollution Tolerance	4
Figure 44. Piney Run Study Summary: RSAT Ratings	8
Figure 45. Catoctin Creek: 2005 Riparian Forest Buffer Condition9	1
Figure 46. South Fork Catoctin Creek: Mainstem - Riparian Buffer Immediately North of Old Wheatland Road	3
Figure 47. Catoctin Creek Tributary - Brens Creek (Ash George Road In The Vicinity of Rehobeth Church Road)	94

## **1.0 Introduction**

#### 1.1 Project Background

Loudoun County is currently the most rapidly developing jurisdiction in both the Washington Metropolitan Area (WMA) and the state of Virginia. In the year 2000, the county's human population was estimated to be 169,599. By 2005, it had increased by 50 percent to 255,518 people. Regional forecasts (MWCOG, 2005) predict an additional 161 percent in growth by the year 2030. Not surprisingly, significant development-related pressure is and will continue to be placed on Loudoun County's water resources. This is particularly the case for stream systems located within major growth corridors, such as Leesburg Pike (Route 7) and Mosby Highway (Route 50). In response, the Metropolitan Washington Council of Governments (COG) in partnership with the Loudoun Soil and Water Conservation District (LSWCD), has continued, using a phased approach, to comprehensively evaluate existing stream quality conditions. As part of this Phase II study, 16 representative mainstem and tributary sites strategically located within the Clarks Run, Catoctin Creek, Quarter Branch, Dutchman Creek and Piney Run watersheds were surveyed.

In addition, in an effort to provide a more accurate picture of the current state of the Catoctin Creek riparian buffer system, COG analyzed the percent forest and non-forest coverage by employing both 2005 Spot 5 satellite 'leaf-on' imagery data and the Loudoun County Office of Mapping stream geodata layer. It is expected that this riparian buffer data will complement the water chemistry and biological data generated and will be invaluable to Loudoun County in its efforts to develop and carry out total mean daily load (TMDL) implementation-related activities such as the prioritization of livestock exclusion areas.

COG's Rapid Stream Assessment Technique (RSAT) Level III survey (for characterizing existing stream conditions) was employed in the Phase II study. In addition, given Loudoun County's desire for additional channel morphology, a limited and modified Rosgen Level I and II stream morphology analysis was also performed. The total associated Phase II steam length surveyed by the RSAT method was approximately five miles. It should be noted that private landowners denied stream access to COG staff at two additionally proposed Catoctin Creek tributary RSAT sites.

It is expected that the baseline condition data generated by this study will provide needed guidance for possible future watershed protection, restoration, monitoring and resource management initiatives and actions. The Phase II study also builds upon the success of previous COG Loudoun County RSAT baseline watershed surveys (i.e., The Sugarland Run Phase I: Mainstem Survey (Galli and Corish, 1996), Sugarland Run Phase II: Tributaries Survey (Galli, Corish and Trieu, 1998), Talbot Farm Subwatershed (Trieu, Galli and Corish, 1998) and Phase I: Broad Run, Goose Creek, Limestone Branch, Catoctin Creek, Dutchman Creek and Piney Run Mainstem Conditions (Trieu, Galli, Dittman, Smith and Vatovec, 2003)).

#### 1.2 Loudoun County - Major Watersheds

Clarks Run, Catoctin Creek, Quarter Branch, Dutchman Creek and Piney Run are five major watersheds in Loudoun County draining to the Potomac River (Figure 1). They vary tremendously in size, ranging from medium-sized second and third order streams (i.e., Clarks Run, Quarter Branch, Dutchman Creek and Piney Run) to much larger fourth order streams (i.e., Catoctin Creek). As seen in Table 1, drainage areas for the five study watersheds range from 2.9 up to 92.5 square miles.



Figure 1. Loudoun County Major Watersheds - Study Area

Table 1. Loudoun County Major Watershed - General Study Area Information

RSAT Stream Segment	Approx. Stream Segment Location	RSAT Survey Date	Drainage Area (mi²)	Est. Ex isting Im pe rviousness (%) <sup>1</sup>	Stream Order <sup>2</sup>	Surveyed Stream Length	Stream Gradient	No.of RSAT Transects
Clarks Run								
Clarks Run	Saint Clair Lane	12/23/2005	5.2	2.0	2	2,345	0.43%	с
Total			6.9	2.2	2	2,345		3
Catoctin Creek								
Upper - North Fork	Hillsboro Road	3/9/2006	14.6	1.6	ę	1,628	1.23%	с
Upper - South Fork	Ketoctin Church Road	2/9/2006	1.1	1.0	2	962	0.52%	ю
Upper - South Fork	Piggott Bottom Road	2/9/2006	15.7	1.8	с	1,396	0.36%	ę
Tributaries to Catoctin Creek								
Upper								
Ham ilton Station Road Tributary	Ham ilton Station Road	2/28/2006	2.1	5.2	-	3,170	0.63%	с
Talbot Farm s Tributary	Clarkes Gap Road	2/28/2006	3.5	2.0	2	3,094	0.97%	с
Middle								
Clover Mill Road Tributary	Clover Mill Road	3/29/2006	1.6	1.3	÷	1,312	1.14%	с
Richard Creek (Upper Brens Creek)	Purcellville Road	3/22/2006	4.0	2.1	2	1,273	1.18%	с
Brens Creek	Ash George Road	2/10/2006	8.4	2.9	2	1,496	0.33%	3
Lower								
Upper Milltown Creek	Bolington Road	3/9/2006	3.4	1.9	2	1,820	0.55%	3
Middle Milltown Creek	Milltown Road	3/22/2006	6.5	2.7	2	1,494	2.01%	ю
Ecovillage Trib.	Taylortown Road	12/28/2005	1.1	1.9	2	2,241	1.12%	с
Total			92.5	2.9	4	18,259		30
Quarter Branch								
Quarter Branch	Quarter Branch Road	12/28/2005	2.7	2.4	2	1,871	1.34%	3
Total			2.9	1.9	2	1,871		3
Dutchm an Creek								
Middle Dutchm an Creek	Dutchman Creek Road	10/28/2005	2.5	2.1	3	1,343	0.74%	3
Total			12.9	3.2	3	1,343		3
Piney Run								
Middle - Piney Run	Arnold Lane	10/19/2005	8.3	1.8	2	1,692	0.59%	3
Lower - Piney Run	Branch River Road	10/19/2005	13.8	1.4	2	1,063	0.47%	3
Total			14.9	1.4	3	2,755		6

3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Watershed impervious estimates extracted from RESAC 2000 Landsat 7 ETM imagery analysis for the WMA (COG and RESAC, 2003). <sup>2</sup> Stream order determination made using 200-foot scale topographic maps.

The preceding watersheds, in their Loudoun County portion, are generally located within the Piedmont Plateau physiographic province. Clarks Run is also located within the Piedmont Plateau lowland province, but is underlain mainly by limestone conglomerates. Piney Run, Quarter Branch, Dutchman Creek and Catoctin Creek are located in the Piedmont upland province which is underlain by granodiorite and schist rock materials. It should be noted that the Catoctin Creek, Dutchman Creek and Piney Run extreme headwater areas extend into the Blue Ridge physiographic province which is associated with the Blue Ridge, Short Hill and Catoctin Mountains.

Climate for Loudoun County is generally referred to as being continental. Annual average precipitation is around 41 inches (NOAA, 2005). At the end of the year 2005, the total rainfall amount was 2.65 inches more than the annual average. The highest monthly rainfall total (i.e., 9.22 inches) was observed for October, when the RSAT stream survey was started.

The Loudoun County watershed imperviousness levels were estimated from the Washington Metropolitan Area 2000 imperviousness map, which was developed by the Mid-Atlantic Regional Earth Science Application Center (RESAC) using Landsat 7 Enhanced Thematic Mapper imagery data (COG and RESAC, 2003). Results (Table 1) indicated that watershed imperviousness ranged from approximately 1.4 percent (Piney Run) up to 3.2 percent (Dutchman Creek). The highest impervious level (i.e., 5.2 percent) was reported for the Hamilton Station Road tributary subwatershed (Catoctin Creek).

The mainstem and tributaries for Clarks Run, Catoctin Creek, Quarter Branch, Dutchman Creek and Piney Run are all designated by Virginia Department of Environmental Quality as Class III, non-tidal Piedmont zone streams. Major associated state water quality criteria are as follows: the minimum daily dissolved oxygen level can not fall below 4.0 mg/l, the pH range must fall between 6.0-9.0 and water temperature can not exceed 32 degrees Celsius (90° Fahrenheit). These waters are also designated for the following uses: 1) recreational uses: swimming and boating; 2) the propagation and growth of balanced, indigenous populations of aquatic life, including game fish, which might reasonably be expected to inhabit them; 3) wildlife; and 4) the production of edible and marketable natural resources (e.g., fish and shellfish).

## 2.0 Study Design/Methods

## 2.1 Study Area

The 16 Rapid Stream Assessment Technique (RSAT) station locations (Figure 2) included both representative mainstem and tributary sites in Clarks Run, Catoctin Creek, Dutchman Creek, Quarter Branch and Piney Run. Importantly, each RSAT stream station featured a total of three transects (spaced on average approximately 500 to 700 feet apart), with an average total stream survey length of approximately 1,500 feet or longer. For RSAT study purposes, Catoctin Creek had its upper mainstem divided into respective North and South Forks similar to that of the 2002 study. Catoctin Creek tributaries were organized into the upper (i.e., above the confluence of the North and South Forks), middle (i.e., above the confluence of Brens Creek) and lower (i.e., below the confluence of Brens Creek) watershed portions. The Piney Run mainstem was also organized using a middle and lower mainstem approach. As for Clarks Run, Dutchman Creek and Quarter Branch, both middle and lower mainstem reaches were surveyed. Again, COG staff were denied access to two proposed Catoctin Creek tributary study sites (i.e., Featherbed Road and Waterford Down tributaries).



Data collected from the 48 steam transects were used to evaluate overall stream quality conditions and to allow for comparisons between segments within a watershed. Each RSAT segment latitude/longitude location was registered using a Trimble Global Positioning System (GPS) GeoExplorer XT receiver. These GPS-derived latitude/longitude coordinates are included as Appendix 1.

## 2.2 RSAT Level III Survey

The Rapid Stream Assessment Technique (RSAT) was developed by COG in 1992 to provide a simple, rapid reconnaissance-level assessment of stream quality conditions. Since its inception, RSAT has undergone a series of revisions and upgrades. The RSAT Level III method used in this study features quantitative macroinvertebrate community metric calculations, greater use of hand-held water quality meters for enhanced baseflow water quality characterization, pebble counts and the capacity to assess both Piedmont and Coastal Plain streams. RSAT employs both a reference stream and an integrated numerical scoring and verbal ranking approach.

The following six standard RSAT survey evaluation categories were assessed to compute the overall RSAT stream evaluation scores: 1) Bank Stability, 2) Channel Scouring/Sediment Deposition, 3) Physical Instream Habitat, 4) Water Quality, 5) Riparian Habitat Condition and 6) Biological Indicators. The Level III evaluation included both 20-jab, with a D-frame 600 micron mesh kick net, best habitat streambed sampling for macroinvertebrate metric calculations and Fairfax County, Virginia (Department of Public Works and Environmental Services, Stormwater Planning Division) Stream Protection Strategy (SPS) macroinvertebrate Index of Biological Integrity (IBI) scoring of surveyed stream reaches. Sample metrics included: 1) taxa richness, 2) total number of Ephemeroptera, Plecoptera, and Trichoptera (EPT) taxa, 3) percent of EPT individuals, 4) percent of Trichoptera without Hydropsychidae, 5) percent of Coleoptera individuals, 6) Hilsenhoff's Family Biotic index, 7) percent dominant taxa, 8) Percent of Clingers and Percent of Plecoptera individuals, 9) Percent Shredders, and 10) Percent Predators. The following sections provide a brief overview of the types of field measurements and observations made for each of the preceding six RSAT evaluation categories. The reader is referred to Appendix 2 for RSAT Level III survey field data.

#### 2.2.1 Bank Stability

One of the primary assessments of channel stability is overall bank stability which is evaluated through both a visual estimation of the percentage of bank length that is stable along each transect surveyed (expressed as a percentage) and a generalized approximation of the degree of erosion between transects (categorized verbally as stable, slight, slight/moderate, moderate, moderate/severe, or severe). To accurately document streambank channel conditions, COG staff employed the Trimble GEO-XT GPS receiver to register and georeference linear stream channel reaches that depicted the previous six channel streambank conditions. Additional observations factored into the bank stability evaluation include the stability of stream bend areas and the number of recent, large tree falls per stream mile. The relative erodibility of the soil material comprising the bottom one-third of the bank (the area most susceptible to erosion) is also considered.<sup>1</sup> Another factor considered in assessing channel stability is the degree of channel downcutting which is evaluated by a set of indicators that includes bank heights, exposed utility lines and nickpoints.<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Relative erodibility describes the erosion potential and is classified as low, moderate or high. Low potential denotes predominantly clay-textured soils, bedrock, saprolite and rip-rap; moderate potential characterizes non-silt or non-clay dominant soil textures; and high potential describes predominantly silt-textured soils.

#### 2.2.2 Channel Scouring/Sediment Deposition

A key factor in evaluating the degree of sediment deposition occurring along the stream channel is the mean embeddedness level of riffle substrate material.<sup>2</sup> Other important indicators of sediment load and transport include pool depths and the amount of silt and sand in pools; sand and silt deposits within run areas and along the tops of banks; and the number of large, unstable point bars. Point bars also provide insight into the degree of channel scouring. For example, point bars armored by cobble-sized materials generally reflect frequent, intense storm flows unlike point bars comprised of smaller, gravelly or sandy material. Scouring is also sometimes evidenced by riffle areas where lower-lying resistant streambed materials such as bedrock or clay have been exposed and the upper layers of loose substrate material have been stripped away.

#### 2.2.3 Physical Instream Habitat

Two important criteria include the quality of both riffle substrate material and pools. For higher gradient Piedmont streams, the ideal riffle substrate includes a mix of cobble, rubble, coarser gravel with some larger boulder-sized stones and little sand. Cobble and rubble-sized materials should be the dominant and co-dominant materials present, respectively. Poor riffle substrate quality is generally associated with a very high and disproportionate amount of sand, silt and fine gravel. Small riffle substrate, such as sand and fine gravel provides limited habitat for macroinvertebrates and fish, is inherently unstable and generally supports a limited biological community. Individual pool quality is assessed relative to its value as fish habitat and is based on five factors: 1) size and maximum pool depth, 2) substrate composition, 3) amount and type of overhead cover, 4) amount and type of submerged cover and 5) proximity to key food producing areas such as the nearest upstream riffle area. Another criteria considered in evaluating physical instream habitat is the stream channel's wetted perimeter at riffle areas.<sup>3</sup> Diverse depths of flow and velocities through riffles are important to the sustainability of diverse macroinvertebrate communities. Additional factors considered in assessing overall physical instream habitat include: the degree to which riffles, runs and pools are equally represented; channel alteration or significant point bar formation; the riffle/pool ratio and the number of fish barriers (either partial or complete) present.<sup>4</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Mean bank heights of one to two feet for small first and second-order streams and two to three feet for third-order streams approximate reference conditions. Sewer lines are typically laid three to four feet below the bottom of the streambed; therefore, their exposure offers insight into the depth of downcutting that has occurred. A nickpoint is an erosional feature in the streambed, marked by an abrupt drop in elevation, which is caused by stream headcutting.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Embeddedness is the amount of sand and/or silt that surrounds or covers larger riffle materials such as gravel, cobble, and rubble; it is expressed as a percentage.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Wetted perimeter is the percentage of the bottom channel width at riffle areas that contains flowing water.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Partial barriers denote any obstruction, which would likely prohibit or impede normal upstream-downstream fish movements during certain times of the year (e.g., low summer baseflow conditions). Complete barriers describe obstructions, which totally prevent the normal movement of fish throughout the year (e.g., a perched culvert, which features a three-foot-high vertical drop).

## 2.2.4 Water Quality

Two key RSAT indicators of baseflow water quality are substrate fouling and total dissolved solids (TDS). Substrate fouling provides a qualitative indirect measure of the chronic nutrient (primarily nitrogen) and organic carbon loading to a stream.<sup>1</sup> TDS levels often increase in response to the introduction of a variety of pollutants such as sewage from septic field/sanitary sewer line exfiltration, road salts, fertilizers, etc. Additional parameters measured include nitrate concentrations (which also provide indirect evidence of potential inputs such as sewage, chemical fertilizers and/or decaying organic matter), orthophosphate (a limiting macro-nutrient for algae), iron, copper, turbidity, water temperature, pH, dissolved oxygen (DO) and conductivity. Water clarity and odor are also documented. Baseflow water quality readings were taken using a Horiba U-10 water quality meter, Hach total dissolved solids (TDS) meter and Hach nitrate, orthophosphate, iron, sulfate, copper and fluoride pocket colorimeters.

#### 2.2.5 Riparian Habitat

The quality of riparian habitat is evaluated based on 1) the width of the vegetated buffer zone on the left and right banks and the type of vegetation (a forested buffer rating highest) and 2) the percent canopy coverage (i.e., shading) over the stream.

#### 2.2.6 Biological Indicators-Benthic Macroinvertebrate Biosurvey

Benthic macroinvertebrates are often used for biological monitoring because they are a ubiquitous diverse group of sedentary and relatively long-lived taxa, which often respond predictably to human watershed perturbations. Importantly, a stream's biological community normally responds to and is reflective of prevailing water quality and physical habitat conditions. The two principal factors considered in evaluating the benthic macroinvertebrate communities are: 1) the number of taxa present (i.e., species richness) and 2) the relative abundances (i.e., total number of individuals) of taxa present. Two types of macroinvertebrate samples were collected. For every survey reach, taxa were collected at each riffle transect area by compositing two one-square foot kick and two one-square foot jab samples. Representative individuals were preserved in ethyl alcohol and placed in the RSAT voucher collection. Sixteen RSAT stream segments and two Catoctin Creek tributaries with riffle areas present were also quantitatively sampled by compositing the 20-jab sample streambed area collected from all

PSAT Evolution Cotogony	General Verbal Ra	ating Categori	es and Associa	ated Point Range
RSAT Evaluation Category	Excellent	Good	Fair	Poor
1. Bank Stability	9 - 11	6 - 8	3 - 5	0 - 2
2. Channel Scouring/Sediment Deposition	7 - 8	5 - 6	3 - 4	0 - 2
3. Physical In-Stream Habitat	7 - 8	5 - 6	3 - 4	0 - 2
4. Water Quality	7 - 8	5 - 6	3 - 4	0 - 2
5. Riparian Habitat Conditions	6 - 7	4 - 5	2 - 3	0 - 1
6. Biological Indicators	7 - 8	5 - 6	3 - 4	0 - 2
Verbal Ranking (based on total score: 42-50 pts	= Excellent, 30-41 pt	s = Good, 16-29	pts = Fair, <16 pt	s = Poor)

Table 2.	RSAT	Scoring	System
----------	------	---------	--------

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Substrate fouling is defined as the percentage of the underside surface area of a cobble-sized stone (or larger) lying free on the streambed, which is coated with a biological film or growth.

representative available habitat. As previously stated, the 20-jab sample was used for Fairfax County, Virginia SPS macroinvertebrate IBI scoring evaluations. RSAT biological indicators scoring is based on both the taxa observed and collected as well as relative abundances over the entire survey reach.

An example of the RSAT scoring system has been included as Table 2. As seen in Table 2, the channel stability evaluation category was weighted slightly more heavily than the other five categories. This was done intentionally to reflect the major influence which the stream flow regime exerts on all six evaluation categories. For more detailed information regarding RSAT field protocols the reader is

referred to Appendix A of "Technical Memorandum: Rapid Stream Assessment Technique (RSAT) Field Methods" (Galli, 1996a).

# 2.3 Channel Cross-Sections

As part of the channel morphology characterization portion of the study, COG staff established channel cross-section stations at seven selected RSAT representative transect mainstem locations. At each station location, cross-sectional elevational differences were recorded, via the employment of both an 11 footlong fiberglass surveyor's rod and a Laser Tech Inc. Impulse<sup>®</sup> 200 Laser Rangefinder. Channel measurements were made to the nearest 100<sup>th</sup> of an inch. The following



Measurement Via the Employment of a Laser Tech, Inc. Impulse 200 Laser Rangefinder

sixteen RSAT channel mainstem locations were selected:

- Clarks Run Lower mainstem (Saint Clair Lane);
- Catoctin Creek Upper south mainstem (Ketoctin Church Road and Piggott Bottom Road areas) and upper north mainstem (Hillsboro Road area);
- Catoctin Creek Tributaries Hamilton Station Road tributary (Hamilton Station Road), Talbot Farm tributary (Clarkes Gap Road), Clover Mill Road tributary (Clover Mill Road), Richard Creek (Purcellville Road), Brens Creek (Ash George Road), upper Milltown Creek (Bolington Road), middle Milltown Creek (Milltown Road), and EcoVillage tributary (Taylortown Road);
- Quarter Branch (Garnet Road);
- Dutchman Creek Middle mainstem (Irish Corner Road); and
- Piney Run Middle mainstem (Arnold Lane) and lower mainstem (Branchriver Road).

# 2.4 Modified Pebble Count Survey

A modified Wolman (1954) pebble count survey was performed at the previously mentioned 16 RSAT representative transect mainstem locations. The survey incorporated results from both the riffle substrate size distribution and the streambed materials observed within the 500-700 foot long RSAT transect station reach. The modified pebble count survey is a rapid procedure designed to qualitatively characterize the common substrate particle size within the given survey reach.

# 2.5 Modified Rosgen Level I and II-Stream Channel Morphology Characterization

Measurements to characterize Level I (e.g., Stream Type B, moderately entrenched, moderate gradient, riffle dominated channel with stable banks, width/depth ratio > 1.2, etc.) and Level II (e.g., bankfull width, mean depth, bankfull cross-section area, width/depth ratio, maximum depth of the bankfull cross-section, width of flood prone area, entrenchment ratio, water surface slope, etc.) conditions were performed employing a Laser Tech Incorporated Impulse® 200 Laser. For further Rosgen Level I and II method descriptions, the reader is referred to "<u>Applied River Morphology</u>" (Rosgen, 1996). For results of the Modified Rosgen Level I and II-Stream Channel Morphology Characterization, the reader is referred to Appendix 4.

# 2.6 Biological Monitoring

# 2.6.1 RSAT Macroinvertebrate Voucher Sample

RSAT Level III surveys were conducted in fall 2005 and spring 2006. For each RSAT riffle transect area, taxa were collected from representative riffle, run and pool habitat via the previously stated two one-square foot kick and two one-square foot jab protocol. A D-frame net with a 600-micron mesh was used to collect macroinvertebrates. In addition, macroinvertebrates were collected at each transect from the bottom side of 10 cobble-sized stones and included in the voucher collection.

# 2.6.2 20-Jab Best Habitat Macroinvertebrate Sampling



Macroinvertebrate 20-Jab Best Habitat Sampling

As part of the RSAT Level III evalua-

tion, spring 2005 20-jab macroinvertebrate best habitat sampling was performed at the 16 RSAT stream sites. This collection is a quantitative survey that combines jabs from pool, run and riffle habitat sweep samples. Again, organisms were collected from these representative habitat areas using a 600-micron mesh D-frame net.

## 2.6.3 Taxonomy

RSAT voucher samples were identified in the field to the family level and preserved for laboratory identification to the lowest possible taxonomic level using the following taxonomic references: Harper and Hynes, 1971; Merritt and Cummins, 1996; Pennak, 1989; Stewart and Stark, 1993; Epler, 2001 and Wiggins, 1998. All preserved organisms collected via the 20-jab surveys were counted and identified by COG staff to the lowest possible taxonomic level. For aquatic insects, identification was, with few exceptions, to the genus level.

## 2.6.4 Macroinvertebrate Biosurvey Scoring

RSAT biosurvey scoring is based on the taxa observed and collected in the field as well as on the voucher collection for the entire survey reach. The 20-jab sampling scoring is based on the ten metrics currently employed by Fairfax County, Virginia SPS (Stribling et al., 1998) for Piedmont streams (i.e., 1) taxa richness, 2) total number of Ephemeroptera, Plecoptera, and Trichoptera (EPT) taxa, 3) percent of EPT individuals, 4) percent of Trichoptera without Hydropsychidae, 5) percent of Co-leoptera individuals, 6) Hilsenhoff's Family Biotic index, 7) percent dominant taxa, 8) percent of clingers and percent of Plecoptera individuals, 9) percent shredders, and 10) percent predators). It should be noted that the SPS used these metrics to develop the Fairfax County Index of Biological Integrity (IBI) for Piedmont streams. This IBI was employed for Clarks Run, Catoctin Creek, Quarter Branch, Dutchman Creek and Piney Run biosurvey scoring.

## 2.7 Catoctin Creek Riparian Buffer Analysis

In 2002, Virginia Department of Environmental Quality (VADEQ) listed Catoctin Creek in its 303(d) stream impairment listing for fecal coliform bacteria. In an effort to reduce fecal coliform bacteria levels in Catoctin Creek in order to meet the requirements under the associated total mean daily loads (TMDL) implementation plan requirement, Loudoun County has examined various cost-effective bacteria reduction measures. Among the many approaches are the employment of water quality enhancing riparian buffers and greater exclusion of livestock from stream systems. In an effort to provide a more accurate picture of the current state of the Catoctin Creek riparian buffer system and assist Loudoun County in carrying out TMDL implementation-related activities to meet fecal coliform reduction goals, a preliminary assessment of existing forest canopy coverage, using four stream buffer width scenarios (i.e., 35, 50, 100, and 200 feet), was performed for the following mainstem and tributary areas:

- The entire Catoctin Creek mainstem, including the North and South Forks and the mainstem portion below the town of Waterford, Virginia; and
- Seven tributary mainstems Hamilton Station Road tributary, Talbot Farm tributary, Clover Mill Road tributary, Richard Creek (tributary to Brens Creek), Brens Creek, Milltown Creek and EcoVillage tributary.

These buffer widths were chosen for the analysis based on: 1) Loudoun County implemented federal and state cost share riparian enhancement programs (which require landowners to set aside a minimum 35 foot wide riparian buffer area on each side of the stream in order to qualify); 2) the Chesapeake Bay Preservation Act (enacted by Virginia in 1988), which established a recommended minimum 100 foot wide riparian buffer; and 3) a buffer width of 200 feet (along each streambank), considered by many, as optimal for protecting water quality and related wildlife habitats.

The method used for analyzing riparian forest buffer widths included both digitizing the forest canopy coverage polygons from the SPOT 5 satellite that provided 2005 'leaf-on' 5-meter resolution condition imagery of the Catoctin Creek watershed, as well as limited groundtruthing. The procedure employed the digital stream network system (e.g., Loudoun County major drains geodata file) provided by the Office of Mapping. From this digital stream layer, a 35, 50, 100 and 200 foot stream buffer polygon digital layer was developed. Using this stream buffer polygon layer, as a 'cookie cutter', an image was extracted from the base SPOT Catoctin Creek watershed satellite imagery that represents each of the four riparian buffer width scenarios. Subsequently, the riparian buffer width image was classified (i.e., heads-up digitizing) for 'forest canopy' and 'non- forest canopy' conditions. Further-

more, areas denoted as 'non-forest canopy' coverage within the four riparian buffer widths were identified for potential reforestation sites. The following four part analyses were conducted:

- 1) Existing riparian forest buffer condition for four width scenarios: 35, 50, 100 and 200 feet (Appendix 6, Table 1);
- 2) Non-forested 35 foot wide riparian buffer condition to meet CREP minimum enrollment requirements (Note: due to limited resources, COG did not perform this analysis for the 50, 100 and 200 foot buffer width scenarios.); and
- 3) Potential riparian buffer reforestation area identification for both the 35 and 100 foot scenarios (Appendix 6, Table 2 and Table 3, respectively).

It should be noted that existing development, infrastructure or land features (i.e., steep slope) may preclude reforestation in some of these areas. It is also recognized that these areas will need to be groundtruthed and that the actual reforestation of these sites is incumbent upon approval of the landowner. Appendix 6 highlights the Catoctin Creek mainstem riparian buffer condition for the 100 foot width scenario and the centroid location for potential reforestation site opportunities within the 35 and 100 foot riparian buffer widths.

# 3.0 Results

## 3.1 Clarks Run

# **3.1.1 Streambank Stability, Relative Erodibility and Channel Downcutting**

Overall, streambank stability in Clarks Run (78.8 percent) was rated as being in the good range (i.e., 71 - 80 percent). As seen in Table 3 and Figure 3, neither moderate/ severe nor severe bank erosion conditions were observed. A total of 356.4 feet of moderate streambank erosion, representing 7.6 percent of the total stream network length, was recorded. The associated calculated rate for the moderate streambank erosion category (i.e., 60-70 percent of the bank network is stable) is 401.2 linear feet per mile. The majority of the stream network survey length was observed to have slight or slight/moderate levels of streambank erosion. Corresponding lengths were 1,951.0 feet and 2027.0 feet, respectively. Not surprisingly, moderate streambank erosion conditions were generally associated with streambank outer bends.

RSAT streambank relative erodibility results (Figure 4) indicate that the bank material present at the Clarks Run site is primarily comprised of moderately erodible, loamy soils.

Stream channel downcutting results



Clarks Run (Transect X-2) - Slight Streambank Erosion



Clarks Run (Upstream of X-3) - Moderate Streambank Erosion

(Table 4 and Figure 5) revealed that mean bank heights in Clarks Run exceeded the expected or

RSAT Stream	SurveyedSurveyedStreamStreambankLengthNetwork1(ft.)Length (ft.)	Surveyed Streambank	Bai Severe		1k Erosion Condition		ons Mor	derate	N Rece	lo. of ent Tree	No. of Erosional	Mean Bank
Segment		(LF)	(LF/mi.)	(LF)	(LF/mi.)	(LF)	(LF/mi.)	No.	∙alls <sup>-</sup> No./mi.	Log Jams	Stability (%) <sup>3</sup>	
Clarks Run												
Clarks Run	2,345.2	4,690.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	356.4	401.2	1.0	1.1	0.0	78.8

Table	3.	Clarks	Run -	Streambank	Erosion	Conditions
1	••	C1001 110	1	Sucuring	LIUSION	Contaitions

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Length to include both the left and right bank (i.e., twice the distance of the surveyed stream length).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Tree fall interpretation: 0-1/mi. = Excellent, 2-3/mi. = Good, 4-5/mi = Fair,  $\ge 6$  = Poor.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Mean bank stability interpretation: >80% = Excellent, 71-80% = Good, 50-70% = Fair, <50% = Poor.







Figure 4. Summary: Clarks Run - Mean Streambank Stability and Relative Erodibility 1 (%)

Table 4. Summary: Clarks Run - Stream Channel Downcutting

RSAT Stream Segment	Drainage Area (mi <sup>2</sup> )	Surveyed Stream Length (ft)	Mean Bank Height R <sup>3</sup> (ft)	Mean Bank Height L <sup>4</sup> (ft)	Mean Bank Height (ft)	Expected Bank Height Range (ft)	Number of Nick Points
Clarks Run							
Clarks Run	5.2	2,345	4.5	4.4	4.5	2-3	0

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Total number of observations to determine average bank stability and relative erodibility appear in parentheses.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Mean bank stability interpretation: >80% = Excellent, 71-80% = Good, 50-70% = Fair, <50% = Poor.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Right bank looking downstream.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Left bank looking downstream.

Figure 5. Representative Channel Cross-Sections<sup>1</sup> - Clarks Run Mainstem



<sup>1</sup> Top channel width, bottom channel width and wetted perimeter area depicted.

reference condition 2-3 foot height range by approximately 1.5 feet. The combination of the relatively wide stream channel cross-sectional area (i.e., 139.37 square feet) together with relatively tall bank heights suggests that there has been an appreciable amount of stream channel downcutting and widening.

## 3.1.2 Channel Scouring and Sediment Deposition

Unstable large point bars were not observed in Clarks Run. Riffle embeddedness levels were rated as being good to excellent, and ranged from 23 to 60 percent. The overall mean embeddedness level of 42.7 percent was rated as being good (Figure 6). RSAT survey results also revealed a moderate level of in-channel sand deposition, suggesting that a significant amount of the sandy material is frequently deposited in this stream segment.

Table 5. Summary: Clarks Run - Channel Scouring/Sediment Deposition Conditions

	Surveyed Stream Length (ft.)	Percent Riffle Embbeddedness <sup>1</sup>		Large Point Bars				Relative Level
RSAT Stream Segment		Observed Range	Mean	Total Number Observed	No. Unstable	Percent Unstable (%)	No.of Unstable/ Mile	of In-Channel Sand Deposits
Clarks Run								
Clarks Run	2,345	23-60	42.7	0	0	0	0.0	Moderate

#### Figure 6. Clarks Run - Mean Riffle Embeddedness Levels<sup>1</sup>



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Riffle embeddedness rating scale: <25% = Excellent, 25-50% = Good, 51-75% = Fair, >75% = Poor.
#### 3.1.3 Physical Aquatic Habitat

General physical aquatic habitat conditions for Clarks Run are summarized in Table 6 and Figure 7. As seen in Table 6, the general physical aquatic habitat condition for Clarks Run was rated as being good. Major contributing factors for the overall good rating include low embeddedness levels (i.e., 42.7 percent = good), relatively deep mean riffle depths (i.e., greater than 2.5 inches deep) and excellent pool quality (i.e., 5.0 points = excellent). Generally, the excellent pools were deep (i.e., greater than 22 inches), featured cobble and large gravel substrate and provided abundant overhead cover for fish. It should be noted that the excellent quality pools were frequently associated with instream limestone rock outcrops.

A total of two fish barriers were observed. Of the two, only one complete fish barrier was recorded in the survey. The blockage has a 0.6 foot vertical drop associated with the Saint Clair Lane road quadruple cell culvert. The other structure, classified as a partial barrier, was an abandoned beaverdam located immediately upstream of transect X-2. The beaverdam may preclude larger bodied fish from moving upstream.



Limestone Rock Outcropping and Associated Excellent Pool Habitat



Complete Fish Barrier - Saint Clair Lane Road Culvert

		Riffle	Characterist	ics	F	ool Cha	racteristic	s	Fish Ba	rriers	PSAT
RSAT Stream Segment	No. of Riffles	Mean Riffle Depth (in.)	Mean Riffle Substrate Quality (pts.) <sup>2</sup>	Mean Riffle Embedded- ness(%) <sup>3</sup>	No. of Pools	Mean Max. Depth (in.)	Mean Pool Quality (pts.) <sup>4</sup>	Riffle/ Pool Ratio <sup>5</sup>	Total Number	Per Mile	Physical Habitat Score (pts.) <sup>6</sup>
Clarks Run											
Clarks Run	14	3.2	2.3	42.7	16	24.7	5.0	0.9	1	2	6

Fable 6.	Summary:	<b>Clarks Run</b>	- General	Physical	Aquatic	Habitat	Conditions <sup>1</sup>	
----------	----------	-------------------	-----------	----------	---------	---------	-------------------------	--

<sup>1</sup> Mean values shown are weighted means.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Riffle substrate quality rating scale: 3.25-4.00 = Excellent, 2.50-3.24 = Good, 1.75 - 2.49 = Fair, 1.00-1.74 = Poor.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Riffle embeddedness rating scale: <25% = Excellent, 25-50% = Good, 51-75% = Fair, >75% = Poor.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Quality pool point scale interpretation: 5 = Excellent, 4 = Very Good, 3 = Good, 2 = Fair, 1 = Poor.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Riffle/pool ratio rating scale: 0.9-1.1:1 = Excellent, 0.70-0.89:1 or 1.11-1.3:1 = Good, 0.5-0.69 or 1.31-1.5:1 = Fair, 0.49:1 < or > 1.51:1 = Poor.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>RSAT Physical habitat rating scale: 6.5-8.0 = Excellent, 4.5-6.4 = Good, 2.5-4.4 = Fair, 1.0-2.4 = Poor.



Figure 7. Clarks Run - Mean Riffle Substrate<sup>1</sup> and Pool Quality<sup>2</sup>

#### 3.1.4 Water Quality

RSAT water quality grab sampling total dissolved solids (TDS), nitrate and mean substrate fouling summary results are presented in Figure 8. The instantaneous TDS concentration, 240 mg/l, is in the poor range (i.e., >150 mg/l). However, this high reading also reflects the higher level of dissolved solids associated with streams draining limestone parent material. Not surprisingly, pH (9.51) was within the alkaline range. The instantaneous nitrate level of 3.8 mg/l is considered high (i.e., >3.0 mg/l). Substrate fouling, 65 percent, was in the poor range (i.e., >50%). With regard to instantaneous dissolved oxygen (DO) levels, there were no violations of the Virginia Department of Environmental Quality (VADEQ) minimum 4.0 mg/l criterion. In fact, Clarks Run was observed to be well oxygenated, with a mean DO concentration of 12.83 mg/l. The overall RSAT water quality rating for Clarks Run was rated as being fair (i.e., 3 points).



In-stream Limestone Conglomerate Outcropping

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Riffle substrate quality point scale interpretation: 3.25-4.00 = Excellent, 2.50-3.24 = Good, 1.75-2.49 = Fair, 1.00-1.74 = Poor.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Pool quality point interpretation: 4.5-5.0 = Excellent, 4.0-4.4 = Very Good, 3.0-3.9 = Good, 2.0-2.9 = Fair, 1.0-1.9 = Poor.



Figure 8. Clarks Run - Mean TDS<sup>1</sup>, Nitrate<sup>2</sup> and Substrate Fouling<sup>3</sup>

#### 3.1.5 Riparian Habitat Conditions

The Clarks Run riparian habitat condition was rated as being in the lower good range (i.e., 4 points). The overall mean canopy coverage observed along the survey reach was 82 percent, which is considered excellent. Riparian buffer vegetation was typically a mix of forest, grass and corn row crop. The buffer was generally 200 feet wide or greater on both sides of the stream.



**Riparian Vegetation Type - Upstream of Transect X-2** - Grass and Corn Field

	Surveyed	Normalia an af	Maan Canani	Riparian Hat	oitat Conditions
RSAT Stream Segment	Stream Length (ft.)	Observations	Coverage (%) <sup>4</sup>	RSAT Score⁵	Verbal Ranking
Clarks Run					
Clarks Run	2,345.2	5	82.0	4	Good

Table 7.	<b>Summary:</b>	<b>Clarks F</b>	Run - Ripa	rian Habitat	t Conditions
	~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~	C100 1	the second		contactions

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> TDS interpretation: <50 mg/L = Excellent, 50-100 mg/L = Good, 101-150 mg/L = Fair, >150 mg/L = Poor.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Nitrate interpretation: 0.0-1.0 mg/L= Low, 1.1-2.9 mg/L = Moderate, >3.0 mg/L = High.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Substrate fouling interpretation: 0-10% = Excellent, 11-20% = Good, 21-50% = Fair, >50%=Poor.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Mean canopy coverage interpretation: > 80% = Excellent, 60-79% = Good, 50-59% = Fair, <50% = Poor.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Riparian Habitat Condition Point Score Interpretation: 6.0-7.0 = Excellent, 4.0-5.9 = Good, 2.3-3.9 = Fair, 0-1.9 = Poor.

#### 3.1.6 Biological Condition - Benthic Macroinvertebrate Survey

As seen in Figure 9, the macroinvertebrate community condition for the Clarks Run mainstem was excellent. The RSAT voucher total number of taxa<sup>1</sup> collected totaled 27, which is excellent. A total of twelve taxa from the pollution intolerant stonefly, flathead mayfly and cased caddisfly groups (i.e., Ephemeroptera, Plecoptera and Trichoptera - EPT) were present. The voucher also included the stonefly family group (i.e., Capniidae) considered to be highly pollution intolerant. The relative abundance of the EPT taxa groups (flathead mayflies, stoneflies and cased caddisflies) was observed to be 'scarce/common' (Figure 10). The relative abundance of roundhead mayflies was also observed to be 'scarce/common'. It should be noted that the relative abundance of moderately pollution tolerant cranefly larvae was 'common.'

As part of the Level III RSAT survey, an additional spring qualitative 20-jab multiple/best habitat survey was performed. Results from the spring 2005 survey are summarized in Table 8. As seen in Table 8, the Clarks Run mainstem index of biotic integrity (IBI) score (80.8 points) fell just within the excellent range. One of the metrics used to score the IBI, taxa richness, totaled 21 (i.e., good = 16-24), which was the second lowest observed for the entire study. In addition, the two taxa with the highest number of individuals were represented by *Baetis sp.* (mayfly) and *Gammarus sp.* (scud). They are generally considered pollution tolerant taxa. It should be noted that, compared to the Piedmont freestone systems, benthic macroinvertebrate communities for limestone stream systems (like Clarks Run) have been shown to have lower taxa richness. However, such stream systems are likely to have higher numbers of individuals (e.g., *Baetis sp.* and *Gammarus sp.*) present. For additional results from this survey and the RSAT voucher collection, the reader is referred to Appendix 5.



Figure 9. Summary: Clarks Run Mainstem RSAT Voucher Collection Macroinvertebrate Condition<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> General RSAT voucher interpretation for taxa richness: >=25 = Excellent, 16-24 = Good, 8-15 = Fair, 0-7 = Poor.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Macroinvertebrate scale interpretation: 7.0-8.0 pts. = Excellent, 5.0-6.9 pts. = Good, 2.1-4.9 pts. = Fair, 0.0-2.0 pts. = Poor.





Table 8. Su	ummary: Clarl	ks Run -	1m <sup>2</sup> Macr	oinverteb	rate Sam	nple Metrics	s and Fai	rfax Co	unty SPS IE	<b>3I</b> Score and	l Rating <sup>1</sup>			
RSAT Stream Segment	Approx. Stream Segment Location	Total Number of Ind	Taxa Richness <sup>2</sup>	EPT Richness <sup>3</sup>	Percent EPT <sup>4</sup>	Percent Trichoptera w/o Hydropsych idae <sup>5</sup>	Percent Coloeopt era <sup>6</sup>	Family Biotic Index <sup>7</sup>	Percent Dominance <sup>8</sup>	Percent Clingers + Percent Plecoptera <sup>9</sup>	Percent Shredder <sup>10</sup>	Percent Predators <sup>11</sup>	IMB1 <sup>12</sup>	SPS Rating
<b>Clarks Run</b>														
Clarks Run	Saint Clair Lane	313	21.0	8.0	47.0	5.0	7.0	4.3	34.5	0.3	25.6	4.2	80.8	Excellent
<sup>1</sup> Scores and <sup>2</sup> Taxa richne <sup>3</sup> Counts the interpreted a <sup>4</sup> Measures th individuals a <sup>5</sup> Measures th 0.60-0.78% <sup>5</sup> <sup>6</sup> Measures th 0.60-0.78% <sup>5</sup> <sup>7</sup> The Family 5.51-7.50 = <sup>8</sup> Measures th 68.5% = Goo 9 Measures th 68.5% = Goo 9 Measures th 139-2.6 <sup>11</sup> 139-2.6 <sup>11</sup> 139-2.6 <sup>11</sup> 139-2.6 <sup>11</sup> 139-2.6 <sup>11</sup> 139-2.6 <sup>11</sup> 139-2.6 <sup>11</sup> 100 Measures th Fair, 1.39-2.2 <sup>11</sup> Measures th Fair, 0.50-1.0 <sup>12</sup> 128-287 IBI so	Rating were devusion represents the distinct taxa comits follows: $>7 = 1$ he abundance of a number of the abundance of the percent of the percent of the percent individual to the percent to the perce	eloped by eloped by Excellent, po generally polowing as following as f	Fairfax Cou nber of taxa c ollution intolk 5-6 = Good, pollution intu s: >16.6 = E Ilution tolera Ilution tolera allution tolera oldant taxa re 5-92.0%= Po hose habitat t45% = Fair, y Poor. : are shreddet y Poor. : are predator y Poor.	<ul> <li>mty Stream</li> <li>collected an</li> <li>erant within</li> <li>, 4 = Fair, 2.</li> <li>olerant Eph</li> <li>öxcellent, 12</li> <li>int Hydrops</li> <li>int Hydrops</li> <li>int Hydrops</li> <li>int erant</li> <li>olerant Coleo</li> <li>erant</li> <li>coleo</li> <li>coleo</li> <li>int Hydrops</li> <li>olerant erant</li> <li>olerant</li> <li>int Hydrops</li> <li>olerant</li> <li>int Hydrops</li> <li>olerant</li> <li>int Hydrops</li> <li>olerant</li> <li>olerant</li> <li>int Hydrops</li> <li>olerant</li> <li>olerant</li> <li>olerant</li> <li>olerant</li> <li>int Hydrops</li> <li>olerant</li> <li< th=""><th>Protection d is interp. -3 = Poor, emeropter emeropter emeropter -3 = Poor, -3 = Poor, -3 = Very Poor. stance of the fery Poor. -3 = Very Poor. -4 = Very Poor.</th><th><ul> <li>I.Strategy.</li> <li>reted by SPS as of Ephemet A</li> <li>= Very I</li> <li>&lt;= 1 = Very I</li> <li>&lt;= 1 = Very I</li> <li>&lt;= addisflies), rel</li> <li>&lt;= renders rel</li> <li>&lt;= renders rel</li> <li>&lt;= renders rel</li> <li>&lt;= very Poor.</li> <li>&lt;= renders rel</li> <li>&lt;= very Poor.</li> <li>&lt;= renders rel</li> <li>&lt;= renders re</li> <li>&lt;= renders rel<!--</th--><th>as follows: roptera (ma 2001. Plecoptera Plecoptera lative to oth lative to oth lative</th><th>: &gt;= 21 = ayflies), J ayflies), J ayflies), J (stonefli air, 4.1-8 her more dividuals dividuals art are ston th are ston th are ston is interp is interp o-19 = V.</th><th><ul> <li>Excellent, 13.</li> <li>Plecoptera (sto</li> <li>es) and Tricho</li> <li>es) and Tricho</li> <li>es) and itricho</li> <li>intolerant Cat</li> <li>and is interprete</li> </ul></th><th>-20 = Good, 5 neflies) and The field of t</th><th><ul> <li>9-12 = Fair, 5- richoptera (ca lies) relative t</li> <li>5001.</li> <li>5003.50 = E</li> <li>500-3.50 = E</li> <li>100% = E</li> <li>11.57</li> <li>3xcellent, 4.10</li> </ul></th><th>8= Poor, &lt;5 = ddisflies). EP o other often s follows: &gt;0 stellent, 0.7' scellent, 3.51 weellent, 3.51 ollows: &lt;60% ed as follows o-5.41% = G</th><th>= Very P T taxa m more tol 0.79% = F 5 - 0.99% 5 - 0.90% 5 - 0.00% 5 - 0.00%</th><th>oor. netrics are erant 6 = 5 = 0-4.00% = 2-1.51% =</th></li></ul></th></li<></ul>	Protection d is interp. -3 = Poor, emeropter emeropter emeropter -3 = Poor, -3 = Poor, -3 = Very Poor. stance of the fery Poor. -3 = Very Poor. -4 = Very Poor.	<ul> <li>I.Strategy.</li> <li>reted by SPS as of Ephemet A</li> <li>= Very I</li> <li>&lt;= 1 = Very I</li> <li>&lt;= 1 = Very I</li> <li>&lt;= addisflies), rel</li> <li>&lt;= renders rel</li> <li>&lt;= renders rel</li> <li>&lt;= renders rel</li> <li>&lt;= very Poor.</li> <li>&lt;= renders rel</li> <li>&lt;= very Poor.</li> <li>&lt;= renders rel</li> <li>&lt;= renders re</li> <li>&lt;= renders rel<!--</th--><th>as follows: roptera (ma 2001. Plecoptera Plecoptera lative to oth lative to oth lative</th><th>: &gt;= 21 = ayflies), J ayflies), J ayflies), J (stonefli air, 4.1-8 her more dividuals dividuals art are ston th are ston th are ston is interp is interp o-19 = V.</th><th><ul> <li>Excellent, 13.</li> <li>Plecoptera (sto</li> <li>es) and Tricho</li> <li>es) and Tricho</li> <li>es) and itricho</li> <li>intolerant Cat</li> <li>and is interprete</li> </ul></th><th>-20 = Good, 5 neflies) and The field of t</th><th><ul> <li>9-12 = Fair, 5- richoptera (ca lies) relative t</li> <li>5001.</li> <li>5003.50 = E</li> <li>500-3.50 = E</li> <li>100% = E</li> <li>11.57</li> <li>3xcellent, 4.10</li> </ul></th><th>8= Poor, &lt;5 = ddisflies). EP o other often s follows: &gt;0 stellent, 0.7' scellent, 3.51 weellent, 3.51 ollows: &lt;60% ed as follows o-5.41% = G</th><th>= Very P T taxa m more tol 0.79% = F 5 - 0.99% 5 - 0.90% 5 - 0.00% 5 - 0.00%</th><th>oor. netrics are erant 6 = 5 = 0-4.00% = 2-1.51% =</th></li></ul>	as follows: roptera (ma 2001. Plecoptera Plecoptera lative to oth lative	: >= 21 = ayflies), J ayflies), J ayflies), J (stonefli air, 4.1-8 her more dividuals dividuals art are ston th are ston th are ston is interp is interp o-19 = V.	<ul> <li>Excellent, 13.</li> <li>Plecoptera (sto</li> <li>es) and Tricho</li> <li>es) and Tricho</li> <li>es) and itricho</li> <li>intolerant Cat</li> <li>and is interprete</li> </ul>	-20 = Good, 5 neflies) and The field of t	<ul> <li>9-12 = Fair, 5- richoptera (ca lies) relative t</li> <li>5001.</li> <li>5003.50 = E</li> <li>500-3.50 = E</li> <li>100% = E</li> <li>11.57</li> <li>3xcellent, 4.10</li> </ul>	8= Poor, <5 = ddisflies). EP o other often s follows: >0 stellent, 0.7' scellent, 3.51 weellent, 3.51 ollows: <60% ed as follows o-5.41% = G	= Very P T taxa m more tol 0.79% = F 5 - 0.99% 5 - 0.90% 5 - 0.00% 5 - 0.00%	oor. netrics are erant 6 = 5 = 0-4.00% = 2-1.51% =

#### 3.1.7 RSAT Summary Stream Quality Ratings

As seen in Table 9 and Figure 11, the overall RSAT stream quality rating for Clarks Run was good. It should be noted that the water quality category was rated fair and reflects the influence of the limestone conglomerate bedrock on the chemical characteristics of this stream system (e.g., high TDS levels due to high levels of dissolved calcium carbonate). Also, the riparian habitat conditions were rated as being good bordering on fair (a result of the less than desirable grass and row crop vegetation present). The only excellent rating given was for biological indicators.

RSAT Stream Segment	Approx. Stream Segment Location	Bank Stability	Channel Scouring/ Deposition	Physical Instream Habitat	Water Quality	Riparian Habitat Conditions	Biological Indicators	RSAT Total Score <sup>2</sup>
Clarks Run								
Clarks Run	Saint Clair Lane	Good (6)	Good (6)	Good (6)	Fair (3)	Good (4)	Excellent (7)	Good (32)

#### Table 9. Clarks Run Study Summary: RSAT Ratings<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Actual point values are shown in parentheses.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Total RSAT score interpretation: 42-50 = Excellent, 30-41 = Good, 16-29 = Fair, <16 = Poor.





# 3.2 Catoctin Creek Watershed - North and South Forks, and Tributaries

## 3.2.1 Streambank Stability, Relative Erodibility and Channel Downcutting

#### **Mainstem Areas**

The overall, mean streambank stability for the Catoctin Creek upper mainstem surveyed area was, at 75.3 percent, rated as being good. Specifically, mean bank stability ratings for the North and South Fork mainstem areas were74.2 and 76.0 percent, placing them in the good range. As seen in Table 10 and Figure 13, streambank erosion survey totals were as follows: 1,343.7 linear feet of moderate erosion, 270.5 linear feet of moderate/severe erosion and 153.5 linear feet of severe bank erosion. The moderate/severe and severe streambank erosion condition totals were recorded in the North Fork at Hillsboro Road and in the South Fork at Ketoctin Church Road stream segments, respectively. In addition, of the four recent tree falls observed, two were documented within the North Fork mainstem. Erosional log jams were not recorded for either the upper North or South Fork mainstems.

It should be noted that the streambank erosion condition for the South Fork mainstem at Piggott Bottom Road was also assessed by COG in 2000. Unlike the 2000 survey, severe and moderate/severe erosion conditions upstream of transect X-2 were not observed in 2006. Rather, for that reach, the streambank erosion condition was classified as moderate. It was observed, during the 2006 survey, that a large tree fell back into the left bank (looking down stream); thereby, providing temporary bank protection.

RSAT relative streambank erodibility results (Figure 12) are as follows: 1) the bank soil material for the upper South Fork at Ketoctin Church Road stream segment consisted predominantly of moderate (i.e., loamy textured soils) with some high (i.e., silt or sand) and low (i.e., clay,



material for the upper South Fork at Ketoctin Church Road stream segment consisted predominantly of moderate (i.e., loamy textured soils) with Condition and Tree Fall

rocky soil, etc.) erosion potential soil types, 2) the upper South Fork at Piggott Bottom Road stream segment consisted of primarily high erosion potential soil types (i.e., silt or sand); however, it also included some moderate and low potential erosion soil types (i.e., loamy textured soils, clay, rocky soil, etc.), and 3) the upper North Fork Hillsboro Road stream segment featured predominantly moderate (i.e., loamy textured soils) with some high (i.e., silt or sand) and low (i.e., clay, rocky soil, etc.) erosion potential soil types.

Stream channel downcutting results (Table 11), revealed the following: 1) the mean bank heights for both South Fork mainstem areas exceeded the expected reference condition bank height range by up to one foot, suggesting a slight amount of channel downcutting, and 2) the mean bank heights for the North Fork at Hillsboro Road fell within the expected or reference condition bank height range of 3-4 feet.

Overall mean streambank stability for the upper, middle and lower Catoctin Creek tributaries ranged from fair to good. Mean bank stability for upper Hamilton Station Road and Talbot Farm tributaries (i.e., 70.8 and 74.5 percent, respectively) were rated as being good. Mean bank stability for the middle Clover Mill Road tributary (i.e., 62.7 percent), Richard Creek (i.e., 63.8 percent) and Brens Creek (i.e., 69.2 percent) were rated as being fair. The mean bank stability for the upper Milltown Creek (i.e., 74.2 percent) was rated as being good; whereas, middle Milltown Creek (i.e., 80.0 percent) and



EcoVillage Tributary (X-1) - Stable Streambank

EcoVillage Tributary (i.e., 80.5 percent) were rated as being excellent (Table 10). RSAT Catoctin Creek tributary streambank erosion summary results (Table 10 and Figure 13) are as follows: 6,000.1 linear feet of moderate erosion (i.e., 61-70 percent of the streambank network is stable), 2,939.3 linear feet of moderate/severe erosion (i.e., 50-60 percent of the streambank network is stable) and 989.8 linear feet of severe erosion (i.e., less than 50 percent of the streambank network is stable). In addition, a total of eight recent tree falls were recorded - two each in the Hamilton Station Road tributary and two in middle Milltown Creek. It should be noted that the highest moderate bank erosion condition rate (i.e., 2,255.8 linear feet/mile) was observed in the EcoVillage tributary mainstem.

	Surveyed	Surveyed		Ва	nk Erosio	on Conditi	ions		No. o	f Recent		Mean
RSAT Stream Segment	Stream	Streambank	Se	vere	Moderat	e/Severe	Mod	erate	Tree	e Falls <sup>2</sup>	No. of	Bank
	Length (ft.)	Network'	(LF)	(LF/mi.)	(LF)	(LF/mi.)	(LF)	(LF/mi.)	No.	No./mi.	Erosional	Stability
Catoctin Creek Mainstems	. ,			<b>N</b> - 7		<u>N - 7</u>		<u>,                                     </u>			109 00.000	(/0)
Upper - North Fork (Hillsboro Rd.)	1,628.1	3,256.2	153.5	248.8	0.0	0.0	192.2	311.6	2.0	3.2	0.0	74.2
Upper - South Fork (Ketoctin Church Rd.)	962.2	1,924.3	0.0	0.0	270.5	742.2	536.4	1,471.8	1.0	2.7	0.0	76.7
Upper - South Fork (Piggott Bottom Rd.)	1 700 0	2 400 0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	615.1	955.2	1.0	1.9	0.0	75.2
Upper - South Fork (Piggott Bottom Rd.) (2000)	1,700.0	3,400.0	80.0	124.2	80.0	124.2	400.0	621.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	81.3
Total⁴	4,290.3	5,324.3	153.5	152.2	270.5	268.3	1,343.7	1,332.5	4.0	4.0	0.0	<b>75.3</b> ⁵
Tributaries to Catoctin Creek												
Upper												
Hamilton Station Road Tributary	3,169.7	6,339.4	0.0	0.0	492.1	409.9	2,165.0	1,803.2	2.0	1.7	1.0	70.8
Talbot Farm Tributary	3,094.2	6,188.3	256.6	218.9	901.2	768.9	552.5	471.4	1.0	0.9	0.0	74.5
Subtotal	6,263.9	12,527.7	256.6	218.9	1,393.3	587.2	2,717.6	1,145.4	3.0	1.3	1.0	<b>72.6</b> <sup>5</sup>
Middle		-										
Clover Mill Road Tributary	1,311.6	2,623.2	137.9	277.5	631.6	1,271.3	374.6	754.1	1.0	2.0	0.0	62.7
Richard Creek (Upper Brens Creek)	1,273.2	2,546.3	464.0	962.1	577.2	1,196.8	759.9	1,575.8	1.0	2.1	0.0	63.8
Brens Creek	1,496.2	2,992.4	131.4	231.8	337.2	594.9	107.2	189.1	1.0	1.8	0.0	69.2
Subtotal	4,081.0	8,162.0	733.2	474.3	1,545.9	1,000.1	1,241.8	803.3	3.0	1.9	0.0	63.3 <sup>5</sup>
Lower					-							
Upper Milltown Creek	1,820.4	3,640.9	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	197.5	286.4	0.0	0.0	1.0	74.2
Middle Milltown Creek	1,494.3	2,988.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	427.3	755.0	2.0	3.5	0.0	80.0
EcoVillage Tributary	1,657.1	3,314.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	1,415.9	2,255.8	0.0	0.0	0.0	80.5
Subtotal	4,971.8	9,943.6	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	2,040.7	1,083.6	2.0	1.1	1.0	77.1 <sup>5</sup>
Tributary Total	15,316.7	30,633.3	989.8	170.6	2,939.3	506.6	6,000.1	1,034.2	8.0	1.4	2.0	72.0 <sup>5</sup>

#### Table 10. Catoctin Creek - Streambank Erosion Conditions

<sup>1</sup> Length to include both the left and right bank (i.e., twice the distance of the surveyed stream length).

<sup>5</sup>Weighted mean.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Tree fall interpretation: 0-1/mi. = Excellent, 2-3/mi. = Good, 4-5/mi = Fair,  $\ge 6$  = Poor.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Bank stability interpretation: >80% = Excellent, 71-80% = Good, 50-70% = Fair, <50% = Poor.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Total excludes the Upper - South Fork (Piggott Bottom Road) (2000).

120 Mainstems Tributaries 100 100 83 83 80.5 80.0 76.7 80 75.2 74.2 74.5 74.2 70.8 **6**9.2 Percent(%) 67 07 07 **6**3.8 62.7 00 Low Potential (lower 1/3 of stream banks predominantly clay-textured soils, bedrock, saprolite, rip-rap, etc.) 1 50 50 50 20 202 Moderate Potential (lower 1/3 of stream banks predominantly non-clay and non-silt textures) 40 33 33 33 High Potential (lower 1/3 of stream banks predominantly silt-textured soils) 20 **Relative Erodibility** Upper - South Fork (Ketoctin Church Rd.) Upper - South Fork (Piggot Bottom Rd.) Upper - North Fork (Hillsboro Rd.) EcoVillage Tributary Hamilton Station Road Tributary Upper Milltown Creek Talbot Farm Tributary **Clover Mill Road Tributary** Richard Creek (Upper Brens Creek) **Brens Creek** Middle Milltown Creek ■ Mean Bank Stability<sup>2</sup>

Figure 12. Summary: Catoctin Creek - Mean Streambank Stability and Relative Erodibility<sup>1</sup> (%)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Total number of observations to determine average bank stability and relative erodibility appear in parentheses. <sup>2</sup> Mean bank stability interpretation: >80% = Excellent, 71-80% = Good, 50-70% = Fair, <50% = Poor.

With the exception of the Talbot Farm tributary, where soil types are predominantly highly erodible silt and sandy silt, streambank materials consisted primarily of moderately erodible soil types (i.e., non-clay and non-silt texture soils) with some high (i.e., silt and sand) and low (i.e., clay, rocky soils, etc.) erosion potential soils type.

Regarding tributary channel downcutting, with the exception of upper Milltown Creek, there has been some significant downcutting within the stream channels. Results in Table 11 and Figures 15-17 revealed that the mean streambank heights in the upper tributaries (i.e., Hamilton Station Road and Talbot Farm tributaries) exceeded the RSAT reference condition bank height range by as much as 1.8 feet. For the middle tributaries (i.e., Clover Mill Road tributary, Richard Creek and Brens Creek) mean streambank heights (i.e., 4.0, 3.6 and 4.4 feet, respectively) were up to 1.4 feet greater than the reference condition bank height range. As for the lower tributaries, mean bank heights for upper Milltown Creek (i.e., 2.3 feet) fell within the reference condition bank height range; whereas, the middle Milltown Creek and EcoVillage tributary mean streambank heights (i.e., 4.4 and 5.3 feet, respectively) were up to 3.3 feet higher than the reference condition.

RSAT Stream Segment	Drainage Area (mi²)	Surveyed Stream Length	Mean Bank Height R <sup>1</sup> (ft)	Mean Bank Height L <sup>2</sup> (ft)	Mean Bank Height (ft)	Expected Bank Height Range (ft)	Number of Nick Points
Catoctin Creek							
Upper - North Fork (Hillsboro Rd.)	14.6	1,628	2.9	3.0	3.0	3-4	0
Upper - South Fork (Ketoctin Church Rd.)	1.1	962	3.1	2.9	3.0	1-2	0
Upper - South Fork (Piggott Bottom Rd.)	15.7	1 700	5.4	5.3	5.4	4-5	0
Upper - South Fork (Piggott Bottom Rd.) (2000)	15.7	1,700	5.7	6.1	5.9	4-5	0
Subtotal <sup>3</sup>		4,290	3.8	3.7	3.8		0
Tributaries to Catoctin Creek							
Upper							
Hamilton Station Road Tributary	2.1	3,170	3.8	3.8	3.8	1-2	0
Talbot Farm Tributary	3.5	3,094	4.1	5.3	4.7	2-3	0
Subtotal		6,264	4.0	4.6	2.8		0
Middle							
Clover Mill Road Tributary	1.6	1,312	4.0	3.9	4.0	2-3	0
Richard Creek (Upper Brens Creek)	4.0	1,273	3.2	4.0	3.6	2-3	0
Brens Creek	8.4	1,496	4.3	4.4	4.4	2-3	0
Subtotal		4,081	3.8	4.1	4.0		0
Lower							
Upper Milltown Creek	3.4	1,820	2.5	2.0	2.3	2-3	0
Middle Milltown Creek	6.5	1,494	4.7	4.1	4.4	2-3	0
EcoVillage Tributary	1.1	2,241	5.4	5.2	5.3	1-2	0
Subtotal		5,556	4.2	3.8	4.0		0
Total	92.4	20,191				-	0

#### Table 11. Summary: Catoctin Creek – Stream Channel Downcutting

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Right bank looking downstream.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Left bank looking downstream.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Subtotal excludes the Upper - South Fork (Piggott Bottom Road) (2000).

## **Major Findings**

### **Mainstem Areas**

- Of the total streambank network length surveyed, 20.6 percent fell into the moderate, moderate/severe, and severe erosion categories.
- South Fork (Ketoctin Church Road) the calculated moderate/severe streambank erosion rate was 742.2 linear feet per mile, representing a mainstem high.
- South Fork (Piggott Bottom Road) the stream channel cross-sectional area (Figure 14) (227.20 ft<sup>2</sup>) is more than double that of the North Fork (Hillsboro Road) (98.82 ft<sup>2</sup>). This suggests major downcutting and channel widening at the South Fork mainstem site. Note: drainage areas above both sites are comparable (Piggott Bottom Road = 15.7 square miles and Hillsboro Road = 14.6 square miles).
- South Fork (Piggott Bottom Road) 2006 RSAT survey mean streambank stability was rated good (i.e., 72.5 percent) compared to the year 2000 excellent rating (i.e., 81.3 percent).
- North Fork (Hillsboro Road) bank stability ranged from 45 (i.e., poor) to 93 percent (i.e., excellent), and included 153.5 linear feet of severe channel erosion with an associated rate of 248.8 linear feet/mile, representing a mainstem high.

## Tributaries

- Of the total streambank network length surveyed, 32.4 percent fell into the moderate, moderate/severe, and/or severe erosion condition categories.
- Over 27 percent of the middle tributary streambank network length exhibited moderate/severe and severe erosion; versus 2 and 13 percent for the upper and lower tributary networks.
- Over 41 percent of the surveyed streambank network for Hamilton Station Road tributary was classified as having moderate and moderate/severe erosion. Two of the total eight recent tree falls were recorded in this stream segment, as well as one of the two total erosional log jams.



Middle Tributary - Brens Creek - (X-2) - Severe Stream Bank Erosion

- Over 70 percent of the Richard Creek streambank network was characterized as having moderate, moderate/severe and severe channel erosion. The longest severe channel erosion section (i.e., 464 linear feet) was recorded at this site. The Richard Creek mean bank stability of 48 percent was the lowest recorded for any Phase II study stream area (Appendix 2, Table 2).
- For the lower tributaries, there were no areas exhibiting either moderate/severe or severe bank erosion conditions. These stream segments also boasted the highest mean bank stability 77.1 percent (Table 10).







<sup>1</sup> Top channel width, bottom channel width and wetted perimeter area (heavy black line) depicted.





**Catoctin Creek** 





Figure 17. Representative Channel Cross-Sections<sup>1</sup> - Catoctin Creek Tributaries



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Top channel width, bottom channel width and wetted perimeter area (heavy black line) depicted.

- The EcoVillage tributary cross-sectional area (i.e., 138.57 ft<sup>2</sup>) is two to four times greater than those for the upper Milltown Creek (32.15 ft<sup>2</sup>) or Richard Creek (64.43 ft<sup>2</sup>). As depicted in Figure 17, the EcoVillage tributary stream channel is highly entrenched, with mean bank heights of 5.3 feet. These bank heights are on the order of three feet higher than the expected or reference stream bank height (i.e., typical bank height range for drainage areas between <2 mi<sup>2</sup> is approximately 1-2 feet). Note: the drainage area for the EcoVillage tributary is 1.1 mi<sup>2</sup>; whereas, the upper Milltown Creek and Richard Creek drainage areas are 3.4 mi<sup>2</sup> and 4.0 mi<sup>2</sup>, respectively.
- The largest cross-sectional area (i.e., Middle Milltown Creek, 225.09 ft<sup>2</sup>) was almost twice that of Brens Creek (i.e., 130.95 ft<sup>2</sup>) (Figures 16 and 17, respectively). Although both mean bank heights are similar (i.e., 4.4 feet) and both exceeded the expected or reference bank height range by 1.4 feet, the top and bottom channel widths for middle Milltown Creek are double those of Brens Creek. The preceding finding strongly suggests that major lateral channel erosion has occurred in Milltown Creek.

### 3.2.2 Channel Scouring and Sediment Deposition

#### **Mainstem Areas**

The observed mainstem riffle embeddedness levels (Table 12 and Figure 18), with the exception of South Fork at Piggott Bottom Road, were in the good category (i.e., 25-50 percent). Riffle embeddedness for the South Fork at Piggott Bottom Road was 80.7 percent (i.e., poor category). The

	Surveved	Percent F Embbedde	Riffle dness <sup>3</sup>		Large Po	int Bars		Relative Level of In-
RSAT Stream Segment	Stream Length (ft.)	Observed Range	Mean	Total Number Observed	No. Unstable	Percent Unstable (%)	No.of Unstable/ Mile	Channel Sand Deposits
Catoctin Creek Mainstems								
Upper - North Fork (Hillsboro Rd.)	1,628	30-40	36.7	1	1	100	3.2	Low
Upper - South Fork (Ketoctin Church Rd.)	962	20-55	36.7	2	1	50	5.5	Low
Upper - South Fork (Piggott Bottom Rd.)	1 700	72-100	80.7	1	0	0	0.0	Moderate/High
Upper - South Fork (Piggott Bottom Rd.) (2000)	1,700	72-100	38.3	3	1	33	3.1	Low/Moderate
Total <sup>1</sup>	4,290	20-100	51.3 <sup>2</sup>	4	2	50	2.5	
Tributaries to Catoctin Creek								
Upper								
Hamilton Station Road Tributary	3,170	20-35	26.7	0	0	0	0.0	Low
Talbot Farm Tributary	3,094	10-30	20.0	0	0	0	0.0	Low/Moderate
Subtotal	6,264	10-35	23.3 <sup>2</sup>	0	0	0	0	
Middle	·							-
Clover Mill Road Tributary	1,312	45-55	50.0	1	1	100	4.0	Moderate
Richard Creek (Upper Brens Creek)	1,273	35-85	56.7	1	1	100	4.1	Moderate
Brens Creek	1,496	23-38	32.0	1	1	100	3.5	Moderate
Subtotal	4,081	23-85	46.2 <sup>2</sup>	3	3	100	3.9	
Lower								
Upper Milltown Creek	1,820	50-75	63.3	1	0	0	0.0	Moderate/High
Middle Milltown Creek	1,494	5-25	15.0	3	0	0	0.0	Low
EcoVillage Tributary	2,241	40-65	36.7	0	0	0	0.0	Low/Moderate
Subtotal	5,556	5-75	38.3 <sup>2</sup>	4	0	0	0.0	
Tributary Total	15,901	5-85	35.4 <sup>2</sup>	7	3	43	1.0	

Table 12	Cummon	Cotootin Crow	de Channal	Sooning/So	dimont Do	nontion	Conditions
lade 12.	Summary:	CALOCIIII C Fee	ж – Спаппега	scouring/se	аппень ре	DOSILIOU 9	CONCILIONS
						popreiori	00110101010

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Total excludes the Upper - South Fork (Piggott Bottom Road) (2000).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Weighted mean.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Riffle embeddedness rating scale:  $\langle 25\% \rangle = Excellent$ ,  $25-50\% \rangle = Good$ ,  $51-75\% \rangle = Fair$ ,  $\rangle 75\% \rangle = Poor$ .

overall mean embeddedness level for the three mainstem stream segments was 51.3 percent (i.e., fair). In addition, the relative level of in-channel sand deposition was generally in the moderate/high range for the South Fork (Piggott Bottom Road); whereas, it was in the low range for both the South Fork (Ketoctin Church Road) and North Fork (Hillsboro Road). The relatively low embeddedness levels in combination with low levels of in channel sand deposits, suggests that sandy sediment loads are generally low and that such material is generally efficiently transported in these mainstem areas.

A total of four large point bars were observed in the surveyed mainstem areas (Table 12). Of these, two were unstable and were located between the South Fork (Ketoctin Church Road) and the North Fork (Hillsboro Road) areas.

#### Tributaries

With regard to the tributaries, seven large point bars were observed (Table 12). Three of these (i.e., 43 percent) were unstable and were distributed evenly among the middle tributaries: Clover Mill Road tributary, Richard Creek and Brens Creek. Riffle embeddedness levels for the tributaries varied, ranging from 15 percent (i.e., excellent) to 63.3 percent (i.e., fair). Middle Milltown Creek (i.e., 15.0 percent) and upper Milltown Creek (i.e., 63.3 percent) represented the two ends of this spectrum. The relative level of in-channel sand deposition varied from the low to moderate/high range with low for both Hamilton Station Road tributary and middle Milltown Creek and moderate/high for upper Milltown Creek.



#### Figure 18. Catoctin Creek – Mean Riffle Embeddedness Levels<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Riffle embeddedness rating scale: <25% = Excellent, 25-50% = Good, 51-75% = Fair, >75% = Poor.

## **Major Findings**

### **Mainstem Areas**

- Mean riffle embeddedness levels for both the South Fork (Ketoctin Church Road) and North Fork (Hillsboro Road) were 36.7 percent (good).
- South Fork (Piggott Bottom Road) riffle embeddedness rating range was fair (i.e., 51-75 percent) to poor (i.e., >75 percent) at all three transect locations. Compared to 2000 RSAT survey embeddedness levels (i.e., good range), 2005 levels were in the poor range.
- South Fork (Ketoctin Church Road) lowest riffle embeddedness level recorded (i.e., 20 percent).

### Tributaries

- The overall mean tributary riffle embeddedness level was 35.4 percent, which was in the good range (Table 12).
- Upper tributaries mean riffle embeddedness was excellent (i.e., 23.3 percent) and there were no large unstable point bars.
- Middle tributaries mean riffle embeddedness was good (i.e., 46.2 percent).
- Middle tributaries the level of in-channel sand deposition was moderate for both riffle and run habitats.
- Lower tributaries mean riffle embeddedness was good (i.e., 38.3 percent) and there were no large unstable point bars.



Point Bar Dominated By Large Stones

- Upper Milltown Creek had the highest mean riffle embeddedness level 63.3 percent (i.e., fair range). It should be noted that the stream segment above X-3 had been previously impacted by backwater from a beaverdam. Smaller-sized sediment particles, such as sand and silt were deposited into the riffle area upstream of this dam.
- Middle Milltown Creek lowest mean riffle embeddedness observed 15 percent (i.e., excellent range). A total of three large point bars were observed, but all were stable.

## 3.2.3 Physical Aquatic Habitat

### **Mainstem Areas**

General physical aquatic habitat conditions for the upper South and North Fork mainstems are summarized in Table 13 and Figure 19. As seen in Table 13, RSAT aquatic habitat ratings were good for both the South Fork at Piggott Bottom Road and South Fork at Ketoctin Church Road, and excellent for the North Fork at Hillsboro Road. Major contributing factors for the good and excellent ratings included the presence of deeper pools, which featured very good overhead cover for fish, and generally, good riffle substrate material (i.e., material composition generally dominated by larger stone and gravel with minimal amounts of sand).

		Riffle	Characteris	tics	P	ool Cha	racteristi	cs	Fish Bar	riers	DEAT
RSAT Stream Segment	No. of Riffles	Mean Riffle Depth (in.)	Mean Riffle Substrate Quality (pts.) <sup>2</sup>	Mean Riffle Embedded- ness(%) <sup>3</sup>	No. of Pools	Mean Max. Depth (in.)	Mean Pool Quality (pts.) <sup>4</sup>	Riffle/ Pool Ratio <sup>5</sup>	Total Number	Per Mile	Physical Habitat Score (pts.) <sup>6</sup>
Catoctin Creek Mainstems											
Upper - North Fork (Hillsboro Rd.)	9	5.7	4.0	36.7	10	21.6	3.0	0.9	0	0	7
Upper - South Fork (Ketoctin Church Rd.)	12	4.2	2.3	36.7	11	21.3	4.3	0.9	0	0	6
Upper - South Fork (Piggott Bottom Rd.)	4	6.0	2.5	80.7	7	36.0	4.0	0.6	0	0	5
Upper - South Fork (Piggott Bottom Rd.) (2000)	6	2.5	2.3	38.3	16	23.0	2.0	0.4	0	0	4
Total <sup>7</sup>	25	5.3	2.9	51.3	28	26.3	3.8	0.8	0	0	6
Tributaries to Catoctin Creek											
Upper											
Hamilton Station Road Tributary	21	4.3	2.3	26.7	25	26.0	3.3	0.8	0	0	5
Talbot Farm Tributary	20	4.9	3.7	20.0	15	22.7	3.7	1.3	0	0	7
Subtotal	41	4.6	3.0	23.3	40	24.3	3.5	1.1	0	0	6
	44	07	0.0	50.0	47	00.7	10	0.0		0	
Clover Mill Road Tributary	11	2.7	2.0	50.0	17	28.7	4.0	0.6	2	8	5
Richard Creek (Opper Brens Creek)	9	3.0	3.0	22.0	12	10.0	1.7	0.6	0	0	4
Bielis Cleek	27	4.3	2.8	32.0 46.2	42	21.1	2.7	0.5	2	3	4
Lower	21	0.0	2.0	-10.2	-12_	21.1	2.0	0.0	-		
Upper Milltown Creek	16	2.8	2.3	63.3	22	22.3	4.0	0.7	0	0	6
Middle Milltown Creek	8	3.3	3.7	15.0	6	28.0	4.0	1.3	0	0	7
EcoVillage Tributary	11	3.3	3.0	55.0	14	20.3	4.0	0.8	0	0	5
Subtotal	35	3.1	3.0	44.4	42	23.6	4.0	0.9	0	0	6
Tributary Total	103	3.7	2.9	39.8	124	22.8	3.4	0.9	2	1	5

#### Table 13. Summary: Catoctin Creek - General Physical Aquatic Habitat Conditions<sup>1</sup>

Another factor that adds to the overall physical habitat quality is the ratio of wetted perimeter (that portion of the bottom channel at a riffle covered with water) to bottom channel width. This ratio provides insight into the available riffle habitat for fish, macroinvertebrates and other aquatic organisms. For the mainstems, the mean wetted perimeter generally covered more than 74 percent (i.e., good rating) of the bottom channel. It should be noted that fish barriers, either partial or complete, were not observed.

#### Tributaries

Mean RSAT aquatic habitat ratings for the upper, middle and lower tributaries were good. With the exception of Richard Creek, pools were present in relatively high numbers and featured both good depth (i.e., >18 inches) and overhead cover for fish habitat. For Richard Creek, shallow pool depth (i.e., <12 inches), suboptimal substrate composition (i.e., dominated by small sandy/silty material) and the lack of overhead cover for fish habitat, all contributed to the poor pool quality rating.

The mean wetted perimeter widths, with the exception of EcoVillage tributary, were generally greater than 70 percent (i.e., good range). The EcoVillage tributary mean wetted perimeter width (i.e., 63 percent) was barely in the good range (i.e., 61 - 85 percent). Generally, as the wetted perimeter width narrows, habitat for aquatic organisms becomes more limited.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Mean values shown are weighted means.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Riffle substrate quality rating scale: 3.25-4.00 = Excellent, 2.50-3.24 = Good, 1.75 - 2.49 = Fair, 1.00-1.74 = Poor.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Riffle embeddedness rating scale: <25% = Excellent, 25-50% = Good, 51-75% = Fair, >75% = Poor.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Pool quality point scale interpretation: 5 = Excellent, 4 = Very Good, 3 = Good, 2 = Fair, 1 = Poor.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Riffle/pool ratio rating scale: 0.9-1.1:1 = Excellent, 0.70-0.89:1 or 1.11-1.3:1 = Good, 0.5-0.69 or 1.31-1.5:1 = Fair, 0.49:1< or >1.51:1 = Poor.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>RSAT Physical habitat rating scale: 6.5-8.0 = Excellent, 4.5-6.4 = Good, 2.5-4.4 = Fair, 1.0-2.4 = Poor.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Total excludes the Upper - South Fork (Piggott Bottom Road) (2000).



Figure 19. Catoctin Creek - Mean Riffle Substrate<sup>1</sup> and Pool Quality<sup>2</sup>

### **Major Findings**

#### **Mainstem Areas**

- The mean wetted perimeter generally covered more than 74 percent (i.e., good range) for the South Fork (Ketoctin Church Road).
- Mean wetted perimeter width was rated excellent (i.e., >80 percent) for the South Fork at Piggott Bottom Road (i.e., 87.4 percent) and North Fork at Hillsboro Road (i.e., 91.3 percent).
- South Fork (Ketoctin Church Road) mean pool quality score (i.e., 4.3 points) was good. This was the highest score recorded for the Catoctin Creek watershed (Figure 19).
- South Fork (Piggott Bottom Road) mean riffle embeddedness (i.e., 80.7 percent) was rated poor.
- South Fork (Piggott Bottom Road) 2006 RSAT physical instream habitat was rated good (i.e., 5 points) compared to 2000 fair rating (i.e., 4 points). A major contributing factor to the 2006 good rating was the deeper pool habitats which provided greater overhead cover for fish.
- North Fork (Hillsboro Road) riffle substrate composition was good (i.e., 4.0 points). Riffle substrate composition was predominantly larger cobble and rubble with little sand.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Riffle substrate quality point scale interpretation: 3.25-4.00 = Excellent, 2.50-3.24 = Good, 1.75-2.49 = Fair, 1.00-1.74 = Poor.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Pool quality point interpretation: 4.5-5.0 = Excellent, 4.0-4.4 = Very Good, 3.0-3.9 = Good, 2.0-2.9 = Fair, 1.0-1.9 = Poor

- The overall mean riffle substrate quality score (i.e., 2.9 points) was in the good range (Figure 19).
- With the exception of Richard Creek, mean pool quality scores were good to very good (i.e., 3 points and 4 points).
- Lower tributaries (i.e., Milltown Creek and EcoVillage tributary) the mean pool quality score, was rated good (i.e., 4.0 points).
- Clover Mill Road tributary mean substrate quality score (i.e., 2.0 points) was rated fair. This was the lowest for the Catoctin Creek watershed (Figure 19).
- Richard Creek mean wetted perimeter width was rated excellent (i.e., >80 percent) at 90.2 percent.
- Richard Creek mean pool quality score (i.e., 1.7 points) was rated poor (Figure 19). This was the lowest for the Catoctin Creek watershed.
- Talbot Farm tributary pools were generally deep (i.e., >18 inches), with large substrate and good overhead cover for fish habitat.



Clover Mill Road Tributary (X-1) - Complete Fish Barrier

 Clover Mill Road tributary - two fish barriers, one partial and one complete, were observed. The partial barrier was associated to a natural cataract with a six inch drop. The complete barrier is associated with the perched Clover Mill Road culvert, which features a 15 inch vertical drop. It should be noted that fish were observed in the pool immediately downstream of the Clover Mill Road culvert.

## 3.2.4 Water Quality

### **Mainstem Areas**

Upper South and North Fork Catoctin Creek mainstem RSAT water quality grab sampling total dissolved solids (TDS), nitrate and substrate fouling results are summarized in Figure 20. TDS levels for the three stream segments were all rated as being fair (i.e., 101-150 mg/l) to good (i.e., 50-100 mg/l). The highest TDS concentration, 150 mg/l, was observed in the North Fork (Hillsboro Road). Instantaneous nitrate concentrations were all within the upper moderate range (i.e., 1.1 - 2.9 mg/l). The highest (i.e., 2.7 mg/l) and lowest (i.e., 2.4 mg/l) nitrate concentration levels were observed in the North Fork (Hillsboro Road) and both South Fork stream segments, respectively. As a reference, 0.5 mg/l concentration is generally the upper threshold level for naturally occurring nitrate. Mean substrate fouling levels all fell within either the poor to fair range. Overall RSAT water quality scores were all in the fair range (i.e., 3-4 points).



Figure 20. Catoctin Creek - TDS<sup>1</sup>, Nitrate<sup>2</sup> and Mean Substrate Fouling<sup>3</sup>

Tributary water quality, TDS levels ranged from 50 mg/l (i.e., good range) to 160 mg/l (i.e., poor range). The highest TDS concentration, 160 mg/l, was recorded at the Hamilton Station Road tributary. Nitrate concentrations ranged from 1.6 mg/l up to 4.5 mg/l and fell within the moderate to high range. The highest nitrate concentration (i.e., 4.5 mg/l) was observed at the Hamilton Station Road tributary. At the time of the survey, several horses occupied a paddock area and field that were in close proximity of the stream. Mean substrate fouling levels ranged from a low of 27 percent (i.e., fair range) to a high of 68 percent (i.e., poor range). Except for the two Milltown Creek stream segments which were rated good (i.e., 5-6 points), overall RSAT water quality scores for the tributaries were all in the fair range (i.e., 3-4 points). The reader is referred to Appendix 4, Table 1 for additional water quality grab sampling results.

#### **Major Findings**

#### **Mainstem Areas**

 Dissolved oxygen (DO) levels did not violate the minimum 4.0 mg/l Virginia Department of Environmental Quality water quality criterion.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> TDS interpretation: <50 mg/L = Excellent, 50-100 mg/L = Good, 101-150 mg/L = Fair, >150 mg/L = Poor.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Nitrate interpretation: 0.0-1.0 mg/L= Low, 1.1-2.9 mg/L = Moderate, >3.0 mg/L = High.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Substrate fouling interpretation: 0-10% = Excellent, 11-20% = Good, 21-50% = Fair, >50% = Poor.

- North Fork (Hillsboro Road), South Fork (Ketoctin Church Road) and South Fork (Piggott Bottom Road) - instantaneous orthophosphate concentrations were 0.54 mg/l, 0.45 mg/l and 0.23 mg/l, respectively. According to Dunne and Leopold (1978), 'Long-term eutrophication will usually be prevented if total phosphorus and orthophosphate levels are below 0.5 mg/l and 0.05 mg/l, respectively'.
- North Fork (Hillsboro Road) had the highest TDS (i.e., 150 mg/l), nitrate (i.e., 2.7 mg/l), and mean substrate fouling (i.e., 60 mg/l) levels observed for the three Catoctin Creek mainstem areas. Direct livestock (cattle) access to the stream is believed to be a major negative factor.
- South Fork (Ketoctin Church Road) instantaneous TDS level, 90 mg/l, which was the lowest observed for the Catoctin Creek mainstems, was rated good bordering on fair. In addition, the lowest mean substrate fouling level was also observed for this stream segment.
- South Fork (Piggott Bottom Road) 2000 and 2006 nitrate levels, 2.4 and 2.8 mg/l (i.e., moderate rating), respectively, are comparable and suggest that upstream cattle pasture areas with direct livestock access to the stream may be a major contributor.

- Dissolved oxygen (DO) levels did not violate the minimum 4.0 mg/l Virginia Department of Environmental Quality water quality criterion.
- Instantaneous copper and iron concentrations did not exceed water quality criteria to support aquatic life (i.e., copper concentrations did not exceed the Virginia Department of Environmental Quality water quality standard of 0.009 mg/l and iron concentrations did not exceed the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency's recommended water quality standard of 1.0 mg/l).
- Hamilton Station Road the 4.5 mg/l nitrate concentration was the highest instantaneous level recorded during the Phase II study. As a reference, 0.5 mg/l concentration is generally the upper threshold level for naturally occurring nitrate.
- Talbot Farm tributary mean substrate fouling level, 68 percent, was highest among all tributaries.
- Clover Mill Road tributary moderate nitrate (i.e., 2.5 mg/l) and poor substrate fouling (i.e., 67 percent) levels were recorded. Direct livestock access to the stream was observed throughout the surveyed area.
- Richard Creek high nitrate (i.e., 3.1 mg/l) and poor substrate fouling (i.e., 53 percent) levels were recorded. A private small automobile salvage yard and an active livestock pasture/paddock area with direct stream access were observed immediately upstream of the surveyed reach.
- Upper Milltown Creek the lowest mean substrate fouling level (i.e., 27 percent) was recorded at the site.
- EcoVillage tributary instantaneous nitrate level, 3.7 mg/l (i.e., high range), was the second highest level observed among all the tributaries. It should be noted that the large one-acre plus lot, subdivision, which both surrounds EcoVillage and similarly drains to the tributary, had very well manicured "green" lawns.

 With the exception of the EcoVillage tributary, direct livestock access to the streams was commonly observed.

#### 3.2.5 Riparian Habitat Conditions

#### **Mainstem Areas**

Riparian habitat conditions within the three surveyed Catoctin Creek mainstem segment areas were in the good to excellent range. As seen in Table 14, mean canopy coverage ranged from a low of 58.3 percent to a high of 78.0 percent, averaging 65.4 percent (good). While portions of the riparian buffer zones contained mixed forest/grass and/or grass only (i.e., South Fork - Ketoctin Church Road) vegetation types, the vast majority of the stream corridors were comprised of mature hardwood forest. Riparian buffer widths were



South Fork Catoctin Creek Mainstem (Piggott Bottom Road, X-2) - Good Riparian Habitat Conditions

generally rated good to excellent, ranging from 100 (i.e., good) to greater than 200 foot widths (i.e., optimal or excellent condition).

	Surveyed			Riparian Hal	pitat Conditions
RSAT Stream Segment	Stream Length (ft.)	Number of Observations	Coverage (%) <sup>1</sup>	RSAT Score <sup>2</sup>	Verbal Ranking
Catoctin Creek Mainstems					
Upper - North Fork (Hillsboro Rd.)	1,628.1	5	78.0	6	Excellent
Upper - South Fork (Ketoctin Church Rd.)	962.2	6	58.3	4	Good
Upper - South Fork (Piggott Bottom Rd.)	1 700 0	5	60.0	5	Good
Upper - South Fork (Piggott Bottom Rd.) (2000)	1,700.0	5	54.0	4	Good
Total <sup>3</sup>	4,290.3	16	62.6 <sup>4</sup>	5.0 <sup>4</sup>	Good
Tributaries to Catoctin Creek					
Upper					
Hamilton Station Road Tributary	3,169.7	8	49.0	3	Fair
Talbot Farm Tributary	3,094.2	5	24.0	2	Fair
Subtotal	6,263.9	13	36.5 <sup>4</sup>	3.0 <sup>4</sup>	Fair
Middle					
Clover Mill Road Tributary	1,311.6	5	70.0	3	Fair
Richard Creek (Upper Brens Creek)	1,273.2	4	35.0	2	Fair
Brens Creek	1,496.2	7	34.3	1	Poor
Subtotal	4,081.0	16	46.4 <sup>4</sup>	2.0 <sup>4</sup>	Fair
Lower					
Upper Milltown Creek	1,820.4	5	32.0	2	Fair
Middle Milltown Creek	1,494.3	6	68.0	5	Good
EcoVillage Tributary	2,241.5	6	75.0	5	Good
Subtotal	5,556.2	17	58.3 <sup>4</sup>	4.0 <sup>4</sup>	Good
Tributary Total	15,901.1	46	47.1 <sup>4</sup>	3.0 <sup>4</sup>	Fair

#### Table 14. Summary: Catoctin Creek - Riparian Habitat Conditions

 $^{1}$  Mean canopy coverage interpretation:  $\geq 80\%$  = Excellent, 60-79% = Good, 50-59% = Fair, <50% = Poor.

<sup>4</sup> Weighted mean.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Point Score Interpretation: 6.0-7.0 = Excellent, 4.0-5.9 = Good, 2.3-3.9 = Fair, 0-1.9 = Poor.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Total excludes the Upper - South Fork (Piggott Bottom Road) (2000).

RSAT riparian habitat condition scores for the Catoctin Creek tributaries ranged from poor (i.e., 0.0-1.9 points) to good (i.e., 4.0-5.9 points), with an overall fair rating (i.e., 3.0 points). Mean canopy coverage ranged from poor (i.e., <50 percent) to good (i.e., 60-79 percent) with an overall fair (i.e., 50.3 percent) rating. In general, riparian vegetation consisted primarily of hardwood forest with some grass area intermixed. For the EcoVillage tributary, riparian vegetation was principally hardwood forest (i.e., optimal vegetation type). In sharp contrast, Brens Creek was dominated by less than optimal grass vegetation. Mean riparian buffer widths for all tributary areas surveyed were generally rated as being good (i.e., >100 feet).

### Major Findings

### **Mainstem Areas**

- South Fork (Ketoctin Church Road) lowest mainstem mean canopy coverage (i.e., 58.3 percent). A large gap in the canopy coverage upstream of transect X-2, was associated with both severe channel erosion and tree falls.
- South Fork (Piggott Bottom Road) riparian zone vegetation was predominately hardwood forest. This riparian buffer zone was generally greater than 200 feet in width (i.e., excellent range).
- North Fork (Hillsboro Road) highest mainstem mean canopy coverage, at 78.0 percent (i.e., good range). Riparian buffer zone vegetation was also primarily hardwood forest and generally greater than 200 feet wide.

### Tributaries

- Talbot Farms tributary- lowest tributary mean canopy coverage (i.e., 24.0 percent, poor range). It should be noted that recent beaver cuttings above transect X-2 have greatly reduced the number of young willow trees (i.e., *Salix sp.*) in this stream reach.
- In the middle tributaries, riparian buffer widths were generally wide (i.e., > 100 feet). However, the majority of the vegetation present was either the suboptimal forest/grass mix, or in the case of Brens Creek, grassland.
- Brens Creek lowest tributary riparian habitat condition score, 1 point (i.e., poor).
- Upper Milltown Creek canopy coverage condition was rated poor at 30 percent. Stream reach upstream of transect X-3 is associated with an abandoned beaverdam area, comprised of wetland emergent plants with few trees.
- Middle Milltown Creek recent adjacent homeowner activity had removed the majority of the understory trees and shrubs, as well as unwanted exotic and invasive plants.
- EcoVillage tributary highest tributary mean canopy coverage (i.e., 75.0 percent). Riparian buffer zone widths were greater than 200 feet (i.e., excellent).

#### 3.2.6 Biological Condition - Benthic Macroinvertebrate Survey

#### **Mainstem Areas**

As seen in Figure 21, macroinvertebrate community conditions for the three Catoctin Creek mainstem areas were in the fair to excellent range. RSAT voucher total number of taxa<sup>1</sup> results were as follows: 1) South Fork - Ketoctin Church Road, 26 (excellent), Piggott Bottom Road, 14 (fair), and 2) North Fork - Hillsboro Road, 22 (good). Taxa from the pollution intolerant stonefly, mayfly and caddisfly groups (i.e., Ephemeroptera, Plecoptera and Trichoptera - EPT) were present at South Fork (Ketoctin Church Road) and North Fork (Hillsboro Road). Stonefly individuals were absent at South Fork (Piggott Bottom Road).



Stonefly - Perlidae Family - Pollution Intolerant -Collected at Middle Milltown Creek

However, both the flathead mayfly and cased caddisfly groups were present. As for relative abundance



Figure 21. Summary: Catoctin Creek Mainstem RSAT Voucher Collection Macroinvertebrate Condition<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> General RSAT voucher interpretation for taxa richness: >=25 = Excellent, 16-24 = Good, 8-15 = Fair, 0-7 = Poor.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Macroinvertebrate scale interpretation: 7.0-8.0 pts. = Excellent, 5.0-6.9 pts. = Good, 2.1-4.9 pts. = Fair, 0.0-2.0 pts. = Poor.

for the EPT at the three stream reaches, stonefly relative abundance was classified as being 'common' in the South Fork (Ketoctin Church Road) and generally 'scarce' to absent elsewhere (Figure 22). In addition, the relative abundance of flathead mayflies were 'common' only at North Fork (Hillsboro Road) and 'scarce/common' at the other two stream segments. Cased caddisflies were 'scarce/ common' in all three mainstem survey areas.

Results for the Level III RSAT qualitative 20-jab multiple/best habitat survey performed in spring 2005 are summarized in Table 15. The Catoctin Creek index of biotic integrity (IBI) score ratings were all within the good to excellent range. South Fork at Ketoctin Church Road was rated excellent (i.e., 90.0 points); whereas, both the South Fork at Piggott Bottom Road (i.e., 73.2 points) and North Fork at Hillsboro Road (i.e., 76.0 points) areas were rated as being good. For additional results from this survey and the RSAT voucher collection, the reader is referred to Appendix 5.

### Tributaries

Macroinvertebrate community conditions for the Catoctin Creek tributaries surveyed were all rated excellent. RSAT voucher total number of taxa ranged from 20 to 31 (i.e., good to excellent rating). Pollution intolerant taxa of stonefly, mayfly and caddisfly groups (i.e., Ephemeroptera, Plecoptera and Trichoptera (EPT), respectively) were present in all tributary stream reaches. The relative abundance of the EPT individuals were generally 'scarce' to 'common' in all of the tributary stream segments. The single exception was Brens Creek, where stoneflies, mayflies and cased caddisflies were all 'common' in abundance.

Catoctin Creek Level III RSAT tributary survey results (performed in spring 2005) are shown in Table 15. As seen in Table 15, with the exception of Richard Creek, which received a good IBI verbal rating, all of the tributaries had IBI scores in the excellent range. It should be noted that Brens Creek and upper Milltown Creek had the highest possible IBI score, (i.e., 100 percent). Other highlights included a total of 19 EPT taxa collected at each of the following tributary segments: Hamilton Station Road tributary, Middle Milltown Creek and EcoVillage tributary. For additional results from this survey and the RSAT voucher collection, the reader is referred to Appendix 5.

### Major Findings

### **Mainstem Areas**

- South Fork (Ketoctin Church Road) a total of 13 stonefly taxa (pollution intolerant) collected from both the 20-jab (five) and the RSAT voucher (eight) samples that includes one taxa, *Acronueria sp.*, that is highly pollution intolerant.
- South Fork (Ketoctin Church Road) the relative abundance of the stonefly group, represented by the Capniidae family (pollution intolerant) was 'common'.
- South Fork (Piggott Bottom Road) in both the 20-jab and the RSAT voucher, the family group with the highest number of individuals present were Chironomidae (midgeflies), generally considered to be pollution tolerant.
- South Fork (Piggott Bottom Road) both the 2000 and 2006 IBI ratings, although still in the good range (i.e., 60-79 points) declined from 73.2 to 64.1 points, respectively.
- North Fork (Hillsboro Road) in the RSAT voucher sample, the relative abundance of





Relative abundance scores were averaged for each reach. Relative Abundance interpretation: 0 = No Taxa Found, 0.1-0.9 = Scarce, 1.0-2.0 = Scarce/Common, 2.1-3.0 = Common, 3.1-4.0 = Common/Abundant, 4.1-5.0 = Abundant.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Pollution Tolerance Rating: A = Intolerant, B = Moderately Tolerant, C = Tolerant.



Figure 23. Catoctin Creek Upper Tributaries - Mean Relative Abundance of Observed Macroinvertebrates<sup>1</sup> and General Pollution Tolerance<sup>2</sup>

Relative abundance scores were averaged for each reach. Relative Abundance interpretation: 0 = No Taxa Found, 0.1-0.9 = Scarce, 1.0-2.0 = Scarce/Common, 2.1-3.0 = Common, 3.1-4.0 = Common/Abundant, 4.1-5.0 = Abundant.

Pollution Tolerance Rating: A = Intolerant, B = Moderately Tolerant, C = Tolerant.



Relative abundance scores were averaged for each reach. Relative Abundance interpretation: 0 = No Taxa Found, 0.1-0.9 = Scarce, 1.0-2.0 = Scarce/Common, 2.1-3.0 = Common, 3.1-4.0 = Common/Abundant, 4.1-5.0 = Abundant.

<sup>2</sup> Pollution Tolerance Rating: A = Intolerant, B = Moderately Tolerant, C = Tolerant

Figure 25. Catoctin Creek Lower Tributaries - Mean Relative Abundance of Observed Macroinvertebrates<sup>1</sup> and General Pollution Tolerance<sup>2</sup> 0 0 (Oligochaeta) 1.0 0 (Oligochaeta) 1.0 **Segmented Worms- C** 0 0 Leeches- C (Hirudinea) 0 1.01.01.0 (shoqontee) O -slien2 of increasing tolerance) 0 0 Mosquitoes- C (Diptera) 0 EcoVillage Tributary 0 0 .01.01.0 Beetles- C (Coleoptera) (Coleoptera) 2.0 .0 1.0 Water Pennies- C Pollution Rating (in order 3.0 Midgeflies- C (Diptera) 1.3 0 (Bivalvea) 1.0 Clams/Mussels- B/C 0 Middle Milltown Creek 0 0 (sopods - B/C (lsopoda) 1.5 0 (sboqindmA) 0 **D\A -sboqidqmA** 0 with 0 0 Crayfish- B/C (Decapoda) 1.01.01.01.01.0 Таха Craneflies- B/C (Diptera) Macroinvertebrate B/C (Trichoptera) 1.7 Г Netspinning Caddistlies-2.0 Upper Milltown Creek 1.0 (Ephemeroptera) <u>~</u> 1.0 Roundhead Mayflies- B/C 0 0 (odonata) General Dragonflies/Damselflies- B 1.0 0 (Megaloptera) .0 1.01.0 Helgramites/Fishflies- B (Trichoptera) 2.0 Cased Caddisflies- A/B 1.7 1.0 (Ephemeroptera) <u>\_</u> 1.0 B\A -sailtysM bsaffsl 2.3 20 Stoneflies- A (Plecoptera) 1.0 3.5 3.0 2.5 0.2 <u>ا.</u> 0.1 0.5 0.0 Relative abundance of Macroinvertebrates

Relative abundance scores were averaged for each reach. Relative Abundance interpretation: 0 = No Taxa Found, 0.1-0.9 = Scarce, 1.0-2.0 = Scarce/Common, 2.1-3.0 = Common, 3.1-4.0 = Common/Abundant, 4.1-5.0 = Abundant.

<sup> $^2$ </sup> Pollution Tolerance Rating: A = Intolerant, B = Moderately Tolerant, C = Tolerant.

																		Poor.	a metrics are	tolerant	:	= Excellent,	99% =		Good, 5.51-	xcellent, 61-		= Excellent,
SPS Rating		Good	Excellent	Good	Good			Exce llent	Excellent		Exce llent	Good	Excellent		Excellent	Excellent	Excellent	5 = Very	EPT tax	en more		°0./9%	) 75 – 0		I-5.50 =	0% = E		>3.28%
IM BI <sup>12</sup>		76.0	90.06	73.2	64.1			97.9	94.4		80.5	77.0	100.0		100.0	93.8	93.5	oor, <'	lies).	ier oft		ows: >	llent (	6	it, 3.5	vs: <6		lows:
Percent Predators <sup>11</sup>		3.9	10.6	7.1	0.3			7.9	9.2		11.6	16.5	8.7		16.6	11.0	10.0	air, 5-8= Po	rra (caddisi	ative to oth	-	eted as foll	0% = Exce		= Exceller	ed as follow		eted as fol
Per cent Shredder <sup>10</sup>		1.3	0.6	0.0	0.7			5.4	3.7		1.7	0.4	9.2		11.3	2.6	6.7	l, 9-12 = Fa	l Trchopte	isflies) rela	ery Poor.	1 1S 1nterpre	lows: >1 0		0.00-3.50	s interprete		d is interpr
Percent Clingers + Percent Plecoptera <sup>®</sup>		0.0	3.7	0.0	0.5			6.1	3.7		0.0	1.1	6.1		11.7	4.9	1.5	-20 = Good	nethes) and	ptera (cadd	>1.9% = Ve	distlies and	eted as foll		as follows:	alance. It i		clingers an
Per cent Dominance <sup>®</sup>		45.5	14.9	42.7	1.7			20.2	17.1		51.6	42.1	21.0		18.4	27.3	19.5	cellent, 13-	optera (stoi	and Trichol	% = Poor, >	lerant Cad	d is internr		nterpreted	mmunity b		out are not o
Fam ily Biotic In de x <sup>7</sup>		4.3	4.2	5.3	6.3			3.9	3.9		4.0	4.7	3.6		4.2	4.0	3.6	= Exc	), Pleco	flies) a	.1-8.2	ore into	uals an		and is i	ents co		eflies b
Percent Coloeoptera <sup>6</sup>		2.6	23.6	14.7	52.1			14.4	10.6		1.2	16.7	7.7		12.8	13.1	12.6	lows: >= 21	a (maythes) r.	ptera (stone	3% = Fair, 4	to other mc	ther individ		c nutrients	and represe		hat are ston
Percent Trichoptera w/o Hydropsychidae <sup>5</sup>		1.3	6.2	1.4	0.3			10.1	6.0		1.0	0.6	10.0		1.5	3.5	3.3	ategy. ed by SPS as fol	of Ephemeropter <=1 = Very Poo	mayflies), Plecc	= Good, 8.3-12.	distlies) relative	ery roor. les) relative to o		sample to organi	ithin the sample	00ľ.	cent of sample t
Percent EPT⁴		26.0	48.4	15.6	4.4			62.1	52.1		67.5	22.7	66.5		58.2	60.2	65.4	tion Str aterpret	groups ( = Poor,	optera (	16.5%	ae (cad	u%o = vo ra (heef	/ Poor.	of the	l taxa w	Very P	olus per % = V
EPT Richness <sup>3</sup>		5.0	14.0	5.0	7.0			19.0	15.0		7.0	3.0	16.0		16.0	19.0	19.0	am Protec ed and is in	71thin the g Fair, 2-3	Ephemer	lent, 12.4-	ropsychid	Coleontei Coleontei	4% = Very	ntolerance	to the tota	•92.0% =	clingers p
Taxa Richness²		16.0	30	23.0	18.0			38.0	33.0		32.0	27.0	32.0		40.0	36.0	38.0	ounty Stre ta collecte	tolerant w Jood, 4 =	intolerant	i = Excell	erant Hyd	J.20% = r intolerant	and $< 0.2^{\circ}$	olerance/i ır.	a relative t	i= Poor, >	tat type is $62\% = P_0$
Total Number of Ind.		11	161	211	298			277	217		517	532	391		452	344	390	rfax Co r of tay	5-6 = 0	llution	: >16.6	ton tol	1-20.0,	= Poor	meral to	ant taxa	-92.0%	se habi 0 84-
Survey Date		4/21/2005	4/21/2005	4/20/2005	4/21/2000			5/6/2005	5/6/2005		6/10/2005	6/2/2005	5/11/2005		6/6/2006	5/11/2005	6/10/2005	d by Fai al numbe	red pollu cellent,	erally po	s follows	IIY pollut	» = rall rallv nol	- 0.49% =	es the ge > 8.51 Ve	st abunda	<sup>7</sup> air, 84.5	als who = Fair
Approx. Stream Segment Location		Hillsboro Road	Ketoctin Church Road	Piggott Bottom Road	Hagott Bottom Road	ptin Creek		Hamilton Station Road	Clarkes Gap Road		Clover Mill Road	Purcellville Road	Ash George Road		Boilington Road	Miltow n Road	Taylortow n Road	ng were develope epresents the tota	follows: $>7 = E_X$	bundance of gene	d is interpreted as	Dence of general	uoou, u.4u-u.39 hindance of gene	4% = Fair, 0.25 - 1%	51-8.50 = Poor. >	ercent of the mos	I, 68.6-84.0% = I	ercent of individu
RSAT Stream Segment	Catoctin Creek	Upper - North Fork	Upper - South Fork	Upper - South Fork	Upper - South Fork	Tributaries to Catoo	Upper	Hamilton Station Road Tributary	Talbot Farm Tributary	Middle	Clover Mill Road Tributary	Richard Creek	Brens Creek	Lower	Upper Milltow n Creek	Middle Milltow n Creek	EcoVillage Tributary	Scores and ratii Taxa richness r	<sup>o</sup> Counts the dist interpreted as 1	<sup>4</sup> Measures the al	individuals and	Measures the al	<sup>6</sup> Measures the at	Good, 0.5074	<sup>7</sup> The Family Bic $7.50 = $ Fair. 7.5	<sup>3</sup> Measures the p	68.5% = Good	Measures the pt $246-327\% = 4$

52

<sup>10</sup> Measures the percent of individuals that are shredders relative to all other feeding guild types and is interpreted as follows: >5.42% = Excellent, 4.10-5.41% = Good, 2.70-4.00% = Fair, 1.39-2.69% = Poor, <1.39% = Very Poor. <sup>11</sup> Measures the percent of individuals that are predators relative to all other feeding guild types and is interpreted as follows: >2.30% = Excellent, 1.52-2.00% = Good, 1.02-1.51% = Fair, 0.50-1.01% = Poor, <0.50% = Very Poor. <sup>12</sup> SPS IBI score interpretation: 80-100 = Excellent, 60-79 = Good, 40-59= Fair, 20-39 = Poor, 0-19 = Very Poor.

netspinning caddisflies (moderately pollution tolerant) was 'common'.

 North Fork (Hillsboro Road) - A total of only 77 individuals were collected in the 20-jab sample survey in April 2006. Therefore, the index of biotic integrity results for this stream segment should be viewed with caution.

## Tributaries

- With the exception of Richard Creek and Clover Mill tributary, the number of mayfly (Ephemeroptera), stonefly (Plecoptera) and caddisfly (Trichoptera), also referred to as EPT, taxa present in the 20-jab survey were greater than seven, which is rated as being excellent.
- Talbot Farm tributary netspinning caddisflies (moderately pollution tolerant) were 'common/abundant'.
- Hamilton Station Road tributary midgeflies (pollution tolerant) were 'common/abundant'.



Midgefly - Chironomidae Family - Pollution Tolerant -Collected At All Tributary Stream Segments

- Clover Mill Road tributary IBI score of 80.5 points was borderline excellent/good. The EPT taxa was verbally rated as being excellent with seven total taxa present.
- Richard Creek the number of mayfly (Ephemeroptera), stonefly (Plecoptera) and caddisfly (Trichoptera) taxa present totaled three (i.e., poor category) in the 20-jab survey.
- Brens Creek the relative abundance of stoneflies (highly pollution intolerant) was 'common'.
- Upper Milltown Creek caddisfly individuals from the Glossosomatidae family (highly pollution intolerant), *Glossosoma sp.*, were collected. Although few individuals were present, these tortoise-case makers are associated with cool, well oxygenated streams.
- Middle Milltown Creek stonefly individuals from the Perlidae family (highly pollution intolerant), *Agnetina sp.*, were present in high numbers for the 20-jab sample.
- EcoVillage tributary flathead mayfly individuals from the Heptageniidae family (highly pollution intolerant), *Leucrocuta sp.*, were collected. These individuals occupy riffle habitats in cool, well oxygenated streams.



Flathead Mayfly - Heptageniidae Family (Highly Pollution Intolerant), *Leucrocuta sp.*, collected from Middle Milltown Creek
#### 3.2.7 RSAT Summary Stream Quality Ratings

#### **Mainstem Areas**

A summary of the six RSAT evaluation categories employed for evaluating overall stream quality in the Catoctin Creek and its surveyed tributary segments is presented in Table 16 and Figure 26. As seen in Table 16, with the exception of the South Fork (Piggott Bottom Road) site, all of the Catoctin Creek mainstem areas received a good overall rating. For the South Fork (Piggott Bottom Road) site, the overall stream quality rating was fair. In addition it should be noted that in the RSAT 2000 survey South Fork at Piggott Bottom Road was rated good, bordering on fair.

#### Tributaries

Of the eight tributary stream segments surveyed, four (i.e., Hamilton Station Road and Clover Mill Road tributaries, Richard Creek, and Brens Creek) were rated fair. The remaining four (i.e., Talbot Farm tributary, upper Milltown Creek, middle Milltown Creek and EcoVillage tributary) were rated good.

RSAT Stream Segment	Approx. Stream Segment Location	Bank Stability	Channel Scouring/ Deposition	Physical Instream Habitat	Water Quality	Riparian Habitat Conditions	Biological Indicators	RSAT Total Score <sup>2</sup>
Catoctin Creek Mainstems								
Upper - North Fork	Hillsboro Road	Good (7)	Good (6)	Excellent (7)	Fair (4)	Excellent (6)	Excellent (7)	Good (37)
Upper - South Fork	Ketoctin Church Road	Fair (5)	Good (6)	Good (6)	Good (5)	Good (4)	Excellent (7)	Good (33)
Upper - South Fork	Piggott Bottom Road	Fair (5)	Fair (3)	Good (5)	Fair (3)	Good (5)	Fair (4)	Fair (25)
Tributaries to Catoctin Creek								
Upper								
Hamilton Station Road Tributary	Hamilton Station Road	Fair (4)	Fair (4)	Good (5)	Fair (4)	Fair (3)	Excellent (7)	Fair (27)
Talbot Farm Tributary	Clarkes Gap Road	Good (6)	Good (6)	Excellent (7)	Fair (4)	Fair (2)	Excellent (7)	Good (32)
Middle								
Clover Mill Road Tributary	Clover Mill Road	Fair (4)	Fair (4)	Good (5)	Fair (4)	Fair (3)	Excellent (7)	Fair (27)
Richard Creek (Upper Brens Creek)	Purcellville Road	Fair (4)	Fair (3)	Fair (4)	Fair (4)	Fair (2)	Excellent (7)	Fair (24)
Brens Creek	Ash George Road	Fair (4)	Fair (4)	Fair (4)	Fair (4)	Poor (1)	Excellent (8)	Fair (25)
Lower								
Upper Milltow n Creek	Bollington Road	Good (7)	Good (5)	Good (6)	Good (5)	Fair (2)	Excellent (8)	Good (33)
Middle Milltow n Creek	Milltow n Road	Good (6)	Good (6)	Excellent (7)	Good (5)	Good (5)	Excellent (8)	Good (37)
EcoVillage Tributary	Taylortow n Road	Good (6)	Good (5)	Good (5)	Fair (4)	Good (5)	Excellent (8)	Good (33)

#### Table 16. Catoctin Creek Study Summary: RSAT Ratings<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Actual point values are shown in parentheses.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Total RSAT score interpretation: 42-50 = Excellent, 30-41 = Good, 16-29 = Fair, <16 = Poor.





# 3.3 Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek Watersheds

#### 3.3.1 Streambank Stability, Relative Erodibility and Channel Downcutting

Overall streambank stability results are summarized in Table 17 and Figures 27 and 28. Streambank stability for both Quarter Branch and middle mainstem portion of Dutchman Creek was rated as being excellent (i.e., greater than 80 percent of the bank network is stable). Moderate/severe or severe erosion conditions were not observed at either surveyed site. RSAT Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek streambank erosion survey results and totals (Table 17, Figures 27 and 28) are as follows: 1) Quarter Branch - 203 linear feet of moderate streambank erosion (i.e., 5.4 percent of the surveyed streambank network at a rate of 286.2 linear feet per mile), 2) Dutchman Creek - 320 linear feet of moderate streambank erosion (i.e., 11.9 percent



Quarter Branch (X-2) - Stable Streambank

of the surveyed streambank network at a rate of 629.6 linear feet per mile) and 3) two recent tree falls both observed within Quarter Branch stream channel (i.e., at a rate of 2.8 tree falls per mile). It should be noted that both tree falls were associated with short (i.e., less than 50 linear feet) moderate erosion condition stream bend areas.

RSAT soil texture survey results (Figure 27) revealed that: 1) the bank material for Quarter Branch is comprised of moderately erodible soil types (i.e., loamy textured soils) and 2) the bank material for Dutchman Creek (middle mainstem) is comprised of low erodibility potential soil types (i.e., predominantly clay-textured soils, bedrock, rip-rap, etc.), though soils with moderate and high erodibility potentials are also present.

	Survoyod	Surveyed		B	ank E	Frosion Condit	ions		No. of		No. of	Mean
RSAT Stream Segment	Stream Length	Streambank Network <sup>1</sup>	Severe		Mod	erate/Severe	Mod	erate	R Tre	ecent e Falls <sup>2</sup>	Erosional Log	Bank Stability
	(ft.)	Length (ft.)	(LF)	(LF/mi.)	(LF)	(LF/mi.)	(LF)	(LF/mi.)	No.	No./mi.	Jams	(%) <sup>3</sup>
Quarter Branch												
Quarter Branch	1,871.2	3,742.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	202.9	286.2	2.0	2.8	0.0	81.7
Dutchman Creek												
Dutchman Creek	1,342.5	2,685.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	320.2	629.6	0.0	0.0	0.0	81.8

#### Table 17. Summary: Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek - Streambank Erosion Conditions

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Length to include both the left and right bank (i.e., twice the distance of the surveyed stream length).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Tree fall interpretation: 0-1/mi. = Excellent, 2-3/mi. = Good, 4-5/mi = Fair,  $\ge 6$  = Poor.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Bank stability interpretation: >80% = Excellent, 71-80% = Good, 50-70% = Fair, <50% = Poor.

Stream channel downcutting results (Table 18 and Figure 29) revealed that mean streambank heights for both Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek exceed the expected or reference condition bank heights by as much as one foot. Representative channel cross-sectional areas for Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek were 209.79 square feet and 192.11 square feet, respectively. The combined higher than expected streambank heights and large channel cross-sectional areas suggest that both Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek stream channels have, in the past, experienced a moderate level of channel downcutting and widening. It should be noted that, for Quarter Branch, further channel downcutting may be limited by the frequent presence of in-channel bedrock outcrops.

#### Major Findings

## **Quarter Branch**

- Bank stability ranged from 72 (i.e., good) to 90 percent (i.e., excellent).
- Mean streambank stability was 81.7 percent and was rated as being excellent.
- There were no areas exhibiting either moderate/severe or severe bank erosion conditions.

# Figure 27. Summary: Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek - Mean Streambank Stability and Relative Erodibility(%)<sup>1</sup>



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Total number of observations to determine average bank stability and relative erodibility appear in parentheses.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Mean bank stability interpretation: >80% = Excellent, 71-80% = Good, 50-70% = Fair, <50% = Poor.





Figure 29. Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek Mainstem - Representative Channel Cross-Sections<sup>1</sup>



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Top channel width, bottom channel width and wetted perimeter area (heavy blue line) depicted.

RSAT Stream Segment	Drainage Area (mi²)	Surveyed Stream Length	Mean Bank Height R <sup>1</sup> (ft)	Mean Bank Height L <sup>2</sup> (ft)	Mean Bank Height (ft)	Expected Bank Height Range (ft)	Number of Nick Points
Quarter Branch							
Quarter Branch	7.0	1,871	3.9	3.4	3.6	2-3	0
Dutchman Creek							
Dutchman Creek	2.5	1,343	3.7	3.6	3.7	2-3	0

Table 18. Summary: Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek - Stream Channel Downcutting

#### **Dutchman Creek**

- Bank stability ranged from 65 (i.e., fair) to 95 percent (i.e., excellent).
- Mean streambank stability was 81.8 percent and rated excellent.
- Moderate/severe or severe bank erosion conditions were not observed.
- No recent tree falls were observed.
- 142 linear feet of actively eroding streambank (moderate erosion condition) was observed in the vicinity of Cypress Knoll Lane.



Dutchman Creek (Transect X-3) - Stable Streambank

#### 3.3.2 Channel Scouring and Sediment

#### **Channel Deposition**

Table 19 summarizes the channel scouring and sediment channel deposition for Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek. As seen in Table 19, large point bars were not observed in Quarter Branch. A total of two large stable point bars were observed in Dutchman Creek. Mean embeddedness levels in Quarter Branch (Figure 30) were rated as being fair (i.e., 51 - 75 percent). In contrast, the Dutchman Creek embeddedness levels were excellent, ranging from 10 to 25 percent.

	<b>A A B B B B B B B B B B</b>		01 10 1	/CI 11 / TD	
Table IV Summarv	( Juarter Kranch and	Dutchman ( 'reek _	Channel Scouring	/Sediment De	nosition ( 'onditions'
rapic 17. Summary.	Qual wi Di anch and	Duttillian Citter	Chamie Scourme	Jocument De	position contantions
•/				7	

	Surveyed	Percent Embbedde	Riffle edness		Large Poi	int Bars		Relative Level of In-
RSAT Stream Segment	Length (ft.)	Observed Range	Mean	Total Number Observed	No. Unstable	Percent Unstable (%)	No.of Unstable /Mile	Channel Sand Deposits
Quarter Branch								
Quarter Branch	1,871	50-60	55.0	0	0	0	0.0	Moderate
Dutchman Creek								
Dutchman Creek	1,343	10-25	15.0	2	0	0	0.0	Low

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Right bank looking downstream.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Left bank looking downstream.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Riffle embeddedness rating scale: <25% = Excellent, 25-50% = Good, 51-75% = Fair, >75% = Poor.



Figure 30. Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek - Mean Riffle Embeddedness Levels<sup>1</sup>

## **Major Findings**

#### **Quarter Branch**

- Mean riffle embeddedness throughout the survey ranged from 50-60 percent, which fell within the good and fair range.
- There was a noticeable amount of sand deposition within riffle, pool and run habitat areas.

#### **Dutchman Creek**

- Riffle embeddedness levels fell within the excellent to good categories (10-25 percent) throughout the survey.
- Below transect X-2, riffle and pool substrate featured coarser-sized rubble, cobble and boulder material with little sand.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Riffle embeddedness rating scale:  $\langle 25\% \rangle = Excellent$ ,  $25-50\% \rangle = Good$ ,  $51-75\% \rangle = Fair$ ,  $\rangle 75\% \rangle = Poor$ .

#### 3.3.3 Physical Aquatic Habitat

General physical aquatic habitat conditions for Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek are summarized in Table 20 and Figure 31. As seen in Table 20, the RSAT physical aquatic habitat conditions for both Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek were good. For Quarter Branch, the major factors contributing to its good rating included good pool quality (i.e., pools generally >18 inches with abundant overhead cover for fish) and good mean wetted perimeter. For Dutchman Creek, the major factors contributing to its good rating included good riffle substrate quality (i.e., high levels of coarse substrate material such as cobble, rubble and gravel with little sand present) and very good quality pools.



Quarter Branch - Riffle/Pool Sequence With In-Stream Bedrock Outcrops

## **Major Findings**

## **Quarter Branch**

- Maximum pool depth was 20 inches. However, several shallow pools (i.e., approximately 12 inches deep) were present. As previously mentioned, the bedrock streambed limits the formation of deeper pools.
- The substrate material composition consisted of small cobble, gravel, rubble, and bedrock with a noticeable amount of sand.
- No fish barriers were observed.

		Riffle C	Characteris	tics	Ро	ol Char	acterist	ics	Fish Ba	rriers	RSAT
RSAT Stream Segment	No.of Riffles	Mean Riffle Depth (in.)	Mean Riffle Substrate Quality (pts.) <sup>1</sup>	Mean Riffle Em bedded ness(%)²	No. of Pools	Mean Max. Depth (in.)	Mean Pool Quality (pts.) <sup>3</sup>	Riffle/ Pool Ratio⁴	Total Num ber	Per Mile	Physical Habitat Score (pts.)⁵
Quarter Branch											
Quarter Branch	10	3.9	2.0	55.0	8	17.3	3.3	1.3	0	0	5
Dutchman Creek											
Dutchman Creek	6	3.9	2.7	15.0	7	33.2	4.3	0.9	0	0	5

#### Table 20. Summary: Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek - General Physical Aquatic Habitat Conditions

<sup>1</sup> Riffle substrate quality rating scale: 3.25-4.00 = Excellent, 2.50-3.24 = Good, 1.75 - 2.49 = Fair, 1.00-1.74 = Poor.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Riffle embeddedness rating scale: <25% = Excellent, 25-50% = Good, 51-75% = Fair, >75% = Poor.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Quality pool point scale interpretation: 5 = Excellent, 4 = Very Good, 3 = Good, 2 = Fair, 1 = Poor.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Riffle/pool ratio rating scale: 0.9-1.1:1 = Excellent, 0.70-0.89:1 or 1.11-1.3:1 = Good, 0.5-0.69 or 1.31-1.5:1 = Fair, 0.49:1< or >1.51:1 = Poor.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>RSAT Physical habitat rating scale: 6.5-8.0 = Excellent, 4.5-6.4 = Good, 2.5-4.4 = Fair, 1.0-2.4 = Poor.



Figure 31. Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek - Mean Riffle Substrate<sup>1</sup> and Pool Quality<sup>2</sup>

#### **Dutchman Creek**

- Mean riffle embeddedness, at 15 percent, was rated excellent.
- Maximum pool depth was measured at 43 inches and provided abundant fish habitatrelated overhead cover.
- No fish barriers were observed.

#### 3.3.4 Water Quality

Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek RSAT water quality grab sampling summary total dissolved solids (TDS), nitrate, and substrate fouling results are presented in Figure 32. As seen in Figure 32, TDS levels were in the fair range for Quarter Branch (i.e., 101-150 mg/l) and in the good range for Dutchman Creek (i.e., 50-100 mg/l). Nitrate concentrations for Quarter Branch were high (i.e., >3.0 mg/l) and moderate for Dutchman Creek (i.e., 1.1-2.9 mg/l). Quarter Branch substrate fouling levels were excellent (i.e., <11 percent of the bottom side of cobble-sized stones covered by organic film); whereas, Dutchman Creek's were fair (i.e., 21-50 percent of the bottom side of cobble-sized stones covered by organic film). The overall RSAT water quality ratings for Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek were good and fair, respectively.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Riffle substrate quality point scale interpretation: 3.25-4.00 = Excellent, 2.50-3.24 = Good, 1.75-2.49 = Fair, 1.00-1.74 = Poor.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Pool quality point interpretation: 4.5-5.0 = Excellent, 4.0-4.4 = Very Good, 3.0-3.9 = Good, 2.0-2.9 = Fair, 1.0-1.9 = Poor.



Figure 32. Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek - TDS<sup>1</sup>, Nitrate<sup>2</sup> and Mean Substrate Fouling<sup>3</sup>

#### **Major Findings**

#### **Quarter Branch**

- The instantaneous TDS level (120 mg/l) was in the fair range.
- The instantaneous nitrate concentration (4.0 mg/l) was in the high range.
- Mean substrate fouling (5 percent) was in the excellent range.
- The instantaneous orthophosphate concentration was 0.19 mg/l. According to Dunne and Leopold (1978), 'long-term eutrophication will usually be prevented if total phosphorus and orthophosphate levels are below 0.5 mg/l and 0.05 mg/l, respectively.'
- The instantaneous copper concentration, 0.06 mg/l, exceeded the Virginia Department of Environmental Quality (VADEQ) 0.009 mg/l standard for protecting aquatic life.

#### Middle Dutchman Creek

- The instantaneous TDS level (90 mg/l) was in the good range.
- The instantaneous nitrate level (2.7 mg/l) was in the moderate range.
- Mean substrate fouling (31 percent) was in the fair range.
- The instantaneous orthophosphate concentration was 0.54 mg/l.
- The instantaneous copper concentration, 0.67 mg/l, exceeded the VADEQ 0.009 mg/l standard for protecting aquatic life.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> TDS interpretation: <50 mg/L = Excellent, 50-100 mg/L = Good, 101-150 mg/L = Fair, >150 mg/L = Poor.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Nitrate interpretation: 0.0-1.0 mg/L= Low, 1.1-2.9 mg/L = Moderate, >3.0 mg/L = High.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Substrate fouling interpretation: 0-10% = Excellent, 11-20% = Good, 21-50% = Fair, >50\% = Poor.

#### 3.3.5 Riparian Habitat Conditions

As seen in Table 21, riparian habitat conditions within Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek were rated as being in the good to fair range. Quarter Branch mean canopy coverage was 63 percent (i.e., good). Its riparian buffer zone widths were generally greater than 200 feet wide and consisted of hardwood forest. Dutchman Creek mean canopy coverage was 52 percent (i.e., fair) and its mean riparian buffer width was approximately 170 feet. It also featured a mix of forest/grass vegetation types.

## **Major Findings**

#### **Quarter Branch**

 The only major canopy gap was associated with the VEPCO stream crossing.

#### **Dutchman Creek**

 Major canopy gaps were present along the left streambank (looking downstream) section located behind the houses at Cypress Knoll Lane. Mixed forest/grass vegetation dominated this riparian buffer area for approximately 500 linear feet.



Dutchman Creek (Transect X-2) - Grassed Riparian Buffer/Cypress Knoll Lane Development



Quarter Branch (Above Transect X-3) - Poor Tree Canopy/ VEPCO Crossing

Table 21 Commence	· Ana mtan Duan alı	and Dutchman Cual	Dimension Habite	4 Conditions
Table 21. Summary	: Ollarier Branch	апо рисптан с геек	( - Kibarian Habila	L CONCILIONS

	Surveyed	Number of	Maan Canany	Riparian Hab	itat Conditions
RSAT Stream Segment	Stream Length (ft.)	Observations	Coverage (%) <sup>1</sup>	RSAT Score <sup>2</sup>	Verbal Ranking
Quarter Branch					
Quarter Branch	1,871.2	6	63.3	5	Good
Dutchman Creek					
Dutchman Creek	1,342.5	5	52.0	3	Fair

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Mean canopy coverage interpretation:  $\geq 80\%$  = Excellent, 60-79% = Good, 50-59% = Fair, <50% = Poor.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Point Score Interpretation: 6.0-7.0 = Excellent, 4.0-5.9 = Good, 2.3-3.9 = Fair, 0-1.9 = Poor.

#### 3.4.6 Biological Condition - Benthic Macroinvertebrate Survey

As seen in Figure 33, macroinvertebrate community conditions for Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek were excellent. The RSAT voucher total number of taxa<sup>1</sup> collected for Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek was 10 (i.e., fair) and 23 (i.e., good) taxa, respectively. As for the pollution intolerant

stonefly, mayfly and caddisfly groups (i.e., Ephemeroptera, Plecoptera and Trichoptera - EPT), 11 taxa groups were collected in Dutchman Creek; whereas, only five were collected for Quarter Branch. It should be noted that individuals from the stonefly family group, Taeniopterygidae (generally considered highly pollution intolerant), were present in both streams. Dutchman Creek also included two other highly pollution intolerant stonefly taxa, *Acroneuria sp.* and *Eccoptura sp.* 

In Quarter Branch, stoneflies belonging to the family Capniidae were observed to be 'common/abundant.' Roundhead mayflies and cased caddisflies were observed to be 'scarce/common.' Flathead mayflies, generally considered more pollution intolerant than the roundhead mayflies, were absent from the survey. Cranefly larvae were also observed to be 'common' in relative abundance. Dutchman Creek mayfly, stonefly and caddisfly relative abundances (i.e., EPT taxa groups) generally fell into the 'scarce/common' to 'common' categories (Figure 34). Notably, net-spinning caddisflies and water



Dutchman Creek - *Eccoptura sp.*, A Highly Pollution Intolerant Stonefly





<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> General RSAT voucher interpretation for taxa richness: >=25 = Excellent, 16-24 = Good, 8-15 = Fair, 0-7 = Poor.

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$ Macroinvertebrate scale interpretation: 7.0-8.0 pts. = Excellent, 5.0-6.9 pts. = Good, 2.1-4.9 pts. = Fair, 0.0-2.0 pts. = Poor.

pennies were both observed to be 'common/ abundant'.

As part of the Level III RSAT survey, an additional spring 2005 qualitative 20-jab multiple/best habitat survey was performed. Results for the Level III RSAT survey are summarized in Table 22. As seen in Table 22, both Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek index of biotic integrity (IBI) scores (i.e., 100.0 and 90.1 points, respectively) were excellent. The total taxa richness (i.e., 32 and 44, respectively) as well as the EPT taxa richness (i.e., 17 and 21, respectively) were rated excellent (i.e., taxa richness >20 = excellent; EPT taxa richness >7 = excellent).



Dutchman Creek - Commonly Collected Water Pennies (Psephenus sp.)

Specifically, for Quarter Branch, five highly pollution intolerant taxa were represented by *Nemoura sp.* (P), *Suwallia sp.* (P), *Dolophilodes sp.* (T), *Glossosoma sp.* (T), and *Rhyacophila sp.* (T). The number of individuals from these five taxa represented almost 40 percent of the total number of individuals collected. In Dutchman Creek, there were four taxa (i.e., *Leucrocuta sp.* (E), *Agnetina sp.* (P), *Dolophilodes sp.* (T), and *Glossosoma sp.* (T)) considered highly pollution intolerant and they represented five percent of the total number of individuals collected. For additional results from this survey and the RSAT voucher collection, the reader is referred to Appendix 5.

# Major Findings

# **Quarter Branch**

- RSAT voucher sample the relative abundance of midgeflies, beetles, and snails, generally considered highly pollution tolerant, was 'scarce/common' (Figure 34).
- RSAT voucher sample the relative abundance of pollution tolerant craneflies (*Tipula sp.*) was 'common' (Figure 34).
- Level III RSAT survey the percent of EPT taxa individuals relative to the total number of taxa collected, 76.1 percent, was the highest for the entire study (Table 22).
- Level III RSAT survey the ten metrics, used to score the index of biological integrity (IBI), were all rated as being excellent (Table 22).
- Level III RSAT survey *Dolophilodes sp.* (T) number of individuals totaled 138 or almost 30 percent of the total number of individuals collected. As previously mentioned, these individuals are highly pollution intolerant (Table 22).

# **Dutchman Creek**

- RSAT voucher sample the relative abundance of midgeflies, beetles, snails, and segmented worms, generally considered highly pollution tolerant, was 'scarce/common' (Figure 34).
- RSAT voucher sample water pennies (*Psephenus sp.*) and aquatic riffle beetles, were 'common'. These taxa are generally considered pollution tolerant (Figure 34).



Pollution Tolerance Rating: A = Intolerant, B = Moderately Tolerant, C = Tolerant.

Relative abundance scores were averaged for each reach. Relative Abundance interpretation: 0 = No Taxa Found, 0.1-0.9 = Scarce, 1.0-2.0 = Scarce/Common, 2.1-3.0 = Common, 3.1-4.0 = Common/Abundant, 4.1-5.0 = Abundant.

<b>Fable 22. Sumn</b>	nary: Quarter Bra	nch and	I Dutchma	an Cre	ek - 1m²	Macroinvertel	brate Sample	e Metric	cs and Fairf	ax County	SPS IBI So	core and <b>R</b>	ating <sup>1</sup>	
RSAT Stream Segment	Approx. Stream Segment Location	Total Number of Ind	Taxa Richness²	EPT Richn ess <sup>3</sup>	Percent ⊟PT⁴	Percent Trichoptera w/o Hydropsychidae <sup>5</sup>	Per cent Coloeopte ra <sup>6</sup>	Family Biotic Index <sup>7</sup>	Per cent Dominance <sup>8</sup>	Percent Clingers + Percent Plecoptera <sup>9</sup>	Percent Shredder <sup>10</sup>	Percent Predators <sup>11</sup>	IMBI <sup>12</sup>	SPS Rating
Quarter Branch														
Quarter Branch	Quarter Branch Road	461	32	17	76.1	31.0	1.3	3.7	28.6	13.9	10.2	6.7	100.0	Excellent
Dutchman Creek														
Dutchman Creek	Dutchman Creek Road	470	44	21	57.2	8.5	11.1	3.8	14.7	4.0	0.2	9.1	90.1	Excellent

Scores and rating were developed by Fairfax County Stream Protection Strategy.

Counts the distinct taxa considered pollution intolerant within the groups of Ephemeroptera (mayflies), Plecoptera (stoneflies) and Trichoptera (caddisflies). EPT taxa metrics are Taxa richness represents the total number of taxa collected and is interpreted by SPS as follows: >= 21 = Excellent, 13–20 = Good, 9-12 = Fair, 5-8 = Poor, <5 = Very Poor.

interpreted as follows: >7 = Excellent, 5-6 = Good, 4 = Fair, 2-3 = Poor, <=1 = Very Poor.

Measures the absence of generally pollution tolerant Hydropsychidae (caddisflies) relative to other more intolerant Caddisflies and is interpreted as follows: >0.79% = Excellent, 0.60-Measures the abundance of generally pollution intolerant Ephemeroptera (mayflies), Plecoptera (stoneflies) and Trichoptera (caddisflies) relative to other, often more tolerant, individuals and is interpreted as follows: >16.6 = Excellent, 12.4-16.5% = Good, 8.3-12.3% = Fair, 4.1-8.2% = Poor, >1.9% = Very Poor.

Measures the abundance of generally pollution intolerant Coleoptera (beetles) relative to other individuals and is interpreted as follows: >1.00% = Excellent, 0.75 - 0.99% = Good, 0.78% = Good, 0.40-0.59% = Fair, 0.39-0.20% = Poor, <0.20% = Very Poor.0.50-.74% = Fair, 0.25 - 0.49% = Poor and < 0.24% = Very Poor.

The Family Biotic index measures the general tolerance/intolerance of the sample to organic nutrients and is interpreted as follows: 0.00-3.50 = Excellent, 3.51-5.50 = Good, 5.51-7.50 = Fair, 7.51-8.50 = Poor, > 8.51 Very Poor.

Measures the percent of the most abundant taxa relative to the total taxa within the sample and represents community balance. It is interpreted as follows: <60% = Excellent, 61-68.5% = Good, 68.6-84.0% = Fair, 84.5-92.0% = Poor, >92.0% = Very Poor.

Measures the percent of individuals whose habitat type is clingers plus percent of sample that are stoneflies but are not clingers and is interpreted as follows: >3.28% = Excellent, 2.46-<sup>10</sup> Measures the percent of individuals that are shredders relative to all other feeding guild types and is interpreted as follows: >5.42% = Excellent, 4.10-5.41\% = Good, 2.70-4.00\% 3.27% = Good, 1.63-2.45% = Fair, 0.84-1.62% = Poor, <0.84% = Very Poor.

<sup>11</sup> Measures the percent of individuals that are predators relative to all other feeding guild types and is interpreted as follows: >2.30% = Excellent, 1.52-2.00% = Good, 1.02-1.51% = Fair, 1.39-2.69% = Poor, <1.39% = Very Poor.

SPS IMBI score interpretation: 80-100 = Excellent, 60-79 = Good, 40-59= Fair, 20-39 = Poor, 0-19 = Very Poor. = Fair, 0.50-1.01% = Poor, <0.50% = Very Poor.

- Level III RSAT survey a total of twenty-one EPT taxa were collected. This was among the highest EPT taxa richness for the entire study (Table 22).
- Level III RSAT survey only the percent shedder metric, 0.2 percent, received a very poor rating (i.e., <1.39 percent = very poor). All other IBI metrics received an excellent rating (Table 22).

#### 3.4.7 RSAT Summary Stream Quality Ratings

As seen in Table 23 and Figure 35, the overall RSAT stream quality rating for both Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek was good. Specifically, the biological indicators category was rated excellent. It should be noted that for Dutchman Creek, the water quality and riparian habitat conditions categories were rated fair. For Quarter Branch, the channel scouring/deposition category was rated fair.

RSAT Stream Segment	Approx. Stream Segment Location	Bank Stability	Channel Scouring/ Deposition	Physical Instream Habitat	Water Quality	Riparian Habitat Conditions	Biological Indicators	RSAT Total Score <sup>2</sup>
Quarter Branch								
Quarter Branch	Quarter Branch Road	Good (7)	Fair (4)	Good (5)	Good (5)	Good (5)	Excellent (8)	Good (34)
Dutchman Creek								
Dutchman Creek	Dutchman Creek Road	Good (7)	Good (6)	Good (5)	Fair (4)	Fair (3)	Excellent (8)	Good (33)

Table 23. Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek Study Summary: RSAT Ratings<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Actual point values are shown in parentheses.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Total RSAT score interpretation: 42-50 = Excellent, 30-41 = Good, 16-29 = Fair, <16 = Poor.



71

#### 3.4 Piney Run Watershed

## 3.4.1 Streambank Stability, Relative Erodibility and Channel Downcutting

Streambank stability results are summarized in Table 24, and Figures 36 and 37. Overall, the mean streambank stability in the Piney Run mainstem (i.e., 87.1 percent) was rated as being in the excellent range (i.e., >80.0 percent of the bank network is stable). Mean streambank stability for the middle and the lower mainstem areas surveyed was 89.2 and 85.0 percent, respectively. It should be noted that neither moderate/severe nor severe streambank erosion conditions were observed during COG's 2005 survey. However, moderate streambank erosion levels in lower Piney Run increased notice-



Middle Piney Run (Transect X-1) - Stable Streambank

ably from earlier COG 2000 and 2002 surveys. This has resulted in a six percent lower 2005 streambank stability rating for the lower mainstem. RSAT 2005 Piney Run streambank erosion survey results (Table 24 and Figure 36) are as follows: zero linear feet of moderate/severe or severe erosion, 300 linear feet of moderate erosion, and no recent tree falls. One erosional log jam was recorded for the lower mainstem; whereas, none was recorded for the middle mainstem.

Regarding the relative erodibility of existing streambank material, RSAT streambank soil texture results for Piney Run (Figures 36) revealed that bank material for the middle mainstem survey area consisted primarily of moderately erodible soil types (i.e., generally silty/sandy soils) while the bank material at the lower mainstem survey area consisted primarily of soils that are far less erodible (i.e., predominately clay soils with intermittent areas of exposed bedrock). It should be noted that a relatively small amount of highly erodible soils (i.e., soils with high silt and sand contents) were also present.

	Surveyed	Surveyed		Bar	nk Erosi	on Conditi	ions		No. of		No. of	Mean
RSAT Stream Segment	Stream Length	Streambank	Š	evere	Modera	te/Severe	Мо	derate	Rece F	ent Tree alls <sup>2</sup>	Erosional	Bank Stability <sup>3</sup>
5	(ft.)	Length (ft.)	(LF)	(LF/mi.)	(LF)	(LF/mi.)	(LF)	(LF/mi.)	No.	No./mi.	Log Jams	(%)
Piney Run												
Middle Piney												
Run	1,692.1	3,384.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	54.7	85.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	89.2
Lower Piney Run	1,200.0	2,400.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	245.5	540.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	85.0
Total	2,892.1	5,784.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	300.2	274.0	0.0			87.1 <sup>4</sup>
Lower Piney Run												
(2002)	1,200.0	2,400.0	0.0	0.0	60.0	132.0	20.0	44.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	91.3
Lower Piney Run (2000)	1,200.0	2,400.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	94.0

fable 24. Piney	Run	- Streamba	nk Erosion	Conditions
-----------------	-----	------------	------------	------------

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Length to include both the left and right bank (i.e., twice the distance of the surveyed stream length)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Tree fall interpretation: 0-1/mi. = Excellent, 2-3/mi. = Good, 4-5/mi = Fair,  $\ge 6$  = Poor.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Mean bank stability interpretation: >80% = Excellent, 71-80% = Good, 50-70% = Fair, <50% = Poor.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Weighted Mean



Figure 36. Summary: Piney Run - Mean Streambank Stability and Relative Erodibility 1(%)

Stream channel downcutting results (Table 25) revealed that both the middle and lower mainstem sites were very close to the expected or reference condition bank height range. Figure 38 shows the representative channel cross-sections with cross-sectional areas of 117.1 square feet and 120.4 square feet for the middle and lower mainstems, respectively.

RSAT Stream Segment	Drainage Area (mi²)	Surveyed Stream Length	Mean Bank Height R <sup>3</sup> (ft)	Mean Bank Height L <sup>4</sup> (ft)	Mean Bank Height (ft)	Expected Bank Height Range (ft)	Number of Nick Points
Piney Run							
Middle Piney Run	8.3	1,692	3.9	3.4	3.6	2-3	0
Lower Piney Run (2005)	13.8	1,200	3.7	3.6	3.7	2-3	0
Total	14.9	2,892	3.7 <sup>5</sup>	3.5 <sup>5</sup>	3.6 <sup>5</sup>	-	0.0
Lower Piney Run (2002)	13.8	1 200	3.3	2.5	2.9	2.3	0
Lower Piney Run (2000)	13.0	1,200	2.8	2.8	2.8	2-3	0

Table 25	C	Dimorr	D	Stream	Channel	Downoutting
1able 25.	Summary:	гшеу	null –	Sueam	Unaimer	Downcutting

<sup>1</sup> Total number of observations to determine average bank stability and relative erodibility appear in parentheses.

<sup>2</sup> Mean bank stability interpretation: >80% = Excellent, 71-80% = Good, 50-70% = Fair, <50% = Poor.

<sup>4</sup>Left bank looking downstream.

<sup>5</sup>Weighted Mean

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Right bank looking downstream.









Piney Run

## **Major Findings**

## **Middle Mainstem**

- Over 84 percent of the total streambank network length was classified as being stable (Figure 37).
- Moderate streambank erosion (i.e., 55 linear feet total) represented less than one percent of the total streambank network (i.e., 3,384.2 feet) surveyed. No areas of moderate/severe or severe streambank erosion conditions were observed (Figure 37).
- At transect X-3, the stream channel was markedly wider (i.e, almost twice the width of transect X-2).

## Lower Mainstem

- Over 87 percent of the streambank network length was classified as being stable or exhibiting slight erosion.
- Moderate streambank erosion conditions were observed in the vicinity of transect X-2 located downstream of a major log jam.
- The calculated rates for the moderate/ severe and moderate streambank erosion categories were 0.0 and 540.1 linear feet/ mile versus 132.0 and 44 linear feet/mile for the 2000 middle mainstem.



Lower Piney Run (X-2) - Major Log Jam

## 3.4.2 Channel Scouring and Sediment Deposition

A total of four large point bars were observed; two were classified as unstable (i.e., devoid of any vegetation), and both were located in the lower mainstem (Table 26). Riffle embeddedness levels ranged from poor (100.0 percent) to excellent (10.0 percent). The overall mean mainstem embeddedness level of 34.1 percent was rated good (Table 26).

	Surveyed	Percent Embbedde	Riffle edness		Large Poi	nt Bars		Relative Level of In-
RSAT Stream Segment	Length (ft.)	Observed Range	Mean	Total Number Observed	No. Unstable	Percent Unstable (%)	No.of Unstable /Mile	Channel Sand Deposits
Piney Run								
Middle Piney Run	1,692	10-48	27.7	2	0	0	0.0	Low
Low er Piney Run (2005)	1,200	10-100	40.7	2	2	100	8.8	Low
Total	2,892	0.0	34.1 <sup>2</sup>	4	2	100	8.8	-
Low er Piney Run (2002)	1,200	10-66	36.7	3	1	33	4.4	Low
Low er Piney Run (2000)		10-57	31.5	4	2	50	8.7	Low

Table 16	Summoury Ding	Dun Channa	Coorning/Codimon	Donasition	Conditions
Table 20.	Summary. I me	y Kun – Channe	i Scouring/Seumen	Deposition	conunous

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Riffle embeddedness rating scale:  $\langle 25\% \rangle = Excellent$ ,  $25-50\% \rangle = Good$ ,  $51-75\% \rangle = Fair$ ,  $\rangle 75\% \rangle = Poor$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Weighted means.



Figure 39. Piney Run – Mean Riffle Embeddedness Levels<sup>1</sup>

## **Major Findings**

#### Middle Mainstem

- No unstable point bars were observed.
- Mean riffle embeddedness = 27.7 percent (i.e., good).
- The level of in-channel sand deposition was low (Table 26).

#### Lower Mainstem

 Material composition of the two unstable point bars observed included small, easily entrained sand and pea-sized gravel. Both point bars were mostly devoid of vegetation.



Lower Piney Run (Upstream of X-2) - Unstable Large Point Bar

Mean riffle embeddedness = 40.7 percent (i.e., good). There appears to have been a slight increase in riffle embeddedness since the 2000 and 2002 surveys (i.e., 31.5 and 36.7 percent, respectively).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Riffle embeddedness rating scale:  $\langle 25\% \rangle = Excellent$ ,  $25-50\% \rangle = Good$ ,  $51-75\% \rangle = Fair$ ,  $\rangle 75\% \rangle = Poor$ .

#### 3.4.3 Physical Aquatic Habitat

General physical aquatic habitat conditions for Piney Run are summarized in Table 27 and Figure 40. As seen in Table 27, the RSAT physical aquatic habitat condition rating for Piney Run was good. One of the major factors contributing to the overall good rating was excellent riffle substrate quality. In addition, the mean pool quality at the middle and lower mainstem areas was rated good and very good, respectively. It should be noted that for the lower mainstem, little has changed in the riffle substrate material composition since the 2000 and 2002 surveys. In contrast, pool quality and depth have dramatically improved, increasing from a poor to very good rating. It should be noted that the 2000 and 2002 surveys coincided with a prolonged and severe drought period, 1999 through 2002. No fish barriers were observed in any of the surveyed years.

Table 27. Summary:	: Piney Run -	<b>General Physical Ac</b>	juatic Habitat	Conditions
	•	•	1	

		Riffle	Characteristi	cs		Pool Ch	aracteristi	cs	Fish Ba	rriers	DEAT
RSAT Stream Segment	No. of Riffles	Mean Riffle Depth (in.)	Mean Riffle Substrate Quality (pts.) <sup>2</sup>	Mean Riffle Embedded- ness(%) <sup>3</sup>	No. of Pools	Mean Max. Depth (in.)	Mean Pool Quality (pts.) <sup>4</sup>	Riffle/ Pool Ratio <sup>5</sup>	Total Number	Per Mile	Physical Habitat Score (pts.) <sup>6</sup>
Piney Run											
Middle Piney Run	19	3.1	3.7	27.7	16	19.3	3.7	1.2	0	0	6
Lower Piney Run (2005)	8	3.8	3.3	40.7	7	22.0	4.3	1.1	0	0	6
Total	27	3.4 <sup>1</sup>	3.5 <sup>1</sup>	34.2 <sup>1</sup>	23	20.7 <sup>1</sup>	4.01	1.2 <sup>1</sup>	0	0	6
Lower Piney Run (2002)	5	2.6	3.0	36.6	6	15.8	1.3	0.83	0	0	5
Lower Piney Run (2000)	5	3.1	3.3	31.5	12	12.3	1.7	0.42	0	0	5

## **Major Findings**

#### **Middle Mainstem**

- Below transect X-2, instream habitat is predominantly deep, long run-type habitat, featuring a small gravel and sandy bottom.
- Pools were moderately deep (i.e., >15 inches), with large rubble and bouldersized substrate which provide excellent overhead cover for fish.



Middle Piney Run (Downstream of X-2) - Instream Run Type Habitat

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Mean values shown are weighted means.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Riffle substrate quality rating scale: 3.25-4.00 = Excellent, 2.50-3.24 = Good, 1.75 - 2.49 = Fair, 1.00-1.74 = Poor.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Riffle embeddedness rating scale:  $\langle 25\% \rangle = Excellent$ ,  $25-50\% \rangle = Good$ ,  $51-75\% \rangle = Fair$ ,  $\rangle 75\% \rangle = Poor$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Quality pool point scale interpretation: 5 = Excellent, 4 = Very Good, 3 = Good, 2 = Fair, 1 = Poor.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Riffle/pool ratio rating scale: 0.9-1.1:1 = Excellent, 0.70-0.89:1 or 1.11-1.3:1 = Good, 0.5-0.69 or 1.31-1.5:1 = Fair, 0.49:1< or >1.51:1 = Poor.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>RSAT Physical habitat rating scale: 6.5-8.0 = Excellent, 4.5-6.4 = Good, 2.5-4.4 = Fair, 1.0-2.4 = Poor.



Figure 40. Summary: Piney Run - Mean Riffle Substrate<sup>1</sup> and Pool Quality<sup>2</sup>

- Optimal aquatic habitat conditions were observed including: 1) mean riffle depth, at 3.1 inches, 2) excellent mean wetted width perimeter (i.e., >80 percent of the bottom channel width covered with water) and 3) excellent riffle substrate material composition comprised of large cobble, gravel and rubble-sized stones with little sand.
- Maximum pool depths, reaching 36 inches, contributed to the excellent pool quality rating.
- 2005 riffle substrate material composition was similar to that of the 2000 and 2002 surveys, and consisted primarily of a good mix of cobble, rubble, gravel, and boulder with very little sand.



Lower Piney Run (X-1) - Looking Downstream - Riffle to Pool Sequence Habitat

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Riffle substrate quality point scale interpretation: 3.25 - 4.00 = Excellent, 2.50 - 3.24 = Good, 1.75 - 2.49 = Fair, 1.00 - 1.74 = Poor.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Pool quality point interpretation: 4.5-5.0 = Excellent, 4.0-4.4 = Very Good, 3.0-3.9 = Good, 2.0-2.9 = Fair, 1.0-1.9 = Poor.

## 3.4.4 Water Quality

RSAT total dissolved solids (TDS), nitrate and substrate fouling summary results are presented in Figure 41. TDS levels for both Piney Run mainstem sites were in the good range (i.e., 50 - 100 mg/l). The nitrate concentration for the middle mainstem was low (i.e., 0.3 mg/l) and moderate (i.e., 2.8 mg/l) for the lower mainstem. Mean substrate fouling levels were in the fair range (i.e., 21-50 percent of the bottom side of cobble-sized stones covered by organic film) at both locations, with the fouling level at the middle mainstem bordering on good.



Figure 41. Piney Run - Mean TDS<sup>1</sup>, Nitrate<sup>2</sup> and Substrate Fouling<sup>3</sup>

## **Major Findings**

#### **Middle Mainstem**

- The instantaneous dissolved oxygen (DO) reading (i.e., 7.1 mg/l) did not violate the Virginia Department of Environmental Quality (VADEQ) minimum 4.0 mg/l standard.
- The lowest substrate fouling level (i.e., 5 percent) was recorded at transect X-1.
- The copper concentration, 0.11 mg/l, exceeded the VADEQ 0.009 mg/l limit criterion for protecting aquatic life.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> TDS interpretation: <50 mg/l = Excellent, 50-100 mg/l = Good, 101-150 mg/l = Fair, >150 mg/l = Poor.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Nitrate interpretation: 0.0-1.0 mg/l= Low, 1.1-2.9 mg/l = Moderate, >3.0 mg/l = High.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Substrate fouling interpretation: 0-10% = Excellent, 11-20% = Good, 21-50% = Fair, >50% = Poor.

## Lower Mainstem

- The instantaneous DO level (i.e., 7.6 mg/l), did not violate the VADEQ minimum of 4.0 mg/l standard.
- The copper concentration, 0.21 mg/l, exceeded the VADEQ 0.009 mg/l limit criterion for protecting aquatic life.
- The orthophosphate concentration was 0.21 mg/l. According to Dunne and Leopold (1978), 'long-term eutrophication will usually be prevented if total phosphorus and orthophosphate levels are below 0.5 mg/l and 0.05 mg/l, respectively.'

## 3.4.5 Riparian Habitat Conditions

The RSAT riparian habitat condition ratings for both Piney Run mainstem sites were good. As seen in Table 28, the middle Piney Run riparian corridor included a wide, hardwood forest buffer (i.e., >200 feet wide) with good (i.e., 60-79%) canopy coverage. Similarly, the riparian buffer along the lower Piney Run mainstem was generally well-forested and wide. However, this survey reach included a well-maintained, gravel surfaced road that paralleled the stream for most of its length. Although both sides of the road are bordered by hardwood forest, the riparian buffer along the right bank (looking downstream) has been effectively reduced to a width of 20 to 30 feet.



Middle Piney Run (X-3) - Good Tree Canopy Over the Stream

	Surveyed			Riparian Ha	bitat Conditions
RSAT Stream Segment	Stream Length (ft.)	Number of Observations	Mean Canopy Coverage (%)	RSAT Score <sup>2</sup>	Verbal Ranking
Piney Run					
Middle Piney Run	1,692.1	4	70.0	5	Good
Lower Piney Run (2005)	1,200.0	5	42.0	4	Good
Total	2,892.1	9	56.0 <sup>3</sup>	4.5 <sup>3</sup>	Good
Lower Piney Run (2002)	1,200.0	7	53.6	5	Good
Lower Piney Run (2000)	1,200.0	8	55.0	5	Good

 Table 28. Summary: Piney Run - Riparian Habitat Conditions<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Mean canopy coverage interpretation:  $\geq 80\%$  = Excellent, 60-79% = Good, 50-59% = Fair, <50% = Poor.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Riparian Habitat Condition Point Score Interpretation: 6.0-7.0 = Excellent, 4.0-5.9 = Good, 2.3-3.9 = Fair, 0-1.9 = Poor.<sup>3</sup> Weighted mean.

## Major Findings:

## **Middle Mainstem**

- The riparian buffer at transect X-2 was wide (i.e., >200 feet), but was primarily dominated by grass, with little hardwood forest.
- A significant gap in the stream canopy was observed at transect X-2, resulting from both mowing and the Arnold Lane Road bridge.

## Lower Mainstem

• The recent tree fall at transect X-2 has created a significant gap in the stream canopy.

## 3.4.6 Biological Condition - Benthic Macroinvertebrate Survey

As seen in Figure 42, the macroinvertebrate conditions for both Piney Run mainstem reaches were rated excellent (i.e., 7-8 points). Specifically, the RSAT voucher number of taxa<sup>1</sup> collected for the middle and lower reaches totaled 19 (i.e., good) and 15 (i.e., fair), respectively. Pollution intolerant mayflies representing Heptageniidae and Isonychiidae families and stoneflies representing Perlidae family were present at both sites. Their relative abundances were observed to be in the 'scarce/com-

mon' to common/abundant' ranges. It should be noted that pollution intolerant cased caddisflies were not observed in the lower mainstem. In contrast, the highly pollution intolerant cased caddisfly, *Glossosoma sp.*, was observed to be 'scare/common' in the middle mainstem.

As part of the Level III RSAT survey, an additional spring 2005 qualitative 20-jab multiple/best habitat survey was performed. As seen in Table 29, the macroinvertebrate community index of biological integrity (IBI) was rated excellent (i.e., 80-100 points) for both the middle and lower mainstems. Taxa richness, one of the ten metrics used to determine the IBI score and rating was observed to be excellent,



Middle Piney Run - Highly Pollution Intolerant Caddisfly, *Glossosoma sp.* 

ranging from 35 at the lower mainstem up to 44 at the middle mainstem. Another metric, the Ephemeroptera (E, mayflies), Plecoptera (P, stoneflies) and Trichoptera (T, caddisflies) taxa richness was also rated excellent, ranging from 18 at the lower mainstem to 21 at the middle mainstem. In comparing lower mainstem taxa richness between the three IBI surveyed years (i.e., 2000, 2002 and 2005), the 2005 taxa richness increased by almost 45 percent. In addition, there was a slight increase in EPT taxa richness from 2000 to 2005. For additional biological RSAT voucher and 20-jab survey results, the reader is referred to Appendix 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> General RSAT voucher interpretation for taxa richness: >=25 = Excellent, 16-24 = Good, 8-15 = Fair, 0-7 = Poor.



#### Figure 42. Summary: Piney Run Mainstem RSAT Voucher Collection Macroinvertebrate Conditions<sup>1</sup>

#### Major Findings:

#### **Middle Mainstem**

- The highly pollution intolerant stonefly taxa (Plecoptera), *Pteronarcys sp.*, was collected in the RSAT Level III macroinvertebrate survey. Individuals belonging to this genus generally have an instream larval stage life cycle of 2-4 years. Such a life cycle requires stable physical aquatic habitat (e.g., cold/cool stream temperatures with well oxygenated riffles, and cobble or larger-sized riffle material etc.).
- *Baetisca sp.*, a mayfly infrequently observed in the Washington Metropolitan Area, was collected in the RSAT voucher collection.
- The relative abundance of pollution tolerant groups (i.e., midgeflies, beetles, and aquatic worms) was 'scarce/common', excluding riffle beetles which were observed to be 'common/abundant'.
- Of the 21 EPT taxa collected in the 20-jab sample, six were classified as highly pollution intolerant. The six EPT taxa representatives included one mayfly (E), *Drunella sp.*; two stoneflies (P), *Acroneuria sp.* and *Agnetina sp.*; and three caddisflies (T), *Glossosoma sp.*, *Dolophilodes sp.* and *Rhyacophila sp.*

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Macroinvertebrate scale interpretation: 7.0-8.0 pts. = Excellent, 5.0-6.9 pts. = Good, 2.1-4.9 pts. = Fair, 0.0-2.0 pts. = Poor.



Figure 43. Piney Run Mainstems - Mean Relative Abundance of Observed Macroinvertebrates<sup>1</sup> and General Pollution Tolerance<sup>2</sup>

Relative abundance interpretation: 0 = No Taxa Found, 0.1-0.9 = Scarce, 1.0-2.0 = Scarce/Common, 2.1-3.0 = Common, 3.1-4.0 = Common/Abundant, 4.1-5.0 = Abundant. <sup> $^2$ </sup> Pollution tolerance rating: A = Intolerant, B = Moderately Tolerant, C = Tolerant. Triaenodes sp., a caddisfly that builds a spiralling retreat made of plant material, was collected in the 20-jab sample. Generally, these individuals are extremely rare in Washington Metropolitan Area streams.

#### Lower Mainstem

- The relative abundance of pollution intolerant stonefly, flathead mayfly individuals was 'scarce/ common'. Cased caddisflies were present, but were 'scarce' in the RSAT voucher collection.
- Moderately pollution tolerant cranefly individuals were 'common' in relative abundance in the RSAT voucher collection.



Lower Piney Run - Moderately Pollution Tolerant Cranefly Larva, *Tipula sp.* 

- Highly pollution tolerant snails and limpets were 'common' in relative abundance; whereas, midgeflies and aquatic beetles, excluding riffle beetles, were observed to be 'scarce' in the RSAT voucher collection.
- In the RSAT Level III 20-jab sample, of the 18 EPT taxa collected, five were classified as highly pollution intolerant. The five EPT taxa representatives included individuals from mayfly (E) (i.e., *Drunella sp.*); and four caddisflies (T) (i.e., *Micrasema sp.*, *Agapetus sp.*, *Dolophilodes sp.* and *Rhyacophila sp.*) groups. These individuals prefer cool stream temperatures and well oxygenated waters.
- Micrasema sp. are case building caddisflies which construct their retreats from plant materials. They are often found in riffles where year round stream temperatures are often cool to cold.

In the 20-jab sample, the mayfly, *Ephemerella sp.*(to include *E. septentrionalis*, a highly pollution intolerant individual that is infrequently collected within the WMA) made up 33

percent of the 255 total individuals collected. These individuals are considered pollution intolerant.

- The highly pollution intolerant stonefly (Plecoptera), *Pteronarcys sp.*, first observed in 2000, continued to be present in 2005.
- The presence of *Pteronarcys sp.*, in addition to ten other highly pollution intolerant taxa in both the middle and lower mainstems, strongly suggests that these taxa are present throughout the Piney Run mainstem.



Stonefly (*Pteronarcys sp.*) Collected in the Piney Run 2006 RSAT Level III Survey



Lower Piney Run -Plant Material Case Retreat and Caddisfly, *Micrasema sp.* 

14016 77. OUIIIII	ary: ruley null -	TIII_ INT	CLOIIIVELU	COLAR SAL	atar atdu	LICS AILU F 2	all lay C(	re himo	A TOT OCOLE					
RSAT Stream Segment	Approx. Stream Segment Location	Total Number of Ind	Taxa Richness <sup>2</sup>	EPT Richness <sup>3</sup>	Percent EPT <sup>4</sup>	Percent Trichoptera w/o Hydropsych idae <sup>5</sup>	Percent Coloeo ptera <sup>6</sup>	Family Biotic Index <sup>7</sup>	Percent Dominance <sup>8</sup>	Percent Clingers + Percent Plecoptera <sup>9</sup>	Percent Shredder <sup>10</sup>	Percent Predators <sup>11</sup>	IMBI <sup>12</sup>	SPS Rating
Piney Run														
Middle - Piney Run	Arnold Lane	535	44	21	65.4	5.6	5.0	3.2	12.3	9.7	0.7	13.6	91.1	Excellent
Lower - Piney Run		255	35	18	65.9	11.8	1.6	2.9	33.7	3.9	2.7	16.1	93.5	Excellent
-ower (2002)	Branch River Road	232	28	18	78.4	4.7	1.3	3.3	36.7	57.3	4.7	12.9	97.0	Excellent
-ower (2000)		312	24	16	40.1	21.8	6.1	4.4	3.2	16.7	5.4	2.2	93.0	Excellent
Scores and rating Taxa richness rer	g developed by Fair presents the total nu	fax Cour imher of	tty Stream l taxa collect	Protection 5 ted and is it	Strategy (	FC SPS). 1 bv SPS as f	follows: >	>= 21 = F	txcellent, 13–	-20 = Good. 6	9-12 = Fair.	5-8= Poor. <	c5 = Verv	Poor
Counts the distin interpreted as fo	ict taxa considered ollows: >7 = Exce	pollution llent, 5-6	intolerant = Good, 4	within the { = Fair, 2-3	groups of = Poor.	Ephemerop <=1 = Verv F	tera (may <sup>2</sup> 00r.	flies), Pl	ecoptera (stoi	neflies) and 7	Frichoptera (	caddisflies).	EPT tay	a metrics
Measures the abu individuals and	undance of generall is interpreted as fo	ly polluti dlows: >	on intolera 16.6 = Exc	nt Ephemer cellent, 12.4	optera (n -16.5% =	nayflies), Ple = Good. 8.3-1	coptera ( $12.3\% = I$	stoneflie Fair, 4, 1-	s) and Tricho <sub>j</sub> 8.2% = Poor.	ptera (caddis >1.9% = Vei	flies) relativ	e to other of	ten more	tolerant
Measures the abs $0.60-0.78\% = 0$	sence of generally r Tood. 0.40-0.59% =	50llution = Fair, 0.	tolerant Hy 39-0.20% =	/dropsychid = Poor, <0.2	lae (cadd $20\% = V_{\rm f}$	isflies) relati rv Poor.	ve to othe	er more ii	ntolerant Cad	disflies and i	s interpreted	as follows:	>0.79%	= Exceller
Measures the abi $0.5074\% = Fa$	undance of generall $uir, 0.25 - 0.49\% =$	ly pollutiv Poor and	on tolerant $1 < 0.24\% =$	Coleoptera = Very Poor	(beetles)	relative to o	other indiv	viduals aı	nd is interpret	ted as follow	s: >1.00% =	Excellent, 0	.75 – 0.9	9% = Go
The Family Bioti	ic index measures the second s	he genera	ul tolerance.	/intolerance	e of the s	umple to orgé	anic nutrie	ents and i	is interpreted	as follows: 0	0.00-3.50 = E	xcellent, 3.5	51-5.50=	Good, 5.5
Measures the period for the period	rcent of the most at $600 - 1000$ , > 0 $1000$ , > 0 $1000$ , $-1000$	very sundant to our sore on	axa relative 0.002 – Door	to the tota	l taxa wi	thin the samp	ole and re	presents	community b	valance. It is i	interpreted a	s follows: <	60% = E	xcellent, 6

2.46-3.27% = Good, 1.63-2.45% = Fair, 0.84-1.62% = Poor, < 0.84% = Very Poor. <sup>10</sup> Measures the percent of individuals that are shredders relative to all other feeding guild types and is interpreted as follows: >5.42\% = Excellent, 4.10-5.41\% = Good, 2.70-4.00\% 08.3% = Good, 08.6-84.0% = Fair, 84.5-92.0% = Yoor, >92.0% = Very Poor. <sup>9</sup> Measures the percent of individuals whose habitat type is clingers plus percent of sample that are stoneflies but are not clingers and is interpreted as follows: >3.28% = Excellent,

86

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Measures the percent of individuals that are predators relative to all other feeding guild types and is interpreted as follows: >2.30% = Excellent, 1.52-2.00% = Good, 1.02-1.51% = Fair, 0.50-1.01% = Poor, <0.50% = Very Poor. = SPS IBI score interpretation: 80-100 = Excellent, 60-79 = Good, 40-59 = Fair, 20-39 = Poor, 0-19 = Very Poor. = Fair, 1.39-2.69% = Poor, <1.39% = Very Poor.

## 3.4.7 RSAT Summary Stream Quality Ratings

As seen in Table 30 and Figure 44, the overall RSAT stream quality rating for both middle and lower Piney Run mainstems was good. It should be noted that the major categories that contributed to the overall good rating were bank stability and biological indicators, both of which were rated as being excellent. The only category with a fair rating was water quality and that was found in the lower mainstem.

RSAT Stream Segment	Approx. Stream Segment Location	Bank Stability	Channel Scouring/ Deposition	Physical Instream Habitat	Water Quality	Riparian Habitat Conditions	Biological Indicators	RSAT Total Score <sup>2</sup>
Piney Run								
Middle Piney Run	Arnold Lane	Excellent (9)	Good (6)	Good (6)	Good (5)	Good (5)	Excellent (8)	Good (39)
Lower Piney Run -05	Branch River Road	Excellent (9)	Good (6)	Good (6)	Fair (4)	Good (4)	Excellent (7)	Good (36)
Lower Piney Run -02	Branch River Road	Excellent (9)	Good (6)	Good (5)	Fair (4)	Good (5)	Excellent (8)	Good (37)
Lower Piney Run -00	Branch River Road	Excellent (10)	Good (5)	Good (5)	Good (5)	Good (5)	Excellent (7)	Good (37)

#### Table 30. Piney Run Study Summary: RSAT Ratings<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Actual point values are shown in parentheses.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Total RSAT score interpretation: 42-50 = Excellent, 30-41 = Good, 16-29 = Fair, <16 = Poor.





# 3.5 Catoctin Creek Riparian Buffer Analysis

As previously stated, Catoctin Creek's Virginia Department of Environmental Quality 303(d) impairment listing for fecal coliform bacteria and associated total maximum daily loads (TMDL) implementation plan requirement have led Loudoun County to examine various costeffective bacteria reduction measures. Included among this mix are the employment of water quality enhancing riparian buffers and the greater exclusion of livestock from the stream system. In an effort to provide Loudoun County with timely Catoctin Creek watershed-specific riparian corridor data, COG staff performed a remote-sensed imagery analysis to determine the existing riparian buffer conditions along 84 stream miles (i.e., approximately 62 percent of the total).

Importantly, under the Chesapeake Bay Preservation Act (CBPA), the recommended minimum riparian buffer width for Virginia State waters is designated to be 100 feet. As part of the Virginia Agricultural Best Management Practice, Conservation Reserve Enhancement Program (CREP), there is a 35 foot minimum riparian buffer width requirement. Furthermore, many studies have shown that wider riparian buffers generally provide a broader more sustainable range of water quality/quantity and wildlife habitat benefits (Mayer et al., 2005; Castelle et al., 1994; Palone and Todd, 1997; and Wenger, 1999). Incorporating these recommended and minimum riparian buffer width guidelines, COG staff conducted the following four part Catoctin Creek riparian buffer analysis:

- 1) Existing riparian forest buffer condition for four width scenarios: 35, 50, 100 and 200 feet;
- Non-forested 35 foot wide riparian buffer condition to meet CREP minimum enrollment requirement (Note: due to limited resources, COG did not perform this analysis for the 50, 100 and 200 foot buffer width scenarios.); and
- 3) Potential riparian buffer reforestation area identification for both the 35 and 100 foot scenarios (Appendix 6, Tables 2 and 3, respectively).

#### 3.5.1 Riparian Buffer Condition Results

In 2005, approximately 56 percent of the total 200 foot buffer area (i.e., 3,973.2 acres) was forested. The total land areas covered by a forested buffer within riparian buffer widths of 35, 50, 100 and 200 feet were 505.6, 690.3, 1,283.8 and 2,226.4 acres, respectively. The associated overall percent forest canopy coverage within the four buffer widths were 68.0, 68.0, 60.9, and 56.0 percent, respectively. Additional riparian forest buffer results are presented in the following sections and summarized in Table 31 and Figure 45.

#### **Mainstem Areas**

The percent forested buffer coverage within the 35, 50, 100 and 200 foot buffer widths along Catoctin Creek mainstem areas were 70.6, 71.3, 63.6 and 60.3 percent, respectively. The riparian forest buffers along the North Fork and South Fork mainstems have consistently lower levels of forested buffer coverage than the buffers along the Catoctin Creek mainstem (i.e., the percent canopy coverage within the 50 foot buffer width along the North Fork and South Fork was 65.1 and 61.7 percent, respectively, versus 92.2 percent for Catoctin Creek). It should be noted that the Catoctin Creek mainstem (downstream of Waterford, Virginia) is designated as a Virginia Scenic River, and must maintain its rather extensive undeveloped riparian buffer network to meet National Wild and Scenic Rivers Act eligibility requirements.
## Tributaries

The percent riparian forest buffer coverage within the Catoctin Creek tributary stream system under the 200 foot buffer width scenario ranged from 15 to 60 percent. The Talbot Farm tributary has the least robust forest buffer, with only 15 percent of its total riparian buffer (i.e., 95.2 acres) covered by forest. In contrast, 60 percent of Milltown Creek's total 200 foot buffer area (i.e., 336.1 acres) is forested. Overall, the average percent forested buffer coverage for the CBPA recommended 100 foot minimum buffer was 54 percent. For the optimal 200 foot forest buffer condition, 45 percent of the riparian buffer zone was forested.

				35 ft. Buff	fer		50 ft. Buff	er	1	00 ft. Buf	fer	2	200 ft. Buf	fer
Total Watershe Area		tershed a	Total Buffer Area	Forested Area within Buffer	%35 ft. Buffer Covered by Forest	Total Buffer Area	Forested Area within Buffer	%50 ft. Buffer Covered by Forest	Total Buffer Area	Forested Area within Buffer	%100 ft. Buffer Covered by Forest	Total Buffer Area	Forested Area within Buffer	%200 ft. Buffer Covered by Forest
	Acres	Sq-Mi	Acres	Acres	Canopy	Acres	Acres	Canopy	Acres	Acres	Canopy	Acres	Acres	Canopy
Catoctin Creek Mainstems				-										
North Fork Catoctin Creek	14,910.6	23.30	167.2	108.9	65.1%	238.4	152.4	65.1%	473.8	279.9	59.1%	933.8	474.8	50.8%
South Fork Catoctin Creek	17,426.8	27.23	227.6	137.2	60.3%	279.7	172.7	61.7%	644.2	319.6	49.6%	1,089.1	550.8	50.6%
Mainstem Catoctin Creek	8,228.3	12.86	152.5	140.6	92.2%	217.4	199.7	92.2%	431.6	385.8	89.4%	844.0	704.0	83.4%
Subtotal	40,565.8	63.4	547.3	386.7	70.6%	735.5	524.8	71.3%	1,549.6	985.3	63.6%	2,867.0	1,729.6	60.3%
Tributaries to Catoctin Creek														
Upper														
Hamilton Station Road Tributary	1,388.3	2.17	14.8	11.0	74.8%	21.1	15.3	72.2%	42.2	27.2	64.6%	84.2	44.7	53.1%
Talbot Farm Tributary	2,347.8	3.67	16.6	3.2	19.5%	23.7	4.7	19.9%	47.5	9.0	19.0%	95.2	14.2	15.0%
Subtotal	3,736.0	5.84	31.4	14.3	45.5%	44.9	20.0	44.5%	89.7	36.2	40.4%	179.3	59.0	32.9%
Middle														
Clover Mill Tributary	1,560.3	2.44	18.8	8.8	46.9%	26.8	12.2	46.9%	53.1	21.5	40.4%	104.6	34.9	33.4%
Brens Creek	7,083.5	11.07	85.2	46.6	54.7%	121.5	65.4	54.7%	241.8	120.4	49.8%	477.8	196.2	41.1%
Subtotal	8,643.8	13.51	104.0	55.4	53.3%	148.3	77.6	52.4%	294.9	141.8	48.1%	582.4	231.1	39.7%
Lower														
Milltown Creek	5,527.1	8.64	59.5	48.0	80.6%	84.9	66.2	80.6%	169.3	117.5	69.4%	336.1	201.8	60.0%
EcoVillage Tributary	737.3	1.15	1.3	1.2	94.8%	1.9	1.7	94.8%	3.9	3.0	75.7%	8.4	5.0	58.9%
Subtotal	6,264.5	9.79	60.8	49.2	80.9%	86.8	67.9	78.2%	173.3	120.5	69.5%	344.5	206.7	60.0%
Total	59,210.1	92.52	743.5	505.6	68.0%	1,015.5	690.3	68.0%	2,107.4	1,283.8	60.9%	3,973.2	2,226.4	56.0%

There are a contraction of the second of the
--

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Buffer widths shown include both sides of the stream.





## 3.5.2 Non-Forested 35 Foot Wide Riparian Buffer

The COG analysis identified a number of areas lacking forest cover within the 35 foot buffer zone (Table 32). As shown in Table 32, approximately 25 miles of mainstem and tributary streams do not meet the 35 foot forested riparian buffer. The Talbot Farm tributary has the greatest non-forested stream length, with 1.6 miles of its total 2.0 miles (i.e., 82.8 percent) lacking a 35 foot riparian buffer. In contrast, stream lengths lacking forest coverage within the 35 foot riparian buffer zone along the Catoctin Creek mainstem comprised only 1.3 miles of the total 18.1 mile stream length (i.e., 7.4 percent). As previously mentioned, it should be noted that existing development, infrastructure or land features (e.g., steep slope) may preclude reforestation in some of these areas. It is also recognized that these areas will need to be additionally groundtruthed and that the actual reforestation of these sites is incumbent upon approval of the landowner.

	Total		35 ft. Buffer	
Watershed	Stream Length	Stream Length With Forested Buffer	Stream Length Without Forested Buffer	% Stream Length Without Forested Buffer
	Miles	Miles	Miles	
Catoctin Creek Mainstems				
South Fork Catoctin Creek	23.2	14.8	8.4	36.3%
North Fork Catoctin Creek	19.8	13.2	6.6	33.2%
Mainstem Catoctin Creek	18.1	16.7	1.3	7.4%
Subtotal	61.1	44.7	16.3	26.7%
Tributaries to Catoctin Creek				
Upper		-		
Hamilton Station Road Tributary	1.7	1.4	0.4	21.5%
Talbot Farm Tributary	2.0	0.3	1.6	82.8%
Subtotal	3.7	1.7	2.0	53.9%
Middle				
Clover Mill Tributary	2.2	1.1	1.1	51.6%
Brens Creek	10.1	5.6	4.4	43.9%
Subtotal	12.3	6.7	5.6	45.3%
Lower				
Milltown Creek	7.0	5.8	1.2	16.7%
EcoVillage Tributary	0.2	0.2	0.0	0.0%
Subtotal	7.2	6.0	1.2	16.4%
Total	84.2	59.2	25.1	29.8%

Table 32. Catoctin Creek: Summary - 35 Foot Width Riparian Buffer Scenario

## 3.5.3 Potential Riparian Buffer Reforestation Areas

In an attempt to assist Loudoun County in reducing fecal bacteria levels and meeting the TMDL implementation requirements, COG staff identified a total of 271 potential sites for riparian reforestation and/or livestock exclusion within the 35 and 100 foot wide buffer areas. Of this total, 165 sites were associated with the 100 foot buffer scenario. For the Catoctin Creek mainstem-specific potential riparian buffer reforestation areas, the reader is referred to Appendix 6, Figures 1 through 3. A more extensive list for both the mainstem and tributary candidate sites can be found in Appendix 6, Tables 1 and 2. Note: the sites have been organized from largest to smallest acreages within the mainstem and tributary stream reaches.

Figures 46 and 47 provide representative examples for the 35 and 100 foot wide buffer scenarios. As seen in figure 46, a 0.56 mile long section of South Fork Catoctin Creek (immediately downstream of Old Wheatland Road) was identified as a potential riparian reforestation site. A 35 foot minimum riparian buffer zone could be established in this pasture area, along with fencing to eliminate direct livestock access to the stream, by working with the landowner and using federal reimbursement and state cost-share riparian buffer enhancement incentive programs (e.g., Conservation Reserve Enhancement Program). For additional site specific information, the reader is referred to South Fork Catoctin Creek (ID #21) in Appendix 6, Table 1.

Figure 46. South Fork Catoctin Creek: Mainstem - Riparian Buffer Immediately North of Old Wheatland Road



Figure 47 provides a second representative non-forested riparian buffer area example. The mainstem of Brens Creek, near the Ash George and Rehobeth Church Road intersection, flows adjacent to a power line easement area. There is an opportunity at this location to work with VEPCO to create an approximately 100 foot wide riparian forested buffer area. The associated stream length is 0.53 miles. For additional site specific information, the reader is referred to Brens Creek (ID #4) in Appendix 6, Table 2.

Figure 47. Catoctin Creek Tributary - Brens Creek (Ash George Road In The Vicinity of Rehobeth Church Road)



# 4.0 Study Recommendations

It is recognized that Loudoun County is currently the most rapidly developing jurisdiction in both the Washington Metropolitan Area (WMA) and the state of Virginia. Population growth in the County is projected to grow from the 2000 census estimate of 169,599 to 462,100 by 2030 (United States Census 2000 data). Concurrently, the number of households<sup>1</sup> is projected to increase from the 2000 estimate of 59,900 to 163,900 (COG, 2004). This growth will greatly increase pressure on the County's current undeveloped areas and associated aquatic ecosystems. Where development occurs, it should be done in a well-planned, environmentally sensitive manner. It is also recognized that the creation of a comprehensive environmental database is a critical first step for the proper protection, restoration and management of the County's water resources. Listed below are COG staff's study recommendations.

# General Recommendations

- Loudoun County should seriously consider employing environmental overlay zones, special protection area (SPA) designations and other appropriate land use management measures for protecting high quality, sensitive watersheds, such as Quarter Branch, Dutchman Creek and Piney Run.
- 2) Conduct additional RSAT-type surveys, so as to provide a comprehensive stream quality picture for the 12 major Loudoun County watersheds and their tributaries. It is also recommended that quantitative watershed stream assessment surveys be repeated approximately every 3-5 years. The exception being "sensitive" streams which should be surveyed at least once per year (i.e., Quarter Branch, Dutchman Creek and Piney Run).
- 3) As a companion piece to the macroinvertebrate database, perform County-wide baseline fisheries surveys for the 12 major Loudoun County watersheds..

4) Based on the 2006 RSAT Loudoun County macroinvertebrate community assemblage results, a summertime, continuous stream temperature monitoring survey for Quarter Branch, Dutchman Creek and Piney Run is strongly recommended. The recommended 2-3 year long survey would provide critically needed companion data for better deter-

mining both the coldwater fisheries potential and appropriate water use classification of these systems.

5) Establish a permanent RSAT-type monitoring station network (with strategically located channel cross-section bank pins) for the 12 major watersheds, recommended by COG for annual surveys.



Clarks Run - Saint Clair Lane Quadruple Concrete Box Culvert - Complete Fish Blockage

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Household, or occupied housing unit, projections are based on increases in new house construction.

- 6) Building upon COG's Loudoun County provisional fish blockage list that has been compiled since 1997, develop a comprehensive inventory for the 12 major watersheds. This inventory
  - should, at a minimum, include blockage type, location, height, and ownership information. In addition, the data should be fully integrated into the County's GIS geodatabase.
- 7) Given their ecological significance and water quality benefits, comprehensive watershed-specific riparian corridor analyses (which, at a minimum, examines buffer widths and vegetation types), similar to the recent COG Catoctin Creek riparian buffer analysis are needed. It is further recommended that these analyses employ the most recent 'leaf-on' aerial imagery. Results from the riparian corridor analyses



Upper Brens Creek - Nixon Road - Direct Livestock Access To Stream

will enable Loudoun County Soil and Water Conservation District (LSWCD), the Virginia Department of Forestry (VDOF) and the Natural Resources Conservation Service (NRCS) to both better identify additional potential reforestation areas, and to work more closely with landowners to restore riparian corridors and to limit direct livestock access.

- 8) Expand the County's current reimbursement and/or cost-share riparian buffer enhancement incentive program to include residential property owners who can provide a minimum 0.5 acre riparian reforestation or wetland creation.
- 9) The County's major watershed digital stream layer currently lacks the resolution needed for stream-related surveys. A higher resolution digital stream hydrography layer should be developed, at a sub-subwatershed level, to allow for accurate mapping of all stream channel-related conditions.
- 10) As a means of better assessing and integrating stream survey results, the County should develop a comprehensive landuse/landcover database, derived from remote sensing data, which can be regularly updated (i.e., every five years). It is further recommended that a county-wide impervious surface data layer and tracking system be developed to monitor annual impervious surface changes at the subwatershed level. In addition, the County should explore the feasibility of acquiring light detection and ranging (LIDAR) to generate topographic data for the entire County (e.g., every five years), including stream channel elevation data.
- 11) Develop a County-wide "Stream Protection Strategy" (SPS) similar to the ones which currently exist in both Fairfax County, VA and Montgomery County, MD, and which feature both protection and restoration measures and bench marks.
- 12) Regarding quantitative macroinvertebrate sampling, a 20-jab collection protocol similar to the one currently employed by the Maryland Biological Stream Survey is recommended. It is also recommended that, wherever possible, macroinvertebrate identification be taken down to the lowest taxonomic level possible (i.e., genus level or lower).

- 13) Continue to encourage, train and employ citizen volunteers to routinely monitor the health of County streams.
- 14) Loudoun County should seriously consider reinstituting the River and Stream Corridor Overlay District (RSCOD), which established minimum riparian buffer widths. It is further recommended that the County's minimum of 100 feet riparian buffer be strictly enforced. Finally, for all construction sites, require that perimeter-type erosion and sediment control features (such as silt fence, super silt fence, sediment traps and berms) be in place prior to land grading in and along stream corridors.



Upper Brens Creek - Complete Fish Blockage - Recent Nixon Road Culvert Replacement Project

- 15) Where applicable, for new development and redevelopment areas, strategically implement Low Impact Development (LID) technologies for stormwater runoff control.
- 16) All future County road culvert projects (i.e., both new and /or replacement ones) should incorporate fish passage features into their designs.
- 17) The County should continue to work with local farmers on nutrient management and should encourage greater participation in programs such as the Small Grain Cover Crop for Nutrient and Residue Management.

# Watershed - Specific Recommendations

#### **Clarks Run**

A) Upstream of Saint Clair Lane - The County should work with landowner(s) to implement

federal reimbursement and state cost-share riparian buffer enhancement incentive programs (e.g., such as Conservation Reserve Enhancement Program (CREP)) for the establishment of 100 foot minimum riparian buffers. Note: cropland in this area encroaches to the top of the streambank.



Clarks Run - Upstream of Saint Clair Lane - Cropland Within A Foot Of The Stream

- B) Downstream of Saint Clair Lane As a targeted "High Priority Area" for implementation of the state cost-share Virginia Agricultural Best Management Practice (BMP) programs, the County should work with watershed residents, who qualify, to fence off the stream and eliminate direct livestock access to stream.
- C) Saint Clair Lane Culvert Modify the existing fish blockage to allow the upstream and downstream movement of residential fishes. It is further recommended that riffle grade control structures, similar to the ones employed as part of the Woodrow Wilson Bridge Replacement mitigation effort, be employed where possible.

# **Catoctin Creek**

## Mainstems

- A) South Fork Mainstem (Ketoctin Church Road) Establish a permanent RSAT-type monitoring station (with cross-sectional bank pins) upstream of Ketoctin Church Road.
- B) South Fork Mainstem (Ketoctin Church Road) Reevaluate the Ketoctin Church Road culvert to determine if the structure meets current design criteria for safely passing high frequency stormflows.
- C) South Fork Mainstem (Piggott Bottom Road) - Establish a permanent RSATtype monitoring station. This stream site has been RSAT surveyed by COG twice (2002 and 2006), and it is also a former Catoctin Creek bacterial total maximum daily load (TMDL) monitoring location.
- D) South Catoctin Creek (Alder School Road) - Reevaluate the Ketoctin Church Road culvert to determine if the structure meets current design criteria for safely passing high frequency stormflows.



South Fork Catoctin Creek - Alder School Road Culvert

E) North Fork (Hillsboro Road) - Establish a permanent RSAT-type mainstem monitoring station. This site is in close proximity to the Loudoun Watershed Watch Catoctin Creek bacterial total maximum daily load (TMDL) monitoring site.

# Tributaries

A) Hamilton Station Road tributary - Based on the high nitrate level reading (i.e., 4.5 mg/l), it is recommended that additional monitoring be performed to determine if high nitrate levels are a chronic problem.

- B) Talbot Farm tributary (approximately 200 feet upstream of Clarkes Gap Road) Work with landowner(s) to stabilize approximately 500 feet of moderate/severe streambank. As a companion piece, work with the landowner(s) to reforest the riparian corridor.
- C) Talbot Farm tributary It was observed that beaver(s) had extensively felled many young trees that were planted during the 1998 LCSWCD reforestation project. It is recommended that the remaining trees be caged and/or that the beaver(s) be trapped and relocated to allow for the further establishment of the riparian buffer vegetation.
- D) Clover Mill Road tributary The County should work with multiple landowners to introduce Federal reimbursement and State cost-share riparian buffer enhancement incentive programs to eliminate direct livestock access to the stream and establish the minimum riparian buffer.
- E) Richard Creek (Purcellville Road) Work with landowner to remove and appropriately discard salvaged automobile and parts from the stream corridor.
- F) Richard Creek (Purcellville Road) Work with landowner(s) to establish a 100 foot minimum forested riparian buffer.
- G) Richard Creek (Purcellville Road) Perform a dam safety inspection for the small pond located along the left bank (looking downstream) near transect X-1.
- H) Brens Creek (Ash George Road area) Work with landowner(s) to stabilize 200 feet of moderate/severe streambank erosion. In addition, stabilize the stream crossing area currently used by the Virginia Electrical Power

Company (VEPCO) to access their utility poles.

- Brens Creek Work with landowner(s) to establish a 100 foot minimum forested riparian buffer for a 2,000 foot long stream section near the Ash George and Rehobeth Church Road intersection.
- J) Upper Milltown Creek (Ash George Road) - The County should work with multiple landowners to introduce Federal reimbursement and State cost-share riparian buffer enhancement incentive programs to plant wetland plants within the area near the intersection of Bolington Road and Breezy Meadow Lane.



Brens Creek - Ash George Road - Moderate/Severe Streambank Erosion

- K) Middle Milltown Creek (Milltown Road) Establish a permanent RSAT-type monitoring station in the mainstem. This site is in close proximity to a former Catoctin Creek bacterial total maximum daily load (TMDL) monitoring location.
- L) EcoVillage Tributary (Taylortown Road) Work with landowner(s) to establish a minimum 100 foot forested riparian buffer along the lowermost stream section.

#### **Piney Run**

- A) Establish a permanent RSAT-type monitoring station in the middle and lower mainstems. The lower mainstem site has been RSAT surveyed by COG three times (2000, 2002 and 2006).
- B) As previously stated in the 2003 COG report, Loudoun County, together with the Virginia Department of Fish and Inland Game, should evaluate the recreational trout fishing potential for both the middle and lower mainstem portions of Piney Run.

## **Quarter Branch**

A) Perform RSAT-type monitoring, with an electro-fishing survey component, for the upper mainstem portions of Quarter Branch.

## **Dutchman Creek**

- A) Middle Dutchman Creek Work with landowners along Cypress Knoll Lane to establish a 400-foot long, 100 foot minimum forested riparian buffer.
- B) Middle Dutchman Creek Establish a permanent RSAT-type monitoring station in the mainstem. This stream site has been RSAT surveyed by COG twice (2002 and 2006), and it is also in close proximity to a former Catoctin Creek bacterial total maximum daily load (TMDL) monitoring location.

# 5.0 Reference

- American Geological Institute (AGI). 1982. Grain-size scales used by American geologists, modified Wentworth scale, in Data sheets (2nd ed.): Falls Church, Va., American Geological Institute, sheet 17.1.
- Balon, E. K. 1975. Reproductive Guilds of Fishes: A Proposal and Definition. J. Fish. Res. Board Can. 32:821-864.
- Bode, R. W., M. A Novak and L. E. Abele. 1991. <u>Methods for Rapid Biological Assessment of Streams</u>. New York State Department of Environmental Conservation, Albany, NY.
- C. M. Breder and D. R. Crawford. 1922. The Food of Certain Minnows. A Study of the Seasonal Dietary Cycle of Six Cyprinoids with Especial Reference to Fish Culture. Zoologica 2(14): 287-327.
- Castelle, A.J., A.W. Johnson, and C. Conolly. 1994. Wetland and stream buffer size requirements a review. Journal of Environmental Quality 23:878-882.
- Corish, K., F. J. Galli, P. Trieu and J. Lawson. 1996. Rapid Stream Assessment Technique (RSAT) Survey of the Little Falls Branch Watershed: Montgomery County, Maryland Prepared for Montgomery County Department of Environmental Protection. Metropolitan Washington Council of Governments, Washington, DC.
- Dunne, T.L. and Leopold, L.B. 1978. Water in Environmental Planning. W.H. Freeman and Company, New York, 818 p.
- Ebeling, G. 1931. Toxicity of Heavy Metals to Rainbow Trout J. Am. Waterworks Assoc. 23: 1626.
- Epler, J. 2001. Identification Manual for the Larval Chironomidae (Diptera) of North and South Carolina.
- Ferrari, M. J. and S. W. Ator. 1995. Nitrate in Ground Water in the Great Valley Carbonate Subunit of the Potomac River Basin. United States Geological Survey. Water Resources Investigations Report 95-4099, Towson, MD. 6 pp.
- Fraley, J. J. 1979. Effects of Elevated Stream Temperature Below a Shallow Reservoir on Cold Water Macroinvertebrate Fauna. pp. 247-272. J. V. Ward and J. A Stanford (eds.), <u>The Ecology of Regulated Streams</u>. Plenum Press, NY. 398 pp.
- Galli. F. J. 1990. Thermal Impacts Associated with Urbanization and Stormwater Management Practices. Metropolitan Washington Council of Governments. Washington, DC. 157 pp.
- Galli, F. J. 1995. Water Quality Grab Sampling of Streams in Montgomery and Prince George's Counties, Maryland- Unpublished Notes. Metropolitan Washington Council of Governments, Washington, DC.
- Galli, F. J. 1996a. Appendix A, Final Technical Memorandum: Rapid Stream Assessment Technique (RSAT) Field Methods. Prepared for Montgomery County Department of Environmental Protection. Metropolitan Washington Council of Governments, Washington, DC. 36 pp.
- Galli, F. J. and K. Corish. 1997. Rapid Stream Assessment Technique (RSAT) Survey of the Sugarland Run Watershed Phase I: Sugarland Run Mainstem. Prepared for Virginia Environmental Endowment Metropolitan Washington Council of Governments, Washington, DC. 60 pp.

- Galli, F. J. and P. Trieu. 1994. Upper Paint Branch Work Group Recommendations. Prepared for Anacostia Watershed Restoration Committee. Metropolitan Washington Council of Governments, Washington, DC.
- Galli, F. J., K Corish and P. Trieu. 1999. Rapid Stream Assessment Technique (RSAT) Survey of the Sugarland Run Watershed, Phase II: Sugarland Run Tributaries, Fairfax and Loudoun Counties, Virginia. Prepared for Virginia Environmental Protection. Metropolitan Washington Council of Governments. 61 pp.
- Galli, F. J., K. Corish, J. Lawson, P. Trieu. 1996b. Rapid Stream Assessment Technique (RSAT) Survey of the Rock Creek Watershed, Montgomery County, Maryland Prepared for Montgomery County Department of Environmental Protection. Metropolitan Washington Council of Governments, Washington, DC. 82 pp.
- Galli, F. J., K. Corish, P. Trieu and J. Lawson. 1996c. Rapid Stream Assessment Technique (RSAT) Survey of the Cabin John Creek Watershed: Montgomery County, Maryland. Prepared for Montgomery County Department of Environmental Protection. Metropolitan Washington Council of Governments, Washington, DC.
- Gaufin, A. R. and A. V. Nebeker. 1973. Water Quality Requirements of Aquatic Insects. U.S. EPA660/3-73-004. 20.
- Gerhardt, A. 1992. Effects of subacute doses of iron (Fe) on Leptophlebia marginata (Insecta: Ephemeroptera). Freshwater Biology 27, 79-84.
- Gordon, N., T. McMahon, and B. Finlayson. 1992. <u>Stream Hydrology; An Introduction for Ecologists</u>. John Wiley & Sons Ltd., England 526 pp.
- Harper, P.P. and H. B. N. Hynes. 1971. The nymphs of the Nemouridae of Eastern Canada (Insecta: Plecoptera). <u>Canadian Journal of Zoology</u>. 47:483-494.
- Hohreiter, D. W. 1980. Toxicities of Selected Substances to Freshwater Biota. Argonne National Laboratory, Argonne, ill. 70 pp.
- Jamiclei, A, M. Morgan and J. Lynch. 1995. An Evaluation of Stream Chemistry and Watershed Characteristics in the Mid-Atlantic Coastal Plain. MD Dept. of Nat. Res. Chesapeake Bay Research and Monitoring Division, CBRM-AD- 95-2.
- Lee, D. S., S. P. Platania, C. R Gilbert, R Franz and A. Norden. 1981. A Revised List of the Freshwater Fishes of Maryland and Delaware. Southeastern Fishes Council Proceedings. Vol 3, No.3. 10 pp.
- Lenat, D.R 1993. A biologic index for the southeastern United States: Derivation and list of tolerance values, with criteria for assigning water-quality ratings. J. N. Am. Benthol. Soc., 12(3): 279-290.
- Levendosky, K., J. Galli, P. Trieu, C. Vatovec. 2005. Anacostia Watershed Forest Management and Protection Strategy. Metropolitan Washington Council of Governments. Prepared for the Anacostia Watershed Restoration Committee.
- Maryland Department of the Environment 1995. Code of Maryland Regulations 26.0802 Water Quality. MDE. Baltimore, MD. 50 pp.
- Mayer, P. M., Reynolds, S. K., and Canfield, T. J. 2005. Riparian Buffer Width, Vegetative Cover, and Nitrogen Removal Effectiveness: A Review of Current Science and Regulations. USEPA. EPA/ 600/R-05/118.

- McCafferty, W.P. 1981. <u>Aquatic Entomology The Fishermen's and Ecologist's Illustrated Guide to Insects</u> <u>and Their Relatives.</u> Science Books Int, Boston, MA. 448 pp.
- MCDEP, 1998. Montgomery County, County-wide Stream Protection Strategy, February 1998. Prepared by Montgomery County Department of Environmental Protection. (In cooperation with Maryland -National Capitol Park and Planning Commission). Rockville, MD.
- Merritt, R W. and K. W. Cummins. 1996. <u>An Introduction to the Aquatic Insects of North America</u>. 3<sup>rd</sup> Ed Kendall/Hunt Publ, Dubuque, Iowa. 862 pp.
- North Carolina Department of Environment and Natural Resources. Division of Water Quality Water Section Environmental Sciences Branch. Standard Operating Procedures for Benthic Macroinvertebrates - Biological Assessment Unit. 2001.
- Novotny, V. and H. Olem. 1994. Water Quality <u>Prevention, Identification, and Management of Diffuse</u> <u>Pollution</u>. Van Nostrand Reinhold, NY. 1054 pp.
- Otton, E.G. and J. T. Hilleary. 1985. Maryland Springs Their Physical, Thermal and Chemical Characteristics. Report No. 42. Maryland Geological Survey, Baltimore, MD. 151 pp.
- P. Trieu, J. Galli, J. Dittman, M. Smith and C. Vatovec. 2003. Loudoun County Baseline Biological Monitoring Survey (2000-2002), Phase I: Broad Run, Goose Creek, Limestone Branch, Dutchman Creek and Piney Run Mainstem Conditions. Metropolitan Washington Council of Governments. Prepared for the National Fish and Wildlife Foundation.
- Pennak, R W. 1978. <u>Freshwater Invertebrates of the United States</u>. 2nd Ed. John Wiley and Sons. 803 pp.
- Personal Communication 2006. Loudoun Soil & Water Conservation District.
- Plafkin, J. L., M. T. Barbour, K. D. Porter, S. K. Gross and R M. Hughes. 1989. Rapid Bioassessment Protocols for Use in Streams and Rivers: Benthic Macroinvertebrates and Fish. US Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Water, EPA/444(440)/4-39-001, Washington, DC
- Roback, S. S. in C. W. Hart and S. L. H. Fuller, 1974. <u>Pollution Ecology of Freshwater Invertebrates</u>. pp. 313-376. Academic Press, NY. 389 pp.
- Robbins, E.I., A. W. Norden, 1995. Microbial Oxidation of Iron and Manganese in Wetlands and Creeks of Maryland, Virginia and Washington, D.C. Pittsburgh Coal Conference. Proceedings for Coal- Energy and the Environments. Vol 2:1154-1159.
- Rosgen, D. 1996. Applied River Morphology. Wildland Hydrology. Pagosa Springs, Colorado.
- Schueler, T. R 1987. Controlling Urban Runoff: A practical Manual for Planning and Designing Urban BMP's. Metropolitan Washington Council of Governments. Washington, DC.
- State Water Control Board. 9 VAC 25-260 Virginia Water Quality Standards. Statutory Authority: § 62.1-44.15 3a of the Code of Virginia.
- Stewart, K. W. and B. P. Stark. 1988. <u>Nymphs of North American Stonefly Genera (Plecoptera)</u>. Thomas Say Foundation. Ser. Ent Soc. Am. 460 pp.

- Stribling, J. B., E.W. Leppo, and C. Daley. 1999. Biological Assessment of the Streams and Watersheds of Prince George's County, Maryland. Spring Index Period 1999. PGDER Report No. 99-1. Prince George's County Department of Environmental Resources, Programs and Planning Division, Largo, Maryland.
- Stribling, J., B. Jessup, J. White, D. Boward and M. Hurd. 1998. Development of a Benthic Index of Biotic Integrity for Maryland Streams. Report No. CBWP-EA-98-3. Maryland Department of Natural Resources, Annapolis, MD. 36 pp.
- Sykora, J. L., E. J. Smith, M. A Shapiro, and M. Y. Synak. 1972. Chronic Effect of Ferric Hydroxide on Certain Aquatic Animals. 4& Symp. Coal Mine Drainage Res. pp. 9-10.
- Thomas, J. D. 1966. Chemical Quality Reconnaissance of Water of Maryland Streams. MD Geol. Survey Report of Investigations No.5, MD Geol. Survey, Baltimore, MD. 61 pp.
- Trieu, P., F. J. Galli and K. Corish. 1998. Talbot Farm tributary Rapid Stream Assessment Technique (RSAT) Survey. Prepared for Loudoun County Soil and Water Conservation District Prepared by Metropolitan Washington Council of Governments, Washington, DC.
- Tsai, C. and M. L. Wiley. 1983. Instream Flow Requirements for Fish and Fisheries in Maryland. Maryland Water Resources Research Center, College Park, MD. 90 pp.
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. 2002. National Recommended Quality Criteria: 2002. EPA-822-R-02-047. Office of Water - Office of Science and Technology
- USDA Soil Conservation Service. 1960. Soil Survey of the Loudoun County, Virginia. Prepared in cooperation with U.S. Dept of Interior National Park Service.
- Ward, J. V. 1992. Aquatic Insect Ecology. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., USA. 438 pp.
- Ward, J. V. and J. A. Stanford 1979. Ecological Factors Controlling Stream Zoobenthos with Emphasis on Thermal Modification of Regulated Streams. Pages 35-55. J. V. Ward and J. A. Stanford (eds.), <u>The Ecology of Regulated Streams.</u> Plenum Press, NY. 398 pp.
- Warner, A., D. Shepp, K. Corish and J. Galli. 1997. An Existing Tributary Source Assessment of Pollutants to the Anacostia Watershed Prepares for Environmental Regulation Administration, Department of Consumer and Regulatory Affairs, Washington, DC. Prepared by Metropolitan Washington Council of Governments, Washington, DC.
- Wenger, S. 1999. A review of the scientific literature on riparian buffer width, extent and vegetation. Office of Public Service and Outreach, Institute of Ecology, University of Georgia, Athens, GA.
- Wiggins, G. B. 1998. Larvae of the North American Caddisfly Genera. Ed. Univ. Toronto Press, Toronto.
- Woll, RS. 1978. Maryland Groundwater Information: Chemical Quality Data. Water Resources Basic-Data Report No. 10. MD Geological Survey, Baltimore, MD. 125 pp.
- Wolman, M. G. 1954. A Method of Sampling Coarse River-Bed Material. American Geophysical Union. 35:951-956.

# Appendix

## Appendix 1

Table 1. RSAT Transect Location

#### Appendix 2

 Table 1. Clarks Run and South Fork Catoctin Creek RSAT Field Data

 Table 2. Catoctin Creek and Tributary RSAT Field Data

- Table 2. Catoctin Creek and Tributary RSAT Field Data Cont'd
- Table 2. Catoctin Creek Tributary RSAT Field Data

 Table 2. Catoctin Creek Tributary RSAT Field Data

Table 3. Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek RSAT Field Data

Table 4. Piney Run RSAT Field Data

#### Appendix 3

 Table 1. Water Quality Summary - Instantaneous Baseflow Water Chemistry (October 2005 - March 2006)

#### Appendix 4

Table 1. Modified Rosgen Level I and II - Stream Channel Morphology Characterization Results

#### Appendix 5

 Table 1. Clarks Run - Macroinvertebrate Functional Feeding Group and Pollution Tolerance Values

- Table 2. Clarks Run Macroinvertebrate RSAT Voucher Collection Relative Abundance
- Table 3. Clarks Run Macroinvertebrate 1m<sup>2</sup> Collection Number of Individuals
- Table 4. Catoctin Creek and Tributaries Macroinvertebrate Functional Feeding Group and Pollution Tolerance Values
- Table 4. Catoctin Creek and Tributaries- Macroinvertebrate Functional Feeding Group and Pollution Tolerance Values Cont'd
- Table 4. Catoctin Creek and Tributaries- Macroinvertebrate Functional Feeding Group and Pollution Tolerance Values Cont'd
- Table 5. Catoctin Creek and Tributaries Macroinvertebrate RSAT Voucher Collection Relative Abundance

Table 5. Catoctin Creek and Tributaries- Macroinvertebrate RSAT Voucher Collection - Relative Abundance, Cont'd

Table 5. Catoctin Creek and Tributaries- Macroinvertebrate RSAT Voucher Collection - Relative Abundance, Cont'd

- Table 6. Catoctin Creek and Tributaries Macroinvertebrate 1m<sup>2</sup> Collection Number of Individuals
- Table 6. Catoctin Creek and Tributaries Macroinvertebrate 1m<sup>2</sup> Collection Number of Individuals, Cont'd
- Table 6. Catoctin Creek and Tributaries Macroinvertebrate 1m<sup>2</sup> Collection Number of Individuals, Cont'd
- Table 7. Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek Macroinvertebrate Functional Feeding Group and Pollution Tolerance Values
- Table 8. Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek Macroinvertebrate RSAT Voucher Collection Relative Abundance
- Table 9. Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek Macroinvertebrate 1m<sup>2</sup> Collection Number of Individuals
- Table 9. Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek Macroinvertebrate 1m<sup>2</sup> Collection Number of Individuals Cont'd
- Table 10. Piney Run Macroinvertebrate Functional Feeding Group and Pollution Tolerance Values
- Table 11. Piney Run Macroinvertebrate Functional Feeding Group and Pollution Tolerance Values Cont'd
- Table 12. Piney Run Macroinvertebrate RSAT Voucher Collection Relative Abundance
- Table 13. Piney Run Macroinvertebrate 1m<sup>2</sup> Collection Number of Individuals

 Table 13. Piney Run - Macroinvertebrate 1m<sup>2</sup> Collection - Number of Individuals Cont'd

#### Appendix 6

Figure 1. Catoctin Creek Mainstem Non-Forested Areas Within 100 Foot Buffer - Confluence to Milltown Road

- Figure 2. Catoctin Creek Mainstem Non-Forested Areas Within 100 Foot Buffer Milltown Road to Taylorstown Road
- Figure 3. Catoctin Creek Mainstem Non-Forested Areas Within 100 Foot Buffer Taylorstown Road to Potomac River
- Table 1. Catoctin Creek Locations of Potential Riparian Reforestation Sites within 35 ft. Riparian Buffer

Table 1. Catoctin Creek - Locations of Potential Riparian Reforestation Sites within 35 ft. Riparian Buffer Cont'd

Table 2. Catoctin Creek - Locations of Potential Riparian Reforestation Sites within 100 ft. Riparian Buffer

Table 2. Catoctin Creek - Locations of Potential Riparian Reforestation Sites within 100 ft. Riparian Buffer Cont'd

Table 2. Catoctin Creek - Locations of Potential Riparian Reforestation Sites within 100 ft. Riparian Buffer Cont'd

#### **Table 1. RSAT Transect Location**

Watershed	Name	Location	VAHUC5	VAHUC6	Transect	Longitude	Latitude
Clarks Run					X-1	-77.51981438	39.23898876
	Clarks Run	Saint Clair	PL-C	PL04	X-2	-77.51837015	39.24093763
		Lane			X-3	-77.51960508	39.24281230
Catoctin Creek					X-1	-77.75043673	39.16002674
	Upper South	Ketoctin Church Road	PL-B	PL02	X-2	-77.74991744	39.15920631
	TOIK	Church Koau			X-3	-77.74894138	39.15851983
		<b>D</b> :			X-1	-77.65058000	39.15911000
	Upper South Fork	Piggott Bottom Road	PL-B	PL02	X-2	-77.64814000	39.15994000
	T OIK	riodd			X-3	-77.64756000	39.16125000
	l la a su Nisath				X-1	-77.71986881	39.19393548
	Upper North Fork	Hillsboro Road	PL-B	PL02	X-2	-77.71721255	39.19396415
	T OIK				X-3	-77.71548956	39.19421875
	Hamilton				X-1	-77.63362214	39.16367570
	Station	Station Road	PL-B	PL02	X-2	-77.63566016	39.16269301
	Road Tributary	Claich rioda			X-3	-77.63745271	39.16368458
	Talk of Course				X-1	-77.60287562	39.18152776
	Tributary	Clarkes Gap Road	PL-B	PL02	X-2	-77.60685273	39.18096943
	modaly	Road			X-3	-77.61033704	39.18044617
					X-1	-77.60749132	39.20929396
	Clover Mill Road Tributary	Road	PL-B	PL03	X-2	-77.60731953	39.21154783
	Troad Thoulary	rioud			X-3	-77.60647096	39.21217897
	Richard Creek				X-1	-77.67078885	39.22070480
	(Upper Brens	Purcellville Road	PL-B	PL03	X-2	-77.66995651	39.21951560
	Creek)	Road			X-3	-77.66882413	39.21900821
		Ask Ossans	PL-B PL-B	PL03 PL03 PL03	X-1	-77.64706282	39.21617422
	Brens Creek	Road			X-2	-77.64513776	39.21552544
		Rodd			X-3	-77.64386674	39.21491833
		Delivertere			X-1	-77.66878919	39.24334738
	Opper Militown	Road			X-2	-77.66678069	39.24393385
	Oreek	riodd			X-3	-77.66482703	39.24424882
	Middle				X-1	-77.63131462	39.23613793
	Milltown Creek	Milltown Road	PL-B		X-2	-77.62954583	39.23535729
					X-3	-77.62779445	39.23512029
	Eco\/illogo	Trillium Clon			X-1	-77.57554280	39.26551649
		l ane	PL-B	PL03	X-2	-77.57415010	39.26361413
	moduly	Earlo			X-3	-77.57224568	39.26292355
Quarter Branch	Querter		PL-A	PL01	X-1	-77.60486415	39.29392321
	Branch	Garnet Road			X-2	-77.60696878	39.29558455
	2.0.1011				X-3	-77.60845851	39.29696777
Dutchman Creek	Middle	Iriah Carpor			X-1	-77.66448775	39.28498865
	Dutchman	Irish Corner Road	PL-A	PL01	X-2	-77.66381935	39.28563640
	Creek				X-3	-77.66193176	39.28616676
Piney Run	Middle Dinov				X-1	-77.73219847	39.28330084
	Run	Arnold Lane	PL-A	PL01	X-2	-77.73109300	39.28501973
					X-3	-77.73095127	39.28754813
	Lower Diney	Branchriver			X-1	-77.71667000	39.31061000
	Run	Road	PL-A	PL01	X-2	-77.71558000	39.30988000
					X-3	-77.71393000	39.30918000

Table 1. Clarks Run and South Fork Catoctin Creek RSAT Field Data<sup>1</sup>

		Pool Habitat Quality	Excellent	Excellent	Excellent	
		Max. Pool Depth (in)	24 E	28 E	22 E	247
		Buffer Width I L	34	200	200	144 7
		Buffer Width R	201	137	200	179.3
		Riparian Veg. Type L	9/J	9	ი	
: 32		Riparian Veg. Type R	Ъ	Ъ	ი	
AT Score:		Mean Substrate Fouling Level (%)	65	65	65	65.0
RS/		Mean Riffle Embedd edness (%)	23	45	60	427
		Substrate Material Compositio n	G,C,R,S	G,C,S,CI	G,S,Bd,C,R	
2005		Bank Material Type L	S/IS	CVL	CVS	
: 12/23/:		Bank Material Type R	IS/ID	S/IS	S	
rvey Date		Mean Bank Stability R & L (%)	77.5	82.5	76.5	78.8
Sul		Mean Bank Height L (ft)	4.8	4.6	3.9	44
		Mean Bank Height R (ft)	5.1	4.8	3.6	4.5
		Mean Riffle Depth (in)	3.0	4.0	2.5	32
		Wetted Perimeter (ft)	20.5	10.1	13.2	14.6
u	ir Lane	Bottom Channel Width (ft)	23.1	20.1	23.6	22.2
<b>Clarks</b> Ru	Saint Clai	Top Channel Width (ft)	38.1	38.9	33.5	36.9
Stream:	Reach:	Transect Number	x-1	x-2	x-3	Average
			_			

Table 2. Catoctin Creek and Tributary RSAT Field Data<sup>1</sup>

	tat	Ħ	р	p	Ĺ
	Pool Habi Quality	Excelle	Very Go	Very Go	
	Max. Pool Depth (in)	28	18	18	21.3
	Buffer Width L	100	150	150	133.3
	Buffer Width R	100	200	200	166.7
	Riparian Veg. Type L	ш	ш	U	
33	Riparian Veg. Type R	Ŀ	ш	LL.	
AT Score:	Mean Substrate Fouling Level (%)	25	20	35	26.7
ß	Mean Riffle Embedd edness (%)	35	55	20	36.7
	Substrate Material Composition	G,S,C,R,B	G,S,C,CI	R,G,C,B,S	
	Bank Material Type L		S/IS	S	
2/9/06	Bank Material Type R	S/L	CI/SI	S/SI	
y Date: 1	Mean bank Stability R & L (%)	68.5	68.0	93.5	76.7
Surve	Mean Bank Height L (ft)	3.2	3.3	2.2	2.9
	Mean Bank Height R (ft)	3.1	2.8	3.5	3.1
	Me an Riffle Depth (in)	4.8	4.5	3.4	4.2
n Creek ad	Wetted Perimeter (ft)	11.3	19.7	11.9	14.3
<ul> <li>Catoctir</li> <li>Turch Ros</li> </ul>	Bottom Channel Width (ft)	22.4	20.7	14.7	19.3
outh Fork stoctin Ch	Top Channel Width (ft)	28.1	28.7	18.5	25.1
štream: S ≷each: K€	Transect Num ber	x-1	x-2	x-3	Average

	ol Habitat Quality	Good	xcellent	sry Good	
	Max. Pool Po Depth (in)	36	36 E	36 V£	36.0
	Buffer Width L	200	200	200	200.0
	Buffer Width R	200	200	200	200.0
	Riparian Veg. Type L	ш	ш	ш	
24	Riparian Veg. Type R	G/F	ш	ц	
AT Score:	Mean Substrate Fouling Level (%)	45	60		52.5
ß	Mean Riffle Embedd edness (%)	72	70	100	80.7
	Substrate Material Composition	S,G,C,R,CI,B	G,S,C,R,B		
	Bank Material Type L	S/SI	S/IS	SI/S	
2/9/06	Bank Material Type R	SI/CI	S/SI	S/SI	
y Date:	Mean bank Stability R & L (%)	68.0	87.5	70.0	75.2
Surve	Mean Bank Height L (ft)	5.5	5.5	5.0	5.3
	Mean Bank Height R (ft)	6.1	5.1	5.0	5.4
	Mean Riffle Depth (in)	6.0	6.0		6.0
r Creek	Wetted Perimeter (ft)	21.1	28.4	32.0	27.2
c Catoctir om Road	Bottom Channel Width (ft)	22.3	30.9	40.0	31.1
outh Fork gott Bott	Top Channel Width (ft)	50.2	44.3	53.6	49.4
Stream: S Reach: Pig	Transect Number	x-1	x-2	x-3	Average

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Total score interpretation - 42-50 pts. = Excellent, 30-41 pts. = Good, 16-29 pts. = Fair, <16 pts. = Poor.

Appendix 2

a <sup>1</sup> Cont'd
Data
<b>Field</b>
RSAJ
Tributary
and
Creek
Catoctin
Table 2.

Stream: 1	Vorth Forl	k Catoctin	n Creek			Surve	y Date: 3	90/6/			RS	AT Score: 5	37					
Reach: Hil	Ilsboro R	oad																
Transe ct Num ber	Top Channel Width (ft)	Bottom Channel Width (ft)	Wetted Perimeter (ft)	Mean Riffle Depth (in)	Mean Bank Height R (ft)	Mean Bank Height L (ft)	Mean bank Stability R & L (%)	Bank Material Type R	Bank Material Type L	Substrate Material Composition	Mean Riffle Embedd edness (%)	Mean Substrate Fouling Level (%)	Riparian Veg. Type R	Riparian Veg. Type L	Buffer   Width R	Buffer Width L	Max. Pool Depth (in)	Pool Habitat Quality
x-1	36.0	26.0	25.0	6.0	2.5	3.0	81.0	S/CI	S/IS	C,R,B,S,G	30	50	ш	ш	200	200	27.6 E	Excellent
x-2	43.2	22.5	22.0	4.0	3.1	3.4	59.0	CI/S	S/SI	C,G,R,S,B	40	65	ш	F/G	200	200	25.2	Good
с-х Х	39.5	18.5	14.2	7.0	3.0	2.5	82.5	S/CI	SI/S	B,C,G,S,R	40	65	ш	ш	200	200	12	Poor
Average	39.6	22.3	20.4	5.7	2.9	3.0	74.2				36.7	60.0			200.0	200.0	21.6	
_			-	-			-	-		-		-	-	-		-		-

	Pool Habitat Quality	Fair	Very Good	Very Good	
	Max. Pool I Depth (in)	20	28	30	26.0
	Buffer Width L	09	160	200	140.0
	Buffer Width R	200	200	200	200.0
	Riparian Veg. Type L	ს	ш	L	
28	Riparian Veg. Type R	ს	E/G	F/G	
AT Score:	Mean Substrate Fouling Level (%)	35	30	20	28.3
RS	Mean Riffle Embedd edness (%)	20	35	25	26.7
	Substrate Material Composition	G,C,R,Bd,S	G,C,S,R	G,C,S	
	Bank Material Type L	S/IS	SI/S	CI/SI	
28/06	Bank Material Type R	SI/CI	S/L	SI/L	
y Date: 2/	Mean bank Stability R & L (%)	67.5	73.5	71.5	70.8
Surve	Mean Bank Height L (ft)	4.1	4.0	3.3	3.8
	Mean Bank Height R (ft)	4.8	3.3	3.2	3.8
2	Mean Riffle Depth (in)	5.0	4.0	4.0	4.3
oad Tributa א	Wetted Perimeter (ft)	6.0	9.5	21.1	12.2
Station Rc	Bottom Channel Width (ft)	13.9	9.9	21.4	15.1
amilton S	Top Channel Width (ft)	21.1	19.2	34.5	24.9
Stream: H	Transect Number	x-1	x-2	x-3	Average

		Pool Habitat Quality	Good	Excellent	Good	
		Max. Pool Depth (in)	18	24	26	22.7
		Buffer Width L	200	200	10	136.7
		Buffer Width R	200	200	200	200.0
		Riparian Veg. Type L	E/G	თ	U	
31		Riparian Veg. Type R	ს	F/G	U	
AT Score: 3		Mean Substrate Fouling Level (%)	55	75	75	68.3
RS		Mean Riffle Embedd edness (%)	20	10	30	20.0
		Subs trate Material Composition	G,C,R,S,B	C,G,R,S	C,G,Bd,R,S	
		Bank Material Type L	L/SI	S/SI	N	
28/06		Bank Material Type R	SI/S	SI/S	S/SI	
y Date: 2/		Me an bank Stability R & L (%)	70.5	84.0	69.0	74.5
Surve		Me an Bank Height L (ft)	5.4	6.2	4.3	5.3
		Me an Bank Height R (ft)	5.2	4.0	3.1	4.1
		Me an Riffle De pth (in)	3.6	5.0	6.0	4.9
ary		Wetted Perimeter (ft)	10.0	5.0	8.8	7.9
ns Tribut	p Road	Bottom Channel Width (ft)	10.5	8.6	14.7	11.3
albot Farr	arkes Ga	Top Channel Width (ft)	31.2	30.1	30.7	30.6
Stream: Ta	Reach: Cl	Transect Number	x-1	x-2	x-3	Average

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Total score interpretation - 42-50 pts. = Excellent, 30-41pts. = Good, 16-29 pts. = Fair, <16 pts. = Poor.

A-3

ld Data <sup>1</sup>
SAT Fiel
ibutary R
Creek Tr
Catoctin
Table 2.

		Λ IF	∋nt	-	∋nt	
		Pool Habita Qualit	Excelle	Fair	Excelle	
		Max. Pool Depth (in)	36	25	25	28.7
		Buffer Width L	200	200	200	200.0
		Buffer Width R	200	200	200	200.0
		Riparian Veg. Type L	E/G	F/G	F/G	
27		Riparian Veg. Type R	F/G	F/G	F/G	
AT Score:		Mean Substrate Fouling Level (%)	89	09	73	0'.79
RS		Mean Riffle Embedd edness (%)	20	22	45	50.0
		Substrate Material Composition	C,G,S,R	G,C,S,R,Bd,	G,C,S,Bd,R	
		Bank Material Type L	S/L	SI/CI	S/J	
29/06		Bank Material Type R	S/SI	S/IS	S/IS	
y Date: 3/		Mean bank Stability R & L (%)	67.5	62.5	58.0	62.7
Surve		Mean Bank Height L (ft)	3.5	3.9	4.2	3.9
		Mean Bank Height R (ft)	4.3	3.6	4.0	4.0
		Mean Riffle Depth (in)	3.0	2.4	2.7	2.7
outary		Wetted Perimeter (ft)	17.9	15.0	11.3	14.8
Road Trik	Road	Bottom Channel Width (ft)	19.2	16.3	14.9	16.8
Slover Mill	lover Mill	Top Channel Width (ft)	36.5	33.5	29.7	33.3
Stream: C	Reach: C	Transect Number	X-1	x-2	x-3	Average

Stream: E	<b>Brens Cre</b>	sek				Surve	y Date: 2/	10/06			RS	AT Score:	25					
Reach: A	sh Georg	ge Road																
Transect Num ber	Top Channel Width (ft)	Bottom Channel Width (ft)	Wetted Perimeter (ft)	Mean Riffle Depth (in)	Mean Bank Height R(ft)	Mean Bank Height L (ft)	Mean bank Stability R & L (%)	Bank Material Type R	Bank Material Type L	Substrate Material Composition	Mean Riffle Embedd edness (%)	Mean Substrate Fouling Level (%)	Riparian Veg. Type R	Riparian Veg. Type L	Buffer Width R	Buffer Width L	Max. Pool Depth (in)	Pool Habitat Quality
x-1	39.0	12.5	11.5	4.3	4.1	4.6	2.67	S/IS	S/IS	G,C,R	35	50	ს	ს	100	200	17	Excellent
x-2	41.0	19.3	14.1	3.7	4.7	3.6	60.0	SI/S	SI/S	G,C,S,CI	38	35	ი	ი	200	200	24	Fair
x-3	48.0	12.0	10.8	4.9	4.2	5.1	68.0	SI/S	CI/S	C,G,B,R,S	23	45	ი	ŋ	200	200	15	Fair
Average			12.1	4.3	4.3	4.4	69.2				32.0	43.3			166.7	200.0	18.7	

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Total score interpretation - 42-50 pts. = Excellent, 30-41 pts. = Good, 16-29 pts. = Fair, <16 pts. = Poor.

A-4

Data <sup>1</sup>
T Field
<b>RSA</b>
Tributary
Creek
Catoctin
Table 2.

		itat ,			Ø	Π
		Pool Habi Quality	Good	Fair	Very Go	
		Max. Pool Depth (in)	23	18	26	22.3
		Buffer Width L	200	200	200	200.0
		Buffer Width R	125	100	200	141.7
		Riparian Veg. Type L	9	5/J	F/G	
33		Riparian Veg. Type R	Ŀ	E/G	F/G	
SAT Score:		Mean Substrate Fouling Level (%)	20	30	30	26.7
ž		Mean Riffle Embedd edness (%)	22	65	50	63.3
		Substrate Material Composition	G,S,C	G,C,S	G,C,R,S	
		Bank Material Type L	S/IS	S/IS	S/SI	
90/6/		Bank Material Type R	SI/S	CI/S	CI/L	
ey Date: 3		Mean bank Stability R & L (%)	71.5	75.0	76.0	74.2
Surv		Mean Bank Height L (ft)	1.7	2.4	1.9	2.0
		Mean Bank Height R (ft)	1.5	3.0	3.0	2.5
		Mean Riffle Depth (in)	3.0	3.0	2.5	2.8
ek		Wetted Perimeter (ft)	6.0	6.4	11.5	8.0
town Cre	Road	Bottom Channel Width (ft)	6.5	9.8	11.8	9.3
Ipper Milh	ollington	Top Channel Width (ft)	14.0	17.0	17.5	16.2
Stream: U	Reach: B	Transect Num ber	X-1	x-2	x-3	Average

Stream: N	<b>1iddle Mil</b>	Iltown Cre	sek			Surve	y Date: 3/	22/06			RS	AT Score:	36					
Reach: M	lilltown R	load																
Transect Number	Top Channel Width (ft)	Bottom Channel Width (ft)	Wetted Perimeter (ft)	Mean Riffle Depth (in)	Me an Bank Height R (ft)	Mean Bank Height L (ft)	Mean bank Stability R & L (%)	Bank Material Type R	Bank Material Type L	Substrate Material Composition	Mean Riffle Embedd edness (%)	Mean Substrate Fouling Level (%)	Riparian Veg. Type R	Riparian Veg. Type L	Buffer Width R	Buffer Width L	Max. Pool Depth (in)	Pool Habita Quality
x-1	69.1	27.0	16.9	3.2	6.0	5.2	68.5	S/IS	L/S	R,C,B,G,Bd	5	20	ш	F/G	100	87	36	Very Goo
x-2	53.7	40.3	29.7	3.4	4.5	3.5	85.0	_	SI/L	C,G,R,S,B	25	55	F/G	F/G	200	200	21	Very Goo
x-3	59.7	41.6	40.2	3.2	3.5	3.5	86.5	SI/S	SI/S	C,R,G,S,B	15	39	F/G	ш	200	188	27	Very Goo
Average	60.8	36.3	28.9	3.3	4.7	4.1	80.0				15.0	38.0			166.7	158.3	28.0	

			÷		Ŧ	ŕ
		Pool Habitat Quality	Excellen	Fair	Excellen	
		Max. Pool Depth (in)	24	12	25	20.3
		Buffer Width L	200	200	200	200.0
		Buffer Width R	200	200	200	200.0
		Riparian Veg. Type L	ш	ц	щ	
33		Riparian Veg. Type R	ш	ш	ი	
AT Score:		Mean Substrate Fouling Level (%)	35	25	25	28.3
RS		Mean Riffle Embedd edness (%)	65	60	40	55.0
		Substrate Material Composition	G,S,R,B,C,B	S,B,G,C,R	R,C,G,S,B,B	
		Bank M aterial Type L	S/CI	S/CI	SI/S	
8/2005		Bank Material Type R	S/L	S/L	S/CI	
Date: 12/2		Mean bank Stability R & L (%)	84.0	0.06	67.5	80.5
Survey		Mean Bank Height L (ft)	4.8	5.1	5.7	5.2
		Mean Bank Height R (ft)	5.3	6.3	4.5	5.4
		Mean Riffle De pth (in)	3.4	3.2	3.2	3.3
λ		Wetted Perimeter (ft)	7.7	10.8	8.3	8.9
Tributar	ו Road	Bottom Channel Width (ft)	8.9	18.2	15.1	14.0
coVillage	<b>Nortown</b>	Top Channel Width (ft)	38.8	41.4	29.9	36.7
Stream: E	Reach: Ta	Transect Num ber	x-1	x-2	x-3	Average

RSAT Field Data <sup>1</sup>
Creek
Dutchman
and
Branch
Quarter
Table 3.

Stream: G	Quarter B	ranch				Survey L	Date: 12/2	8/2005			RS	AT Score: 3	34					
Reach: Q	uarter Br	anch Roa	q															
Transe ct Num ber	Top Channel Width (ft)	Bottom Channel Width (ft)	Wetted Perimeter (ft)	Mean Riffle Depth (in)	Mean Bank Height R (ft)	Mean Bank Height L (ft)	Mean bank Stability R & L (%)	Bank Material Type R	Bank Material Type L	Substrate Material Composition	Mean Riffle Embedd edness (%)	Mean Substrate Fouling Level (%)	Riparian Veg. Type R	Riparian Veg. Type L	Buffer Width R	Buffer Width L	Max. Pool Depth (in)	Pool Habitat Quality
X-1	41.3	23.8	13.0	4.5	3.7	6.7	68.5	ი	თ	G,C,S,R,Bd	55	5	ш	ш	200	200	20	Excellent
x-2	50.6	35.7	24.3	4.0	4.9	4.8	90.0	S/L	S/L	G,S,R,C,Bd	60	5	ш	ш	200	200	20	Good
к-х	49.0	36.4	28.5	3.2	6.2	4.0	86.5	S/L	S/L	G,S,Bd,R,C	50	5	ш	ш	200	200	12	Fair
Average	47.0	32.0	21.9	3.9	4.9	5.2	81.7				55.0	5.0			200.0	200.0	17.3	

n Creek Road RSAT Score: 33 RSAT Score: 33 CCreek Road	Bottom Wetted Mean Mean Mean Mean Mean Mean Mean Bank Bank Bank Substrate Riffle Substrate Riffle Substrate Veg. Veg. Veg. Width Width Width (ft) (in) R (ft) L (ft) R a. (in) R (ft)	31.4 10.2 4.0 4.8 3.6 76.5 SI/L S/CI C,G,R,B,S 10 10 F G 200 200 20.4 Good	44.1 11.5 3.7 5.0 4.6 75.0 SI/S S/CI C,G,S,R 25 18 F/G G 200 200 43.2 Excellent	35.8 26.5 4.1 3.6 4.1 94.0 S/CI RIP- R,B,C,G,S 10 65 F F 125 80 36 Excellent	
Creek Sreek Road	Bottom Wetter Channel Perimet Width (ft)	31.4 10.2	44.1 11.5	35.8 26.5	37 1 16 1
Stream: Dutchman Cre Reach: Dutchman Cre	<ul> <li>Top Bot</li> <li>Transect Channel Cha</li> <li>Number Width Wi</li> <li>(ft) (i</li> </ul>	x-1 41.1 31	x-2 56.9 4 <sup>2</sup>	x-3 45.3 3£	AVERAGE 17 8 2-

<sup>1</sup> Total score interpretation - 42-50 pts. = Excellent, 30-41 pts. = Good, 16-29 pts. = Fair, <16 pts. = Poor.

Table 4. Piney Run RSAT Field Data<sup>1</sup>

Stream: I	Middle Pir	ney Run				Survey L	Date: 10/1	9/2005			RS	AT Score:	39					
Reach: A	Vrnold Lar	ЭС																
Transect Number	Top Channel Width (ft)	Bottom Channel Width (ft)	Wetted Perimeter (ft)	Mean Riffle Depth (in)	Mean Bank Height R (ft)	Mean Bank Height L (ft)	Mean bank Stability R & L (%)	Bank Material Type R	Bank Material Type L	Substrate Material Composition	Mean Riffle Em bedd edness (%)	Mean Substrate Fouling Level (%)	Riparian   Veg. Type R	Riparian Veg. Type L	Buffer Width R	Buffer Width L	Max. Pool Depth (in)	Pool Habitat Quality
X-1	39.4	19.3	10.5	3.5	3.4	4.5	87.5	S/IS	C/S	C,G,S	48	5	ш	ш	73	200	12	Good
x-2	22.0	11.4	11.4	3.7	4.4	2.4	91.0	S/SI	SI/S	C,G,S	25	35	F/G	F/G	200	200	22	Fair
x-3	51.5	36.0	35.2	2.0	3.8	3.3	89.0	SI/S	SI/S	S,R,G,B,S	10	25	ш	щ	200	200	24	Good
Average	37.6	22.2	19.0	3.1	3.9	3.4	89.2				27.7	21.7			157.7	200.0	19.3	

Reach:Barth River RoadTopWeathWeathMean <th< th=""><th>Stream:</th><th><b>Piney Run</b></th><th>(Lower)</th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th>Survey I</th><th>Date: 10/<sup>-</sup></th><th>19/2005</th><th></th><th></th><th>RS</th><th>AT Score:</th><th>36</th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th></th<>	Stream:	<b>Piney Run</b>	(Lower)				Survey I	Date: 10/ <sup>-</sup>	19/2005			RS	AT Score:	36					
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Reach: I	<b>3ranch Riv</b>	ver Road																
x-1       34.4       25.6       22.2       5.0       3.5       3.4       93.5       RIP-       L       C,R,G,B,S       10       45       F,ROA       F       10       200       12       Go         x-2       33.3       22.1       20.0       2.4       4.5       75.5       SI       S/CI       G,S,C,R,B       100       30       F,ROA       F       15       200       18       Exce         x-3       43.4       22.9       4.1       3.4       3.0       86.0       L       S/S       C,R,B,S,G       12       25       G/R       F       15       200       36       Exce         Average       37.0       23.6       21.7       3.8       3.7       3.6       85.0       40.7       33.3       17       35.0       20.0       22.0       20.0       22.0       20.0       22.0       36       Exce	Transect Number	Top Channel Width (ft)	Bottom Channel Width (ft)	Wetted Perimeter (ft)	Mean Riffle Depth (in)	Mean Bank Height R (ft)	Mean Bank Height L (ft)	Mean bank Stability R & L (%)	Bank Material Type R	Bank Material Type L	Substrate Material Composition	Mean Riffle Embedd edness	Mean Substrate Fouling Level (%)	Riparia n Veg. Type R	Riparian Veg. Type L	Buffer Width R	Buffer Width L	Max. Pool De pth (in)	Pool Habitat Quality
x-2       33.3       22.1       20.0       2.4       4.5       75.5       SI       S/CI       G,S,C,R,B       100       30       F,ROA       F       15       200       18       Exceeded         x-3       43.4       22.9       2.1       3.4       3.0       86.0       L       S//S       C,R,B,S,G       12       25       G/R       F       20       36       Exceeded       Exceeded       37.0       23.6       21.7       3.8       3.7       3.6       85.0       L       S//S       C,R,B,S,G       12       25       G/R       F       20       20       36       Exceeded       Exceeded       23.6       21.7       3.8       3.7       3.6       85.0       Hour and a transformed a	x-1	34.4	25.6	22.2	5.0	3.5	3.4	93.5	RIP-	_	C,R,G,B,S	10	45	F,ROA	ш	10	200	12	Good
x-3       43.4       22.9       2.1       3.4       3.0       86.0       L       SI/S       C,R,B,S,G       12       25       G/R       F       20       200       36       Exce         Average       37.0       23.6       21.7       3.8       3.7       3.6       85.0       L       SI/S       C,R,B,S,G       12       25       G/R       F       20       200       36       Exce         Average       37.0       23.6       21.7       3.6       85.0       1       40.7       33.3       15.0       200.0       22.0	x-2	33.3	22.1	20.0	2.4	4.3	4.5	75.5	SI	S/CI	G,S,C,R,B	100	30	F,ROA	ш	15	200	18	Excellent
Average 37.0 23.6 21.7 3.8 3.7 3.6 85.0 40.7 33.3 40.7 33.3 200.0 22.0	x-3	43.4	22.9	22.9	4.1	3.4	3.0	86.0		SI/S	C,R,B,S,G	12	25	G/R	LL.	20	200	36	Excellent
	Average	37.0	23.6	21.7	3.8	3.7	3.6	85.0				40.7	33.3			15.0	200.0	22.0	

 Table 1. Water Quality Summary - Instantaneous Baseflow Water Chemistry (October 2005 - March 2006)

RSAT Stream Segment	Approx. Stream Segment Location	RSAT Survey Date	Water Temp (C)	DO (mg/l)	Hd	TDS (mg/l)	Conductivi ty (ms/cm)	Turbidity (NTU)	Nitrate- Nitrogen (mg/L)	Phosphate (mg/L)	lron (mg/L)	Copper (mg/L)
Catoctin Creek												
Upper - South Fork	Ketoctin Church Road	2/9/2006	3.1	15.00	7.6	06	0.116	10	2.4	0.54	00.00	0.06
Upper - South Fork	Piggott Bottom Road	2/9/2006	4.2	14.62	8.0	130	0.178	9	2.4	0.45	0.00	0.02
Upper - North Fork	Hillsboro Road	3/9/2006	5.9	12.85	7.8	150	0.124	1	2.7	0.23	0.03	0.15
Average			4.4	14.16	7.8	123	0.139	9	2.5	0.41	0.01	0.08
<b>Tributaries to Catoctin Creek</b>												
Upper												
Hamilton Station Road Tributary	Hamilton Station Road	2/28/2006	3.8	14.59	7.1	160	0.223	0	4.5	0.01	0.09	0.11
Talbot Farms Tributary	Clarkes Gap Road	2/28/2006	5.3	13.92	7.2	100	0.138	0	1.8	0.33	0.10	0.13
Average			4.6	14.26	7.2	130	0.181	0	3.2	0.17	0.10	0.12
Middle												
<b>Clover Mill Road Tributary</b>	Clover Mill Road	3/29/2006	6.9	11.44	7.0	50	0.148	2	2.5	0.30	0.30	0.17
Richard Creek (Upper Brens Creek)	Purcellville Road	3/22/2006	0.6	11.67	7.0	50	0.127	2	3.1	0.40	0.15	0.09
Brens Creek	Ash George Road	2/10/2006	2.8	15.01	7.6	120	0.149	3	2.6	0.29	0.13	0.12
Average			7.2	12.71	7.2	73	0.141	2	2.7	0.33	0.19	0.13
Lower												
Upper Milltown Creek	Bolington Road	3/9/2006	9.4	12.18	7.6	60	0.099	0	2.2	0.12	0.09	0.11
Middle Milltown Creek	Milltown Road	3/22/2006	4.2	13.28	6.8	50	0.140	0	1.6	0.54	0.04	0.15
Ecovillage Trib.	Taylortown Road	12/28/2005	6.4	12.57	8.6	110	0.162	0	3.7	0.32	0.07	0.17
Average			6.7	12.68	7.7	73	0.134	0	2.5	0.33	0.07	0.14
Piney Run												
Middle - Piney Run	Arnold Lane	10/19/2005	11.5	7.05	8.9	80	0.142	0	0.3	0.08	0.05	0.11
Lower - Piney Run	Branch River Road	10/19/2005	14.7	7.56	8.5	80	0.133	0	2.8	0.21	0.13	0.21
Average			13.1	7.31	8.7	80	0.138	0	1.6	0.15	0.09	0.16
Dutchman Creek												
Middle Dutchman Creek	Dutchman Creek Road	10/28/2005	10.1	11.60	8.7	06	0.141	3	2.7	0.53	0.00	0.06
Quarter Branch												
Quarter Branch	Quarter Branch Road	12/28/2005	2.9	14.48	9.4	120	0.165	3	4.0	0.19	0.04	0.67
Clarks Run												
Clarks Run	Saint Clair Lane	12/23/2005	3.1	12.83	9.5	240	0.311	6	3.8	0.06	00.00	0.03
Average			6.6	12.54	8.0	105	0.156	2	2.7	0.29	0.08	0.15

## Appendix 3

Results
Characterization
Morphology (
Channel
· Stream
ч п.
I an
Level
Rosgen
Modified
Table 1.

RSAT Stream Segment	Approx. Stream Segment Location	Drainage Area (m i²)	Stream Order	Surveyed Stream Length	Stream Gradient	Entre nc hm ent Ratio <sup>1</sup>	W idth/ Depth Ratio <sup>2</sup>	Sinuosity <sup>3</sup>	RSAT Segment Slope (%) <sup>4</sup>	Com m on Channe l Materia l	Stream Classific	Type ation
Clarks Run												
Clarks Run	Saint Clair Lane	5.2	2	2,345	0.43%	1.12	21.9	1.1	0.43%	Cobble	ш́ ш	e
Catoctin Creek												
- - - -	Ketoctin Church		¢				0				1 1	
Upper - South Fork	Коад	1.1	2	962	0.52%	1.10	13.3	1.2	0.52%	Cobble	L L	3
Upper - South Fork	Piggott Bottom Road	15.7	3	1,396	0.36%	1.27	18.1	1.2	0.36%	Gravel	ц Ц	4
Upper - North Fork	Hillsboro Road	14.6	3	1,628	1.23%	1.40	19.3	1.1	1.23%	Cobble	BB	3
Total		92.4		3,986								
Tributaries to Catoctin Creek												
Upper												
Hamilton Station Road	Ham ilton Station											
Tributary	Road	2.1	1	3,170	0.63%	1.19	20.7	1.3	0.63%	Gravel	ц Т	4
Talbot Farm s Tributary	Clarkes Gap Road	3.5	2	3,094	%26.0	1.30	14.8	1.2	%16.0	Gravel	ц́ ц	4
Middle												
Clover Mill Road Tributary	Clover Mill Road	1.6	1	1,312	1.14%	1.23	15.4	1.1	1.14%	Gravel	ці Ц	4
Richard Creek (Upper Brens Creek)	Purcellville Road	4.0	2	1.273	1.18%	1.19	12.2	1.3	1.18%	Sand	Ш Ц	5
Brens Creek	Ash George Road	8.4	2	1,496	0.33%	1.50	15.2	1.2	0.33%	Gravel	В	4
Lower												
Upper Milltown Creek	Bolington Road	3.4	2	1,820	0.55%	1.18	13.7	1.3	0.55%	Sand	ш́ Ш	5
Middle Milltown Creek	Milltown Road	6.5	2	1,494	2.01%	1.13	38.6	1.0	2.01%	Cobble	Ш́ Ш	e
EcoVillage Trib.	Taylortown Road	1.1	1	2,241	1.12%	1.20	14.9	1.6	1.12%	Cobble	Ц Ц	3
Quarter Branch												
Quarter Branch	Quarter Branch Road	2.7	2	1,871	1.34%	1.08	32.3	1.0	1.34%	Bedrock	ш —	2
Dutchm an Creek												
Middle - Dutchman Creek	Dutchman Creek Road	2.5	с	1,343	0.74%	1.08	31.6	1.0	0.74%	Gravel	Ľ L	4
Piney Run												
Middle - Piney Run	Arnold Lane	8.3	2	1,692	0.59%	1.13	33.8	1.1	0.59%	Cobble	Ц Ц	3
Lower - Piney Run	Branch River Road	13.8	2	1,063	0.47%	2.00	27.8	1.0	0.47%	Cobble	В	33
Total		14.9		2,755								

A-9

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Entrenched = <1.4; Moderately Entrenched = 1.4 – 2.2; Slightly Entrenched = >2.2 <sup>2</sup> Width /Depth Ratio Interpretation: Very Low to Low = <12; Moderate to High = >12; Very High = >40 <sup>3</sup> Sinuosity Interpretation: Low = <1.2; Moderate to High = >1.2; Very High = >1.5 <sup>4</sup> Channel slope calculated from reach riffle-to-riffle measurements (Rosgen, 1996).

Table 1. Clarks Run - Macroinvertebrate Functional Feeding Group<sup>1</sup> and Pollution Tolerance Values<sup>2</sup>

Order	Таха	Common Name	Tolerance Alpha	Feeding Functional Groups
Plecoptera	1. Allocapnia sp.	Stonefly	A/B	Shredder
	2. Paracapnia sp.	Stonefly	A	Shredder
	3. Perlidae	Stonefly	Α	Predator
Ephemeroptera	4. Baetis sp.	Mayfly	В	Collector
	5. Caenis sp.	Mayfly	B/C	Collector
	6. Centroptilum sp.	Mayfly	A/B	Collector
	7. Ephemerellidae	Mayfly	А	Collector
	8. Euryophella sp.	Mayfly	В	Scraper
	9. Leptophlebiidae	Mayfly	A/B	Collector
	10. Paraleptophlebia sp.	Mayfly	A/B	Collector
	11. Stenonema sp.	Mayfly	В	Scraper
Trichoptera	12. Cheumatopsyche sp.	Caddisfly	В	Filterer
	13. Chimarra sp.	Caddisfly	В	Filterer
	14. Cyrnellus sp.	Caddisfly	B/C	Filterer
	15. Hydatophylax sp.	Caddisfly	A/B	Shredder
	16. Hydropsyche sp.	Caddisfly	В	Filterer
	17. Ptilostomis sp.	Caddisfly	В	Shredder
Anisoptera	18. Boyeria sp.	Dragonfly	A/B	Predator
Zygoptera	19. Argia sp.	Dragonfly	B/C	Predator
	20. Calopteryx sp.	Damselfly	В	Predator
Coleoptera	21. Peltodytes sp.	Crawling Water Beetle	В	Shredder
	22. Psephenus sp.	Water Penny	В	Scraper
	23. Stenelmis sp.	Riffle Beetle	В	Scraper
Diptera	24. Antocha sp.	Cranefly	В	Collector
	25. Chironomini	Midge	В	Collector
	26. Orthocladinae	Midge	В	Collector
	27. Simulium sp.	Blackfly	B/C	Filterer
	28. Tabanus sp.	Horsefly	В	Predator
	29. Tanypodinae	Midge	В	Predator
	30. Tanytarsini	Midge	В	Collector
	31. Tipula sp.	Cranefly	В	Shredder
Lepidoptera	32. Lepidoptera	Aquatic Butterfly	В	Shredder
Decapoda	33. Cambaridae	Crayfish	В	Shredder
Amphipoda	34. Gammarus sp.	Scud	В	Shredder
Isopoda	35. Asellidae	Sowbug	B/C	Collector
Gastropoda	36. Ancylidae	Limpet	B/C	Scraper
	37. Physella sp.	Snail	B/C	Scraper
Hirudinea	38. Hirudinea	Leech	С	Predator
Oligochaeta	39. Oligochaeta	Aquatic Worm	B/C	Collector

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A number assigned to an individual or its group describing the degree to which that individual or group tolerates organic pollution.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Feeding adaptations that classify the nutritional processing method performed by different aquatic insects (Merritt and Cummins, 1984).

#### Table 2. Clarks Run - Macroinvertebrate RSAT Voucher Collection - Relative Abundance 1

Order	Таха	Pollution Tolerance Value <sup>2</sup>	Clarks Run
Plecoptera	Allocapnia sp.	A/B	1.7
	Paracapnia sp.	А	1.7
Ephemeroptera	Caenis sp.	B/C	1.0
	Centroptilum sp.	A/B	1.7
	Ephemerellidae	А	1.0
	Paraleptophlebia sp.	A/B	1.0
	Stenonema sp.	В	1.7
Trichoptera	Cheumatopsyche sp.	В	1.0
	Chimarra sp.	В	1.0
	Cyrnellus sp.	B/C	1.0
	Hydatophylax sp.	A/B	1.7
	Hydropsyche sp.	В	1.0
	Ptilostomis sp.	В	1.0
Zygoptera	Calopteryx sp.	В	1.0
Coleoptera	Psephenus sp.	В	1.0
Diptera	Antocha sp.	В	3.0
	Chironomini	В	1.0
	Orthocladinae	В	1.0
	Tabanus sp.	В	1.0
	Tipula sp.	В	3.0
Decapoda	Cambaridae	В	1.0
Amphipoda	Gammarus sp.	В	2.0
Isopoda	Asellidae	B/C	1.0
Gastropoda	Ancylidae	B/C	1.0
	Physella sp.	B/C	1.0
Hirudinea	Hirudinea	С	1.5
Oligochaeta	Oligochaeta	B/C	1.0
	Total Taxa <sup>3</sup>		27

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Relative abundance scores were averaged for each mainstem reach. Relative abundance interpretation: 0.1-0.9 = Scarce, 1.0-2.0 = Scarce/Common, 2.1-3.0 = Common, 3.1-4.0 = Common/Abundant, > 4.0 = Abundant.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Pollution Tolerance Rating: A = Intolerant, B = Moderately Tolerant, C = Tolerant.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Taxa Richness Interpretation: >=25 = Excellent, 16-24 = Good, 8-15 = Fair, <8 = Poor.

٦

Order	Тах	а	Tolerance Alpha	Total Number of Individuals
Plecoptera	1.	Perlidae	A	1
Ephemeroptera	2.	Baetis sp.	В	108
	3.	Caenis sp.	B/C	2
	4.	Euryophella sp.	В	22
	5.	Leptophlebiidae	A/B	2
	6.	Stenonema sp.	В	8
Trichoptera	7.	Cheumatopsyche sp.	В	1
	8.	Hydropsyche sp.	В	3
Anisoptera	9.	Boyeria sp.	A/B	2
Zygoptera	10.	Argia sp.	B/C	2
	11.	Calopteryx sp.	В	4
Coleoptera	12.	Peltodytes sp.	В	3
	13.	Stenelmis sp.	В	19
Diptera	14.	Chironomini	В	2
	15.	Orthocladinae	В	30
	16.	Simulium sp.	B/C	12
	17.	Tanypodinae	В	4
	18.	Tanytarsini	В	6
Lepidoptera	19.	Lepidoptera	В	1
Amphipoda	20.	Gammarus sp.	В	76
Oligochaeta	21.	Oligochaeta	B/C	5
Total Taxa				313

 Table 3. Clarks Run - Macroinvertebrate 1m<sup>2</sup> Collection - Number of Individuals

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Pollution Tolerance Rating: A = Intolerant, B = Moderately Tolerant, C = Tolerant. Note: a blank cell indicates the macroinvertebrate group was not found during the  $1m^2$  sampling.

#### Appendix 5

#### Table 4. Catoctin Creek and Tributaries - Macroinvertebrate Functional Feeding Group<sup>1</sup> and Pollution Tolerance Values<sup>2</sup>

Order	Family	Таха	Common Name	Tolerance Alpha	Feeding Functional Groups
Plecoptera	Capniidae	1. Allocapnia sp.	Stonefly	A/B	Shredder
		2. Capnia sp.	Stonefly	A	Shredder
		3. Unknown	Stonefly	А	Shredder
	Nemouridae	4. Amphinemoura sp.	Stonefly	A/B	Shredder
		5. Nemoura sp.	Stonefly	А	Shredder
		6. Unknown	Stonefly	A/B	Shredder
		7. Prostoia sp.	Stonefly	В	Shredder
		8. Shipsa rotunda	Stonefly	А	Shredder
	Perlidae	9. Acronueria sp.	Stonefly	А	Predator
		10. Agnetina sp.	Stonefly	Α	Predator
		11. Eccoptura sp.	Stonefly	A/B	Predator
		12. Ostrocerca sp.	Stonefly	A/B	Shredder
		13. Perlesta sp.	Stonefly	В	Predator
		14. Unknown	Stonefly	А	Predator
		15. Unknown	Stonefly	А	Predator
	Perlodidae	16. Clioperla sp.	Stonefly	А	Predator
		17. Isoperla sp.	Stonefly	A/B	Predator
		18. Unknown	Stonefly	А	Predator
	Taeniopterygidae	19. Taenionema sp.	Stonefly	A/B	Shredder
		20. Taeniopteryx sp.	Stonefly	A/B	Shredder
Ephemeroptera	Ameletidae	21. Ameletus sp.	Mayfly	А	Collector
	Baetidae	22. Acentrella sp.	Mayfly	В	Collector
		23. Acerpenna sp.	Mayfly	В	Collector
		24. Unknown	Mayfly	В	Collector
		25. Baetis sp.	Mayfly	В	Collector
		26. Centroptilum sp.	Mayfly	A/B	Collector
	Caenidae	27. Caenis sp.	Mayfly	B/C	Collector
	Ephemerellidae	28. Attenella sp.	Mayfly	A/B	Collector
		29. Ephemerella sp.	Mayfly	A/B	Collector
		30. Eurylophella sp.	Mayfly	В	Scraper
		31. Timpanoga sp.	Mayfly	A/B	Collector
		32. Serratella sp.	Mayfly	A/B	Collector
	Ephemeridae	33. Ephemera sp.	Mayfly	A/B	Collector
	Heptageniidae	34. Leucrocuta sp.	Mayfly	А	Scraper
		35. Stenacron sp.	Mayfly	В	Scraper
		36. Stenonema sp.	Mayfly	В	Scraper
	Isonychiidae	37. Isonychia sp.	Mayfly	A/B	Filterer
	Leptophlebiidae	38. Habrophlebiodes sp.	Mayfly	В	Collector
		39. Leptophlebia sp.	Mayfly	В	Collector
		40. Paraleptophlebia sp.	Mayfly	A/B	Collector
Trichoptera	Glossosomatidae	41. Glossosomma sp.	Caddisfly	A	Scraper
	Hydropsychidae	42. Cheumatopsyche sp.	Caddisfly	В	Filterer
		43. Diplectrona sp.	Caddisfly	A/B	Filterer
		44. Hydropsyche sp.	Caddisfly	В	Filterer
	Leptoceridae	45. Triaenodes sp.	Caddisfly	В	Shredder
	Limnephilidae	46. Hydatophylax sp.	Caddisfly	A/B	Shredder
		47. Ironoquia sp.	Caddisfly	A/B	Shredder
	Philopotamidae	48. Chimarra sp.	Caddisfly	В	Filterer
		49. Dolophilodes sp.	Caddisfly	A	Filterer
		50 Wormaldia an	Caddicfly	^	Collector,
	Dhruganidaa	50. wormalula sp.	Caddiafly	P	Chredder
	Polycentropodidaa	52 Polycentropus en	Caddiefly	P	Filterer
	Llenoidae	53 Neonhylay en	Caddiefly	Δ/R	Scraper
	Genoluae	oo. Neophylax sp.	Caddisity		Julahei

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A number assigned to an individual or its group describing the degree to which that individual or group tolerates organic pollution.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Feeding adaptations that classify the nutritional processing method performed by different aquatic insects (Merritt and Cummins, 1984).

# Table 4. Catoctin Creek and Tributaries- Macroinvertebrate Functional Feeding Group<sup>1</sup> and Pollution Tolerance Values<sup>2</sup> Cont'd

Appendix 5

			Common	Tolerance	Feeding Functional
Order	Family	Taxa	Name	Alpha	Groups
Megaloptera	Corydalidae	54. Corydalus sp.	Dobsonfly	В	Predator
		55. Nigronia sp.	Alderfly	В	Predator
Anisoptera	Aeshnidae	56. Boyeria sp.	Dragonfly	A/B	Predator
		57. Epiaeschna sp.	Dragonfly	A/B	Predator
	Gomphidae	58. Dromogomphus sp.	Dragonfly	В	Predator
		59. Gomphus sp.	Dragonfly	В	Predator
		60. Hagenius sp.	Dragonfly	В	Predator
		61. Stylogomphus sp.	Dragonfly	A	Predator
Zygoptera	Calopterygidae	62. Calopteryx sp.	Damselfly	B	Predator
	Coenagrionidae	63. Argia sp.	Damselfly	B/C	Predator
		64. Unknown	Damselfly	B/C	Predator
		65. Enallagma sp.	Damselfly	B/C	Predator
<u></u>	Lestidae	66. Lestes sp.	Damselfly	С	Predator
Coleoptera	Dryopidae	67. Helichus sp.	Beetle	В	Scraper
	Dytiscidae	68. Dytiscus sp.	Beetle	В	Predator
		69. Hydaticus sp.	Beetle	В	Predator
		70. Hydroporus sp.	Beetle	В	Predator
		71. Hydrovatus sp.	Beetle	В	Predator
	Elmidae	72. Dubiraphia sp.	Riffle Beetle	В	Scraper
		73. Gonielmis sp.	Riffle Beetle	В	Scraper
		74. Macronychus sp.	Riffle Beetle	В	Scraper
		75. Optioservus sp.	Riffle Beetle	В	Scraper
		76. Oulimnius sp.	Riffle Beetle	A/B	Scraper
		77. Stenelmis sp.	Riffle Beetle	В	Scraper
	Gyrinidae	78. Dineutus sp.	Whirligig Beetles	В	Predator
		79. Gyrinus sp.	Whirligig Beetles	В	Predator
	Haliplidae	80. Peltodytes sp.	Crawling Water Beetle	В	Shredder
	Hydrophilidae	81. Dibolocelus sp.	Beetle	В	Collector
		82. Hydrophilus sp.	Beetle	В	Collector
	Psephenidae	83. Psephenus sp.	Water Penny	В	Scraper
	Staphylinidae	84. Unknown	Beetle	В	Collector
	(blank)	85. Unknown	Beetle	В	Predator
Diptera	Ceratopogonidae	86. Bezzia sp.	Biting Midges	В	Predator
		87. Ceratopogonodae	Biting Midges	В	Predator
		88. Culicoides sp.	Biting Midges	С	Predator
	Chironomidae	89. Chironomini	Midge	В	Collector
		90. Diamesinae	Midge	В	Collector
		91. Orthocladiinae	Midge	В	Collector
		92. Tanypodinae	Midge	В	Predator
		93. Tanytarsini	Midge	В	Collector
	Culicidae	94. Anopheles sp.	Mosquito	С	Collector
	Dixidae	95. Dixella sp.	Midges	B/C	Collector
	Empididae	96. Hemerodromia sp.	Daggerfly	В	Predator
	Muscidae	97. Unknown	Fly	B/C	Predator
	Simuliidae	98. Prosimulium sp.	Blackfly	B/C	Filterer
		99. Simulium sp.	Blackfly	B/C	Filterer
	Tabanidae	100. Chrysops sp.	Horsefly	B/C	Predator
		101. Tabanus sp.	Horsefly	В	Predator
	Tipulidae	102. Antocha sp.	Cranefly	В	Collector
		103. Dicranota sp.	Cranefly	В	Predator
		104. Dicranota sp.	Cranefly	В	Predator
		105. Hexatoma sp.	Cranefly	В	Predator
		106. Leptotarsus sp.	Cranefly	В	Shredder

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A number assigned to an individual or its group describing the degree to which that individual or group tolerates organic pollution.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Feeding adaptations that classify the nutritional processing method performed by different aquatic insects (Merritt and Cummins, 1984).

#### Appendix 5 Table 4. Catoctin Creek and Tributaries- Macroinvertebrate Functional Feeding Group<sup>1</sup> and Pollution Tolerance Values<sup>2</sup> Cont'd

Order	Family	Таха	Common Name	Tolerance Alpha	Feeding Functional Groups
		107. Pedicia sp.	Cranefly	В	Shredder
		108. Tipula sp.	Cranefly	В	Shredder
Lepidoptera	Unknown	109. Unknown	Aquatic Butterfly	В	Shredder
Hemiptera	Corixidae	110. Corixidae	Water Boatman	В	Predator
		111. Hesperocorixa sp.	Beetle	В	Predator
	Gerridae	112. Gerris sp.	Water Strider	В	Predator
	Velidae	113. Microvelia sp.	Water Strider	В	Predator
Decapoda	Cambaridae	114. Unknown	Crayfish	В	Shredder
		115. Orconectes sp.	Crayfish	В	Shredder
Gastropoda	Ancylidae	116. Unknown	Limpet	B/C	Scraper
	Physidae	117. Physella sp.	Snail	B/C	Scraper
	Planorbidae	118. Unknown	Snail	B/C	Scraper
Hirudinea	Hirudinea	119. Unknown	Leech	С	Predator
Oligochaeta	Oligochaeta	120. Unknown	Aquatic Worm	B/C	Collector
Pelecyoda	Sphaeriidae	121. Unknown	Clam	B/C	Filterer
	Unionidae	122. Unknown	Clam	B/C	Predator
Nematomorpha	Nematomorpha	123. Unknown	Horse Hair	С	Collector
Amphipoda	Gammaridae	124. Unknown	Scud	В	Shredder
		125. Gammarus sp.	Scud	В	Shredder

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A number assigned to an individual or its group describing the degree to which that individual or group tolerates organic pollution.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Feeding adaptations that classify the nutritional processing method performed by different aquatic insects (Merritt and Cummins, 1984).

Table 5. Catoctin Creek and Tributaries - Macroinvertebrate RSAT Voucher Collection - Relative Abundance<sup>1</sup>

Task         Amene         Amene         Task         Amene         Task         Amene         Task           Proceeding         Factor									Catoctin Cree	k				
$ \begin{array}{                                    $					Mainstem					Tribut	aries			
Model         Model         Words         Recent         Recent <th>0</th> <th>T</th> <th>Pollution</th> <th>South</th> <th>Fork</th> <th>North Fork</th> <th>Hamilton Station Tributary</th> <th>Talbot Farm Tributary</th> <th>Clover Mill Road Tributary</th> <th>Richard Creek</th> <th>Brens Creek</th> <th>Milltow</th> <th>n Creek</th> <th>EcoVillage Tributary</th>	0	T	Pollution	South	Fork	North Fork	Hamilton Station Tributary	Talbot Farm Tributary	Clover Mill Road Tributary	Richard Creek	Brens Creek	Milltow	n Creek	EcoVillage Tributary
Proceding         i         297.006         297.006         297.006         278.2006         278.	Older	a Xa	l olerance Value <sup>2</sup>	Ketoctin Church Road	Piggott Bottom Road	Hillsboro Road	Hamilton Station Road	Clarks Gap Road	Clover Mill Road	Purcellville Road	Ash George Road	Milltown Road	Bolington Road	Taylortown Road
Protentiation         A         Image				2/9/2006	2/9/2006	3/9/2006	2/28/2006	2/28/2006	3/29/2006	3/22/2006	2/10/2006	3/9/2006	3/9/2006	12/28/2005
Machinements         AB         10	Plecoptera	Acronueria sp.	A						1.0				1.0	
Ambinementasy.         AB         I		Allocapnia sp.	A/B	3.5		1.0	1.0				2.7	2.0		2.3
Centra sp.         A         1 <th1< td=""><td></td><td>Amphinemoura sp.</td><td>A/B</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>1.0</td><td></td></th1<>		Amphinemoura sp.	A/B										1.0	
Clopentasp.         A         10         10         10         10         10         10         10         10         10         20           Reporting         AB         10         AB         10         10         10         10         10         10         10         10         20         20         20           Nemoritasp         AB         10         10         10         10         10         10         10         10         10         10         20         20         20           Nemoritasp         AB         10		Capnia sp.	A				1.0							
Econduraça         AB         10		Clioperla sp.	A	1.0		1.0								
Nemouraep         A         10         <		Eccoptura sp.	A/B	1.0								2.0		2.0
Nemonation         AB         10		Nemoura sp.	A							1.0				
Ostroactes sp.         AB         10		Nemouridae	A/B	1.0										
Periodide         A         I		Ostrocerca sp.	A/B	1.0		1.0								
Proteina sp.         B         I         10         10         10         10         10           Shipsa rounda         A         A         10         10         10         10         10           Shipsa rounda         A         AB         10         10         10         10         10           Shipsa rounda         AB         10         10         10         10         10         10           Taniouscher         B         10         10         10         10         10         10           Amelius sp.         B         10         10         10         10         10         10         10           Amelius sp.         Amelius sp.         Amelius sp.         10         10         10         10         10           Amelius sp.         Amelius sp.         Amelius sp.         10         10         10         10         10           Amelius sp.         Amelius sp.         B         10         10         10         10         10         10           Amelius sp.         B         10         10         10         10         10         10         10         10           Amelius sp.		Perlodidae	А					1.0						
Stipsa roturda         A         I		Prostoia sp.	В				1.0				2.7		1.0	
Tatenionenesp.         AB         25         10         10         10         27         10         10         10           Tenioplenyxey.         AB         10         0		Shipsa rotunda	A										1.0	
Teniopteryacy         AG         1.0         1.0         1.0         2.7         1.0         1.0           Fehrencolata         Aeremasy.         B         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0           Amellus Sp.         AB         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0           Amellus Sp.         AB         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0           Attendia Sp.         AB         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0           Betica         B         1.0		Taenionema sp.	A/B	2.5		1.0	1.0				2.7	1.0	1.0	
Ephemeropera         B         Implementation         B         Implementation         Implementatintintint         Implementation         <		Taeniopteryx sp.	A/B	1.0							2.7			1.0
Ameleusep.         A         I <thi< td=""><td>Ephemeroptera</td><td>Acerpenna sp.</td><td>В</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>1.0</td><td>1.0</td><td></td></thi<>	Ephemeroptera	Acerpenna sp.	В									1.0	1.0	
Attendiasp.         AB         A         <		Ameletus sp.	A					1.0		1.0				1.0
Betidae         B         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0           Betisp.         B         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0           Betisp.         B         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0           Betisp.         B         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0           Centroptilumsp.         B/C         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0           Centroptilumsp.         A/B         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0           Ephemeral sp.         A/B         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0           Ephemeral sp.         A/B         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0           Ephemeral sp.         A/B         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0           Ephemeral sp.         A/B         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0		Attenella sp.	A/B							1.0				
Beetis Sp.         B         10		Baetidae	В						1.0	1.0		1.0		
Caenis sp. $B/C$ $1.0$ $1.0$ $1.0$ $2.0$ $1.0$ $1.0$ $1.0$ $1.0$ Centroptium sp. $A/B$ $A/$		Baetis sp.	В	1.0									1.0	
Centroptilum sp.         AB         1.0		Caenis sp.	B/C		1.0		1.0		1.0	2.0			1.0	1.0
Ephemera sp.         A/B         A         Image: Description of the set of the se		Centroptilum sp.	A/B				1.0	1.0						
Ephemerella sp.AB1.01.01.01.01.01.0Eurylophella sp.B1.01.01.01.01.01.0Eurylophella sp.B1.01.01.01.01.01.0Eurylophella sp.AB1.01.02.51.01.01.01.0Isonychia sp.AB1.01.02.51.01.01.01.0Isonychia sp.AB1.01.02.51.01.01.01.0Isonychia sp.AB1.01.02.51.01.01.01.0Isonychia sp.AB1.01.02.51.01.01.01.0Isonychia sp.B1.01.02.51.01.01.01.0Isonychia sp.B1.01.02.51.01.01.01.0Isonychia sp.B1.01.01.72.31.01.01.0Impanoga sp.AB1.01.01.72.31.02.31.01.0Impanoga sp.AB1.01.01.72.31.02.31.01.0		Ephemera sp.	A/B								1.0			
Eurylophella sp.         B         10         1.0         1.3         1.3         1.0           Isonychia sp.         A/B         1.0         2.5         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0           Isonychia sp.         A/B         1.0         2.5         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0           Leptophlebia sp.         B         1.0         1.0         2.5         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0           Varaleptophlebia sp.         B         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0           Stenacron sp.         B         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0           Impanoga sp.         A/B         1.0         2.3         1.0         1.7         2.3         1.0         1.0         1.0           Impanoga sp.         A/B         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0		Ephemerella sp.	A/B			1.0		1.5	1.0		1.3	1.0	1.0	
Isonychia sp.A/B1.0 $1.0$ $2.5$ $1.0$ $1.0$ $1.0$ $1.0$ Leptophlebia sp.B $1.0$ N $1.0$ $1.0$ $1.0$ $1.0$ $1.0$ Paraleptophlebia sp.A/B $1.0$ N $1.0$ $1.0$ $1.0$ $1.0$ $1.0$ Paraleptophlebia sp.B $1.0$ N $1.0$ $1.0$ $1.0$ $1.0$ $1.0$ Paraleptophlebia sp.B $1.0$ $1.0$ $1.0$ $1.0$ $1.0$ $1.0$ $1.0$ Stenacron sp.B $1.0$ $1.0$ $1.0$ $1.7$ $2.3$ $1.0$ $2.3$ $1.0$ $1.0$ Stenorema sp.B $1.0$ $1.0$ $1.0$ $1.0$ $1.0$ $2.3$ $1.0$ $2.3$ $1.0$ $1.0$ Tinpanoga sp.A/B $1.0$ $1.0$ $1.0$ $1.0$ $1.0$ $1.0$ $1.0$ $1.0$		Eurylophella sp.	В					1.0				1.3		1.0
Leptophlebia sp.         B         1.0         1.0         1.0           Paraleptophlebia sp.         A/B         A         P <td></td> <td>Isonychia sp.</td> <td>A/B</td> <td>1.0</td> <td></td> <td>1.0</td> <td>2.5</td> <td></td> <td>1.0</td> <td></td> <td>1.0</td> <td></td> <td>1.0</td> <td></td>		Isonychia sp.	A/B	1.0		1.0	2.5		1.0		1.0		1.0	
Paraleptophletia sp.         A/B         A         Image: Notation spectra s		Leptophlebia sp.	В	1.0						1.0				1.0
Stenacron sp.         B         1.0 <th< td=""><td></td><td>Paraleptophlebia sp.</td><td>A/B</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>1.0</td><td></td><td></td></th<>		Paraleptophlebia sp.	A/B									1.0		
Stenonema sp.         B         1.0         1.0         2.3         1.0         1.7         2.3         1.0         2.3         1.0 <th< td=""><td></td><td>Stenacron sp.</td><td>В</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>1.0</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></th<>		Stenacron sp.	В					1.0						
Timpanoga sp. A/B 1.0 1.0		Stenonema sp.	В	1.0	1.0	2.3	1.0	1.7	2.3	1.0	2.3	1.5	1.0	1.0
		Timpanoga sp.	A/B				1.0							

Table 5. Catoctin Creek and Tributaries- Macroinvertebrate RSAT Voucher Collection - Relative Abundance <sup>1</sup> Cont'd

									ek				
				Mainstem					Tribut	taries			
0	F	Pollution	South	Fork	North Fork	Hamilton Station Tributary	Talbot Farm Tributary	Clover Mill Road Tributary	Richard Creek	Brens Creek	Milltow	'n Creek	EcoVillage Tributary
Order	l axa	Value <sup>2</sup>	Ketoctin Church Road	Piggott Bottom Road	Hillsboro Road	Hamilton Station Road	Clarks Gap Road	Clover Mill Road	Purcellville Road	Ash George Road	Milltown Road	Bolington Road	Taylortown Road
			2/9/2006	2/9/2006	3/9/2006	2/28/2006	2/28/2006	3/29/2006	3/22/2006	2/10/2006	3/9/2006	9002/6/£	12/28/2005
richoptera	Cheumatopsyche sp.	В	1.5	1.0	2.0	3.5	1.0	2.3	1.0	1.0	1.7	1.0	1.0
	Chimarra sp.	В	1.0		2.0	1.0	4.0	1.0	2.0	2.3	1.7	2.0	1.0
	Diplectrona sp.	AB										1.0	1.0
	Glossosomma sp.	A			1.0								
	Hydatophylax sp.	A/B	1.5							1.0	1.0		
	Hydropsyche sp.	В		1.0	1.0	3.5	1.0	2.3	1.0	2.3	1.0	1.0	
	Ironoquia sp.	A/B							1.0				
	Neophylax sp.	A/B	1.5		1.7	1.0	1.0	1.0	2.0	2.7	2.0	1.7	1.0
	Polycentropus sp.	В				_						1.0	1.0
	Ptilostomis sp.	В	1.0	1.0			1.0				1.0		1.0
1egaloptera	Corydalus sp.	В			1.0			1.0		1.0	1.0	1.0	
	Nigronia sp.	В				1.0						1.0	
nisoptera	Boyeria sp.	AB	1.0										
	Dromogomphus sp.	В								1.0			
	Epiaeschna sp.	AB								1.0			
	Gomphus sp.	В		1.0									
	Hagenius sp.	В			1.0								
	Stylogomphus sp.	A	1.0			1.0			1.0				
ygoptera	Argia sp.	B/C					1.0						
	Calopteryx sp.	В		1.0			1.0	1.0	1.0		1.0		
	Coenagrionidae	B/C	1.0				1.0						
	Lestes sp.	с							1.0				
oleoptera	Dibolocelus sp.	В					1.0						
	Dytiscus sp.	В										1.0	
	Helichus sp.	В		1.0									
	Hydrophilus sp.	В				1.0							
	Hydrovatus sp.	В				Ī	1.0						
	Optioservus sp.	В			1.0	1.0					1.0	1.0	
	Oulimnius sp.	AB					1.0						
	Peltodytes sp.	В				1.0	1.0	_	1.0				

A-17

Table 5. Catoctin Creek and Tributaries- Macroinvertebrate RSAT Voucher Collection - Relative Abundance <sup>1</sup> Cont'd

								Catoctin Cree	×				
				Mainstem					Tributa	aries			
	ŀ	Pollution	South	Fork	North Fork	Hamilton Station Tributary	Talbot Farm Tributary	Clover Mill Road Tributary	Richard Creek	Brens Creek	Milltow	n Creek	EcoVillage Tributary
Oraer	laxa	l olerance Value <sup>2</sup>	Ketoctin Church Road	Piggott Bottom Road	Hillsboro Road	Hamilton Station Road	Clarks Gap Road	Clover Mill Road	Purcellville Road	Ash George Road	Milltown Road	Bolington Road	Taylortown Road
			2/9/2006	2/9/2006	3/9/2006	2/28/2006	2/28/2006	3/29/2006	3/22/2006	2/10/2006	3/9/2006	3/9/2006	12/28/2005
	Psephenus sp.	В	1.0		1.0	1.0	1.3	1.0	1.0	1.0	2.0	1.0	1.0
	Stenelmis sp.	В				1.0	1.3	2.3	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	
Diptera	Antocha sp.	В				1.0	1.0						
	Chironomini	В	1.5	1.0	1.0	1.0	3.0		3.0		1.0		1.0
	Chrysops sp.	B/C			1.0								
	Diamesinae	В			1.0					1.0			
	Dicranota sp.	В				2.0							
	Dicranota sp.	В							1.0				
	Hexatoma sp.	В	1.0				1.0	3.0	1.0			1.0	
	Leptotarsus sp.	В	1.0										
	Orthocladiinae	В	1.5	2.0	2.0	4.0	3.0	4.0	1.0	3.0	3.0	1.3	1.0
	Prosimulium sp.	B/C	1.0		1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	
	Tabanus sp.	В								1.0			
	Tanypodinae	В			1.0		1.0				1.0		
	Tipula sp.	В		1.0		1.0		1.0				1.0	1.0
Lepidoptera	Lepidoptera	В						1.0					
Hemiptera	Corixidae	В		1.0									
	Hesperocorixa sp.	В				1.0							
Decapoda	Orconectes sp.	В							1.0				
Amphipoda	Gammaridae	В										1.5	
	Gammarus sp.	В								1.3	1.0		
Pelecyoda	Sphaeriidae	B/C	1.0	1.0						1.0		1.0	
Gastropoda	Ancylidae	B/C					1.0						1.0
	Physella sp.	B/C				1.0	1.0			1.0		1.0	1.0
Hirudinea	Hirudinea	с		1.0			1.0	1.0	1.0	2.3	1.0		
Oligochaeta	Oligochaeta	B/C							1.0			1.0	
Total Taxa <sup>3</sup>			26	14	22	28	30	20	26	26	26	31	20

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Relative abundance scores were averaged for each mainstem reach. Relative abundance interpretation: 0.1-0.9 = Scarce, 1.0-2.0 = Scarce/Common, 2.1-3.0 = Common, 3.1-4.0 = Common/ Abundant, > 4.0 = Abundant.

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  Pollution Tolerance Rating: A = Intolerant, B = Moderately Tolerant, C = Tolerant.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Taxa Richness Interpretation: >=25 = Excellent, 16-24 = Good, 8-15 = Fair, <8 = Poor.

Table 6. Catoctin Creek and Tributaries - Macroinvertebrate 1m<sup>2</sup> Collection - Number of Individuals

Order     Taxa       Plecoptera     Acronueria sp.       Agnetina sp.     Agnetina sp.       Allocapnia sp.     Allocapnia sp.       Capnildae     Clioperla sp.       Clioperla sp.     Perifidae       Perifidae     Perifidae	Tolerance Alpha A AB A/B A/B	South	Mainstem Fork	North Fork	Hamilton Station	Talbot	Clover Mill	Tributa	ries			EcoVillage
Order     Taxa       Plecoptera     Acronueria sp.       Agnetina sp.     Agnetina sp.       Allocapnia sp.     Allocapnia sp.       Capnildae     Clioperla sp.       Clioperla sp.     Perifidae       Perifidae     Perifidae	Tolerance Alpha A A A/B A/B	South	Fork	North Fork	Hamilton Station	Talbot	Clover Mill					EcoVillage
Order     Taxa       Plecoptera     Acronueria sp.       Agnetina sp.     Agnetina sp.       Allocapnia sp.     Allocapnia sp.       Allocapnia sp.     Allocapnia sp.       Allocapnia sp.     Allocapnia sp.       Clioperla sp.     Clioperla sp.       Perildae     Perildae	Tolerance Alpha A A A/B A/B	Kataatin			Tributary	Farm Tributary	Road	Richard Creek	Brens Creek	Milltow	n Creek	Tributary
Order     Taxa       Plecoptera     Acronueria sp.       Agnetina sp.     Agnetina sp.       Anphinemoura sp.     Anphinemoura sp.       Cloperla sp.     Cloperla sp.       Eccoptura sp.     Perildae       Perildae     Perildae       Perildae     Perildae       Ephemeroptera     Acentrella sp.       Ephemerella sp.     Eurylophella sp.       Ephemerella sp.     Eurylophella sp.       I autrocutral sp.     Eurylophella sp.	Tolerance Alpha A A A A B A A A	Church	Piggott Bottom Road	Hillsboro Road	Hamilton Station Road	Clarks Gap Road	Clover Mill Road	Purcellville Road	Ash George Road	Milltown Road	Bolington Road	Taylortown Road
Plecoptera     Acronueria sp.       Agnetina sp.     Agnetina sp.       Allocapnia sp.     Amphinemoura sp.       Capniidae     Cloperla sp.       Cosoptura sp.     Eccoptura sp.       Distrocerca sp.     Perlesta sp.       Perlesta sp.     Perlidae       Taenionema sp.     Ephemerolta sp.       Ephemeroptera     Acentrella sp.       Ephemerella sp.     Eurylophella sp.       Baetis sp.     Eurylophella sp.       Isonychia sp.     Ieucrocuta sp.	A A/B A/B	4/21/2005	4/21/2005	4/21/2005	5/6/2005	5/6/2005	6/10/2005	6/2/2005	5/11/2005	6/6/2005	5/11/2005	6/10/2005
Agnetina sp. Allocapnia sp. Amphinemoura sp. Capniidae Ciloperla sp. Eccoptura sp. Isoperla sp. Perlesta sp. Perleae Perlidae Per	A A/B A/B	-										
Allocapnia sp.       Amphinemoura sp.       Capnidae       Capnidae       Clioperla sp.       Eccoptura sp.       Isoperla sp.       Perlesta sp.       Perlesta sp.       Perlidae	A/B A/B									34		3
Amphinemoura sp.       Capniidae       Clioperla sp.       Eccoptura sp.       Isoperla sp.       Isoperla sp.       Isoperla sp.       Perlesta sp.       Perlesta sp.       Perlidae	A/B A			2								
Capniidae         Clioperla sp.         Eccoptura sp.         Isoperla sp.         Isoperla sp.         Ostrocerca sp.         Perilesta sp.         Perilaae         Perilaa	A	٢			11	4					6	
Clioperla sp. Eccoptura sp. Isoperla sp. Ostrocerca sp. Perlesta sp. Perlidae Perlid						2						1
Eccoptura sp. Isoperla sp. Ostrocerca sp. Perlesta sp. Perlidae Pe	A			٢								
Isoperla sp. Ostrocerca sp. Perlesta sp. Perlidae Perlidae Perlidae Taenionema sp. Taenionema sp. Taenis sp. Caenis sp. Eurylophella sp. Habrophlebiodes sp. Isonychia sp.	A/B	1			1							2
Ostrocerca sp. Perlesta sp. Perlidae Perlidae Taenionema sp. Taenionema sp. Taenionema sp. Caenis sp. Caenis sp. Ephemerella sp. Eurylophella sp. Isonychia sp.	A/B	1			2	2			1	2		
Perlesta sp.       Perlidae       Perlidae       Perlidae       Taenionema sp.       Taenionema sp.       Ephemeroptera       Acentrella sp.       Ephemerella sp.       Eurylophella sp.       Habrophheliodes sp.       Isonychia sp.	A/B			3								
Perlidae       Perlidae       Perlidae       Taenionema sp.       Taenionema sp.       Ephemeroptera       Acentrella sp.       Caenis sp.       Ephemerella sp.       Habrophlebiodes sp.       Isonychia sp.       I eucrocuta sp.	в							9	23	17	7	
Perlidae       Taenionema sp.       Taenionema sp.       Ephemeroptera       Accentrella sp.       Baetis sp.       Caenis sp.       Eurylophella sp.       Habrophlebiodes sp.       Isonychia sp.	A				3						4	
Taenionema sp.         Ephemeroptera       Acentrella sp.         Baetis sp.       Caenis sp.         Caenis sp.       Ephemerella sp.         Habrophlebiodes sp.       Isonychia sp.         I eucrocuta sp.       I eucrocuta sp.	A	2										
Ephemeroptera Acentrella sp. Baetis sp. Caenis sp. Ephemerella sp. Habrophlebiodes sp. Isonychia sp.	A/B			e								
Baetis sp. Caenis sp. Ephemerella sp. Eurylophella sp. Isonychia sp.	В									-		5
Caenis sp. Ephemerella sp. Eurylophella sp. Habrophlebiodes sp. Isonychia sp.	В	-			56	18	8		82	32	94	49
Ephemerella sp. Eurylophella sp. Isonychia sp.	B/C	9		٢	7	2			27	2	8	-
Eurylophella sp. Habrophlebiodes sp. Isonychia sp.	A/B	2		22	З				-		12	
Habrophlebiodes sp. Isonychia sp. I eucrocuta sp.	В		1		13	16			3		3	9
Isonychia sp. I eucrocuta sp.	В				11	2						19
l eucrocuta sp.	A/B	8		8	-		36		2		4	
	A										6	4
Paraleptophlebia sp.	A/B		-		З				-	11	2	76
Stenacron sp.	В				-		_		-		с	4
Stenonema sp.	В	24		18	11	5	9	4	9	24	23	28
Timpanoga sp.	A/B									-		
Serratella sp.	A/B				8	14	-		45	10	12	2
Trichoptera Cheumatopsyche sp.	В	10	18	9	5	12	267	112	8	83	4	37
Chimarra sp.	В	9	3	9	2	4	5	3	38	1	8	2
Diplectrona sp.	A/B								-			2
Dolophilodes sp.	A				7							8
Glossosomma sp.	A			-						2		З
Hydatophylax sp.	A/B					-	Ī		-			
Hydropsyche sp.	В	11	10	2	6	23	24		20	33	4	з
Table 6. Catoctin Creek and Tributaries - Macroinvertebrate 1m<sup>2</sup> Collection - Number of Individuals Cont'd

							Ŭ	atoctin Creek					
				Mainstem					Tributar	ies			
Order	Таха	Pollution Tolerance	South	Fork	North Fork	Hamilton Station Tributary	Talbot Farm Tributary	Clover Mill Road Tributary	Richard Creek	Brens Creek	Milltow	n Creek	EcoVillage Tributary
		value	Ketoctin Church Road	Piggott Bottom Road	Hillsboro Road	Hamilton Station Road	Clarks Gap Road	Clover Mill Road	Purcellville Road	Ash George Road	Milltown Road	Bolington Road	Taylortown Road
			4/21/2005	4/21/2005	4/21/2005	5/6/2005	5/6/2005	6/10/2005	6/2/2005	5/11/2005	6/6/2005	5/11/2005	6/10/2005
	Ironoquia sp.	A/B				-	-						
	Neophylax sp.	A/B	4		6	18	7				3	1	
	Triaenodes sp.	В									٦	2	
	Wormaldia sp.	A										1	
Megaloptera	Corydalus sp.	В			-			-					
	Nigronia sp.	в	2		-								
Anisoptera	Boyeria sp.	A/B		2		٢	2		3	٢	1	1	
	Gomphus sp.	В		-	-				2				
	Hagenius sp.	В			-				-				
	Stylogomphus sp.	A	-										
Zygoptera	Argia sp.	B/C	+						4		-	-	
	Calopteryx sp.	В		З		11	4	3	7	9	9		10
	Enallagma sp.	B/C		2				-					
Coleoptera	Coleoptera	В				-							
	Dineutus sp.	В					-		43				
	Dubiraphia sp.	В									2		
	Gonielmis sp.	В				-				3	-	9	-
	Gyrinus sp.	В						2					
	Helichus sp.	В	2	٢					3		1	1	
	Hydaticus sp.	В				-	-	-					
	Hydroporus sp.	В					-		-			-	4
	Macronychus sp.	В		4		-		-	20	5	10	-	
	Optioservus sp.	В	-		3	2				З			
	Psephenus sp.	В	22		2	3	8	2		9	2	8	19
	Staphylinidae	В						-					
	Stenelmis sp.	В	13	26	£	31	12	19	22	13	42	28	25
Diptera	Anopheles sp.	U											-
	Antocha sp.	В			-		3	9	5		с		
	Bezzia sp.	В									2		
	Ceratopogonodae	В										-	
	Chironomini	В	4	6	2	7	37	37	224	15	23	30	19
	Chrysops sp.	B/C			-								
	Culicoides sp.	υ									۲		

Table 6. Catoctin Creek and Tributaries - Macroinvertebrate 1m<sup>2</sup> Collection - Number of Individuals Cont<sup>3</sup>d

							Ŭ	atoctin Creek					
				Mainstem					Tributar	ies			
Order	Таха	Pollution Tolerance	South	Fork	North Fork	Hamilton Station Tributary	Talbot Farm Tributary	Clover Mill Road Tributary	Richard Creek	Brens Creek	Milltow	n Creek	EcoVillage Tributary
			Ketoctin Church Road	Piggott Bottom Road	Hillsboro Road	Hamilton Station Road	Clarks Gap Road	Clover Mill Road	Purcellville Road	Ash George Road	Milltown Road	Bolington Road	Taylortown Road
			4/21/2005	4/21/2005	4/21/2005	5/6/2005	5/6/2005	6/10/2005	6/2/2005	5/11/2005	6/6/2005	5/11/2005	6/10/2005
	Diamesinae	В	1	1	1		9	4					٢
	Dicranota sp.	В		1							3		1
	Dixella sp.	B/C											3
	Hemerodromia sp.	В					٢						
	Hexatoma sp.	В	5	1	1	1	2	16	8	2	4	8	2
	Muscidae	B/C						٢					
	Orthocladiinae	В	18	06	60	33	11	16	2	10	25	17	2
	Pedicia sp.	В							1				
	Prosimulium sp.	B/C			4								
	Simulium sp.	B/C		3		4	٢	3	13	27	47	16	4
	Tanypodinae	В	۲		٢	1	4	24	6	1	4		13
	Tanytarsini	В			٢	2	7	3	25	1	1	6	
	Tipula sp.	В	٦					7			3	1	21
Lepidoptera	Lepidoptera	В			1								
Hemiptera	Gerris sp.	В											1
	Hesperocorixa sp.	В						٢					
	Microvelia sp.	в						-					3
Decapoda	Cambaridae	В				-			1	3			4
Amphipoda	Gammaridae	В						2					
	Gammarus sp.	в				2				32	З		
Pelecyoda	Sphaeriidae	B/C	8	19						3		1	
	Unionidae	B/C	1										
Gastropoda	Physella sp.	B/C						80	ю		2		-
	Planorbidae	B/C		٦					1		-		
Hirudinea	Hirudinea	U		5			2	7	7				
Oligochaeta	Oligochaeta	B/C	2	8		-	-	З	5		7	7	
Nematomorpha	Nematomorpha	U		-									
	Total		161	211	77	277	217	517	532	391	452	344	390

# Table 7. Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek - Macroinvertebrate Functional Feeding Group<sup>1</sup> and Pollution Tolerance Values<sup>2</sup>

Orden	Family	Taura	Common	Tolerance	Feeding Functional
Discontoro	Family		Name		Groups
Plecoptera	Caphildae	1. Allocaphia sp.	Stonelly	A/B	Bredeter
	Nemouridae	2. Suwalia sp.	Stonefly	A	Shraddar
	Derlidee	3. Nemoura sp.	Stonelly	A	Dredeter
	Periluae	4. Penesia sp.	Stonefly		Predator
	Teopioptorygidee	5. Isopena sp.	Stonefly		Shraddar
Enhomorontoro	Pactidaa	C. Taeniopteryx sp.	Mouth		Collector
Ephemeropleia	Daelluae	7. Acentrella sp.	Mouth	D	Collector
	Coonidoo	o. Baelis sp.	Mouth		Collector
	Enhomorollidoo	9. Caeriis sp.	Mouth	D/C	Soropor
	Ephemereilidae	10. Euryophena sp.	Mouth	D	Scraper
		12 Dereleptenblobie en	Movifly		Collector
Trichantera	Classocamatidae	12. Paraleptophiebia sp.	Coddiofly	A/D	Collector
Thchoptera	Glossosomatidae	13. Glossosoma sp.	Caddisily	A	Scraper
	Hydropsychidae	14. Cheumatopsyche sp.	Caddisily	В	Filterer
		16. Diplostropo op	Caddisfly		Filterer
	Linnenbilidee	16. Diplectrona sp.		A/B	Flitterer
		17. Hydatophylax sp.		A/B	Shredder
	Philopotamidae	18. Dolophilodes sp.		A	Filterer
	Dhuasanhilidee	19. Chimarra sp.		B	Filterer
	Rnyacophilidae	20. Rhyacophila sp.		A	Predator
Zumentere		21. Neophylax sp.		A/B	Scraper
		22. Calopteryx sp.	Damseiny	В	Predator
Coleoptera	Dryopidae	23. Helichus sp.	Beetle	В	Scraper
	Dytiscidae	24. Hydroporus sp.	Beetle Diffle Deetle	В	Predator
Distant		25. Steneimis sp.	Riffle Beetle	В	Scraper
Diptera		26. Stilobezzia sp.	Biting Widges	В	Predator
	Chironomidae	27. Unknown	Midge	В	Collector
			Midge	В	Collector
		29. Tanypodinae	Midge	В	Predator
		30. Tanytarsini	Midge	В	Collector
			Midge	B	Collector
	Simuliidae	32. Simulium sp.	Blackfly	B/C	Filterer
<u> </u>	Tipulidae	33. Tipula sp.	Cranetly	В	Shredder
Decapoda	Cambaridae	34. Unknown	Crayfish	В	Shredder

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A number assigned to an individual or its group describing the degree to which that individual or group tolerates organic pollution.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Feeding adaptations that classify the nutritional processing method performed by different aquatic insects (Merritt and Cummins, 1984).

### Table 8. Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek - Macroinvertebrate RSAT Voucher Collection - Relative Abundance <sup>1</sup>

		Pollution	Quarter Branch	Dutchman Creek
Order	Таха	Tolerance Value <sup>2</sup>	12/28/2005	10/28/2005
Plecoptera	Acroneuria sp.	А		1.0
	Eccoptura sp.	A/B		2.3
	Taeniopteryx sp.	A/B	1.0	1.0
	Allocapnia sp.	A/B	3.3	
Ephemeroptera	Caenis sp.	B/C		1.7
	Ephemera sp.	A/B		1.0
	lsonychia sp.	A/B		1.7
	Paraleptophlebia sp.	A/B		1.0
	Stenonema sp.	В		2.3
	Baetidae	В	1.0	
Trichoptera	Cheumatopsyche sp.	В		1.0
	Chimarra sp.	В		3.3
	Hydropsyche sp.	В	1.0	2.0
	Neophylax sp.	A/B	1.0	
Megaloptera	Nigronia sp.	В		1.0
Coleoptera	Oulimnius sp.	A/B		1.0
	Psephenus sp.	В		3.0
	Stenelmis sp.	В	1.0	1.7
Diptera	Antocha sp.	В		1.0
	Chironomidae	В	1.0	1.3
	Chironomini	В		1.0
	Hexatoma sp.	В		1.0
	Leptotarsus sp.	В		1.0
	Orthocladiinae	В		1.0
	Tipula sp.	В	2.0	2.0
Decapoda	Cambaridae	В	1.0	
Gastropoda	Physella sp.	B/C	1.0	
Oligochaeta	Oligochaeta	B/C		1.0
	Total Taxa <sup>3</sup>		10	23

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Relative abundance scores were averaged for each mainstem reach. Relative abundance interpretation: 0.1-0.9 = Scarce, 1.0-2.0 = Scarce/Common, 2.1-3.0 = Common, 3.1-4.0 = Common/Abundant, > 4.0 = Abundant.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Pollution Tolerance Rating: A = Intolerant, B = Moderately Tolerant, C = Tolerant.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Taxa Richness Interpretation: >=25 = Excellent, 16-24 = Good, 8-15 = Fair, <8 = Poor.

			Quarter Branch	Dutchman Creek
Orden	Taura	Pollution	Garnet Road	Irish Corner Road
Order	Taxa	Value <sup>1</sup>	5/12/2005	6/10/2005
Plecoptera	Agnetina sp.	A		14
	Isoperla sp.	A/B	15	1
	Perlesta sp.	В	3	3
	Perlidae	А		1
	Nemoura sp.	А	44	
	Suwallia sp.	А	2	
Ephemeroptera	Acentrella sp.	В	31	1
	Attennella sp.	A/B		1
	Baetis sp.	В	92	15
	Caenis sp.	B/C	3	2
	Centroptilum sp.	A/B		1
	Ephemeridae	A/B		1
	Habrophlebiodes sp.	В		9
	Isonychia sp.	A/B		61
	Leucrocuta sp.	А		6
	Paraleptophlebia sp.	A/B	6	2
	Procloeon sp.	В		1
	Serratella sp.	A/B		6
	Stenonema sp.	В	7	34
	Eurvophella sp.	В	5	
Trichoptera	Cheumatopsyche sp.	В	1	69
	Chimarra sp.	В		37
	Dolophilodes sp.	А	132	2
	Hvdropsvche sp.	В	2	35
	Neophylax sp.	A/B	5	
	Chimarra sp.	В	2	
	Glossosoma sp.	Α	1	1
	Hvdatophvlax sp.	A/B	1	
	Rhvacophila sp.	A	2	
	Diplectrona sp.	A/B	6	
Megaloptera	Corvdalus sp.	B		1
	Nigronia sp.	B		1
Anisoptera	Gomphus sp.	B		1
Zvgoptera	Argia sp.	B/C		1
	Caloptervx sp.	B	4	
Coleoptera	Gvrinus sp.	B		1
	Microcylloepus sp.	A/B		1
	Psephenus sp.	B		3
	Stenelmis sp	B	3	45
	Gonielmis sp	B		2
	Helichus sp	B	1	
	Hydroporus sp	B	2	
Diptera	Antocha sp	R	~	18
2.000	Chironomidae	B	2	
			-	

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Pollution Tolerance Rating: A = Intolerant, B = Moderately Tolerant, C = Tolerant.

Note: a blank cell indicates the macroinvertebrate group was not found during the 1m<sup>2</sup> sampling.

## Table 9. Quarter Branch and Dutchman Creek - Macroinvertebrate 1m<sup>2</sup> Collection - Number of Individuals Cont'd

			Quarter Branch	Dutchman Creek
Quala	Taura	Pollution	Garnet Road	Irish Corner Road
Order	Taxa	l olerance Value <sup>1</sup>	5/12/2005	6/10/2005
	Chironomini	В	5	44
	Diamesinae	В		16
	Dicranota sp.	В		1
	Orthocladiinae	В		4
	Probezzia sp.	В		1
	Simulium sp.	B/C	6	1
	Tanypodinae	В	2	16
	Tanytarsini	В	36	2
	Tipula sp.	В	1	
	Stilobezzia sp.	В	1	
	Orthocladinae	В	37	
Hemiptera	Microvelia sp.	В		1
Decapoda	Cambaridae	В	1	1
Gastropoda	Physella sp.	B/C		2
Oligochaeta	Oligochaeta	B/C		4
	Total		461	470

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Pollution Tolerance Rating: A = Intolerant, B = Moderately Tolerant, C = Tolerant.

Note: a blank cell indicates the macroinvertebrate group was not found during the 1m<sup>2</sup> sampling.

### Table 10. Piney Run - Macroinvertebrate Functional Feeding Group<sup>1</sup> and Pollution Tolerance Values<sup>2</sup>

Order	Family	Таха	Pollution Tolerance Value	Common Name	Feeding Functional Groups
Plecoptera	Nemouridae	1. Amphinemura sp.	A/B	Stonefly	Shredder
	Perlidae	2. Acronueria sp.	Α	Stonefly	Predator
		3. Agnetina sp.	А	Stonefly	Predator
		4. Perlesta sp.	В	Stonefly	Predator
		5. Unknown	A	Stonefly	Predator
	Perlodidae	6. Isoperla sp.	A/B	Stonefly	Predator
	Pteronarcyidae	7. Pteronarcys sp.	A/B	Stonefly	Shredder
Ephemeroptera	Baetidae	8. Acentrella sp.	В	Mayfly	Collector
		9. Acerpenna sp.	В	Mayfly	Collector
		10. Unknown	В	Mayfly	Collector
		11. Baetis sp.	В	Mayfly	Collector
		12. Procloeon sp.	В	Mayfly	Collector
	Baetiscidae	13. Baetisca sp.	В	Mayfly	Collector
	Caenidae	14. Caenis sp.	B/C	Mayfly	Collector
	Ephemerellidae	15. Attenella sp.	A/B	Mayfly	Collector
		16. Drunella sp.	A	Mayfly	Scraper
		17. Ephemerella sp.	A/B	Mayfly	Collector
		18. Timpanoga sp.	A/B	Mayfly	Collector
	Heptageniidae	19. Stenacron sp.	В	Mayfly	Scraper
		20. Stenonema sp.	В	Mayfly	Scraper
	Isonychiidae	21. Isonychia sp.	A/B	Mayfly	Filterer
	Leptophlebiidae	22. Paraleptophlebia sp.	A/B	Mayfly	Collector
Trichoptera	Brachycentridae	23. Micrasema sp.	А	Caddisfly	Filterer
	Glossosomatidae	24. Agapetus sp.	A	Caddisfly	Scraper
		25. Glossosoma sp.	А	Caddisfly	Scraper
	Hydropsychidae	26. Cheumatopsyche sp.	В	Caddisfly	Filterer
		27. Hydropsyche sp.	В	Caddisfly	Filterer
	Leptoceridae	28. Triaenodes sp.	В	Caddisfly	Shredder
	Philopotamidae	29. Chirmarra sp.	В	Caddisfly	Filterer
		30. Dolophilodes sp.	A	Caddisfly	Filterer
	Psychomyiidae	31. Psychomyia sp.	A/B	Caddisfly	Collector
	Rhyacophilidae	32. Rhyacophila sp.	A	Caddisfly	Predator
	Uenoidae	33. Neophylax sp.	A/B	Caddisfly	Scraper
Megaloptera	Corydalidae	34. Corydalus sp.	В	Dobsonfly	Predator
		35. Nigronia sp.	В	Alderfly	Predator
Anisoptera	Aeshnidae	36. Boyeria sp.	A/B	Dragonfly	Predator
	Corduliidae	37. Macromia sp.	A/B	Dragonfly	Predator
	Gomphidae	38. Dromogomphus sp.	В	Dragonfly	Predator
		39. Unknown	A	Dragonfly	Predator
		40. Hagenius sp.	В	Dragonfly	Predator
		41. Stylogomphus sp.	A	Dragonfly	Predator
Zygoptera	Calopterygidae	42. Calyoptryx sp.	В	Damselfly	Predator
Coleoptera	Dryopidae	43. Helichus sp.	В	Beetle	Scraper
	Elmidae	44. Dubiraphia sp.	В	Riffle Beetle	Scraper
		45. Macronychus sp.	В	Riffle Beetle	Scraper
		46. Optioservus sp.	В	Riffle Beetle	Scraper

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A number assigned to an individual or its group describing the degree to which that individual or group tolerates organic pollution.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Feeding adaptations that classify the nutritional processing method performed by different aquatic insects (Merritt and Cummins, 1984).

# Table 11. Piney Run - Macroinvertebrate Functional Feeding Group<sup>1</sup> and Pollution Tolerance Values<sup>2</sup> Cont'd

Order	Family	Таха	Pollution Tolerance Value	Common Name	Feeding Functional Groups
		47. Oulimnius sp.	A/B	Riffle Beetle	Scraper
		48. Stenelmis sp.	В	Riffle Beetle	Scraper
	Psephenidae	49. Psephenus sp.	В	Water Penny	Scraper
Diptera	Blephariceridae	50. Blepharicera sp.	А	Net-winged midges	Scraper
	Ceratopogonidae	51. Dasyhelea sp.	В	Biting Midges	Collector
	Chironomidae	52. Chironomini	В	Midge	Collector
		53. Orthocladiinae	В	Midge	Collector
		54. Tanypodinae	В	Midge	Predator
		55. Tanytarsini	В	Midge	Collector
	Empididae	56. Hemerodromia sp.	В	Daggerfly	Predator
	Tipulidae	57. Antocha sp.	В	Cranefly	Collector
		58. Leptotarsus sp.	В	Cranefly	Shredder
		59. Tiupla sp.	В	Cranefly	Shredder
Decapoda	Cambaridae	60. Unknown	В	Crayfish	Shredder
Amphipoda	Gammaridae	61. Gammarus sp.	В	Scud	Shredder
Gastropoda	Ancylidae	62. Unknown	B/C	Limpet	Scraper
Oligochaeta	Oligochaeta	63. Unknown	B/C	Aquatic Worm	Collector

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A number assigned to an individual or its group describing the degree to which that individual or group tolerates organic pollution.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Feeding adaptations that classify the nutritional processing method performed by different aquatic insects (Merritt and Cummins, 1984).

Table 12. Piney Run - Macroinvertebrate RSAT Voucher Collection - Relative Abundance <sup>1</sup>

		Dellution	Middle	Lower
Order	Таха	Tolerance	Arnold Lane	Branchriver Road
		value	10/19/2005	10/19/2005
Plecoptera	Acronueria sp.	А	2.7	2.0
Ephemeroptera	Baetisca sp.	В	1.0	1.0
	Isonychia sp.	A/B	1.5	1.5
	Stenacron sp.	В		2.0
	Stenonema sp.	В	3.7	2.0
Trichoptera	Cheumatopsyche sp.	В	3.7	2.0
	Chirmarra sp.	В	2.0	
	Glossosoma sp.	А	1.0	
	Hydropsyche sp.	В	3.0	1.0
	Neophylax sp.	A/B	2.0	
Megaloptera	Nigronia sp.	В	1.0	
Anisoptera	Stylogomphus sp.	A	1.0	1.0
Coleoptera	Helichus sp.	В	1.0	1.0
	Optioservus sp.	В	1.3	
	Oulimnius sp.	A/B		1.0
	Psephenus sp.	В	1.0	
	Stenelmis sp.	В	1.3	1.0
Diptera	Leptotarsus sp.	В		1.0
	Orthocladiinae	В	1.0	1.0
	Tanytarsini	В	1.0	
	Tiupla sp.	В	3.0	2.0
Decapoda	Cambaridae	В	1.0	
Gastropoda	Ancylidae	B/C		3.0
	Total Taxa <sup>3</sup>		19	15

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Relative abundance scores were averaged for each mainstem reach. Relative abundance interpretation: 0.1-0.9 = Scarce, 1.0-2.0 = Scarce/Common, 2.1-3.0 = Common, 3.1-4.0 = Common/Abundant, > 4.0 = Abundant.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Pollution Tolerance Rating: A = Intolerant, B = Moderately Tolerant, C = Tolerant.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Taxa Richness Interpretation: >=25 = Excellent, 16-24 = Good, 8-15 = Fair, <8 = Poor.

			Pin	ey Run
		Pollution	Middle	Lower
Order	Таха	Tolerance	Arnold	Branchriver
		Value'	Lane	Road
			5/11/2005	5/11/2005
Plecoptera	Acronueria sp.	A	6	
	Agnetina sp.	A	7	
	Amphinemura sp.	A/B		1
	Isoperla sp.	A/B		5
	Perlesta sp.	В	26	
	Perlidae	A	12	3
	Pteronarcys sp.	A/B	1	1
Ephemeroptera	Acentrella sp.	В	8	
	Acerpenna sp.	В	5	
	Attenella sp.	A/B	8	4
	Baetidae	В		4
	Baetis sp.	В	41	6
	Caenis sp.	B/C	4	
	Drunella sp.	A	26	1
	Ephemerella sp.	A/B	22	86
	Isonychia sp.	A/B	45	1
	Paraleptophlebia sp.	A/B	1	
	Procloeon sp.	В	5	
	Stenacron sp.	В	2	
	Stenonema sp.	В	26	20
	Timpanoga sp.	A/B	2	
Trichoptera	Agapetus sp.	A		4
	Cheumatopsyche sp.	В	50	15
	Dolophilodes sp.	A	2	4
	Glossosoma sp.	Α	23	
	Hydropsyche sp.	В	53	11
	Micrasema sp.	A		10
	Neophylax sp.	A/B	4	10
	Psychomyia sp.	A/B		1
	Rhyacophila sp.	А	1	1
	Triaenodes sp.	В	1	
Megaloptera	Corydalus sp.	В	2	
	Nigronia sp.	В	9	1
Anisoptera	Boyeria sp.	A/B	4	
	Dromogomphus sp.	В		1
	Gomphidae	A	1	1
	Hagenius sp.	В		1
	Macromia sp.	A/B		2
	Stylogomphus sp.	A	1	
Zygoptera	Calyoptryx sp.	В	3	4
Coleoptera	Dubiraphia sp.	В	2	
	Helichus sp.	В	1	
	Macronychus sp.	В	7	4
	Optioservus sp.	В	4	

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Pollution Tolerance Rating: A = Intolerant, B = Moderately Tolerant, C = Tolerant.

Note: a blank cell indicates the macroinvertebrate group was not found during the 1m<sup>2</sup> sampling.

# Table 13. Piney Run - Macroinvertebrate 1m<sup>2</sup> Collection - Number of Individuals Cont'd

	Psephenus sp.	В	1	
	Stenelmis sp.	В	12	
Diptera	Antocha sp.	В	12	3
	Blepharicera sp.	А		4
	Chironomini	В	66	3
	Dasyhelea sp.	В		3
	Hemerodromia sp.	В		1
	Orthocladiinae	В	15	28
	Tanypodinae	В	1	1
	Tanytarsini	В	9	
Decapoda	Cambaridae	В	2	
Amphipoda	Gammarus sp.	В		5
Oligochaeta	Oligochaeta	B/C	2	5
	Total Taxa		535	255

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Pollution Tolerance Rating: A = Intolerant, B = Moderately Tolerant, C = Tolerant.

Figure 1. Catoctin Creek Mainstem Non-Forested Areas Within 100 Foot Buffer - Confluence to Milltown Road



## Appendix 6 Figure 2. Catoctin Creek Mainstem Non-Forested Areas Within 100 Foot Buffer - Milltown Road to Taylorstown Road



Figure 3. Catoctin Creek Mainstem Non-Forested Areas Within 100 Foot Buffer - Taylorstown Road to Potomac River



Table 2. Calocum Creek - Locations of Foldular Migarian Metorestation Step within 55 to Migarian Durier
---

	Stroom	Squara East	Aoros	Latituda	Longitudo
	Stream	Square Feel	Acres		
1	South Fork Catoctin Creek	305,422.6	7.01	39.153085	-77.657263
2	South Fork Catoctin Creek	202,096.3	4.64	39.185611	-77.618817
3	South Fork Catoctin Creek	191,075.9	4.39	39.167341	-77.703929
4	South Fork Catoctin Creek	176,760.3	4.06	39.175855	-77.637235
5	South Fork Catoctin Creek	126,906.2	2.91	39.177240	-77.773848
6	South Fork Catoctin Creek	124,811.5	2.87	39.172902	-77.770421
7	South Fork Catoctin Creek	102,332.6	2.35	39.196745	-77.616714
8	South Fork Catoctin Creek	99,588.6	2.29	39.178308	-77.631307
9	South Fork Catoctin Creek	81,781.4	1.88	39.189628	-77.614845
10	South Fork Catoctin Creek	70,521.9	1.62	39.163880	-77.714761
11	South Fork Catoctin Creek	67,571.6	1.55	39.146819	-77.664535
12	South Fork Catoctin Creek	55,738.7	1.28	39.180853	-77.628589
13	South Fork Catoctin Creek	55,342.1	1.27	39.149925	-77.655830
14	South Fork Catoctin Creek	55,056.9	1.26	39.158083	-77.638452
15	South Fork Catoctin Creek	52,157.5	1.20	39.161360	-77.641683
16	South Fork Catoctin Creek	51,423.1	1.18	39.168523	-77.671959
17	South Fork Catoctin Creek	48,713.6	1.12	39.162911	-77.752717
18	South Fork Catoctin Creek	47,822.7	1.10	39.163761	-77.755932
19	South Fork Catoctin Creek	47,157.0	1.08	39.142073	-77.714774
20	South Fork Catoctin Creek	43,567.1	1.00	39.142506	-77.722738
21	South Fork Catoctin Creek	43,510.2	1.00	39.191953	-77.616105
22	South Fork Catoctin Creek	42,257.3	0.97	39.148778	-77.741080
23	South Fork Catoctin Creek	40,333.2	0.93	39.146886	-77.654473
24	South Fork Catoctin Creek	39,602.0	0.91	39.170203	-77.681756
25	South Fork Catoctin Creek	38,374.4	0.88	39.153336	-77.638848
26	South Fork Catoctin Creek	38,345.7	0.88	39.168787	-77.699043
27	South Fork Catoctin Creek	38,215.3	0.88	39.170031	-77.684906
28	South Fork Catoctin Creek	32,660.7	0.75	39.144175	-77.728317
29	South Fork Catoctin Creek	32,628.7	0.75	39.193604	-77.617081
30	South Fork Catoctin Creek	29,885.3	0.69	39.169951	-77.675207
31	South Fork Catoctin Creek	28,892.4	0.66	39.162995	-77.721147
32	South Fork Catoctin Creek	27,487.3	0.63	39.163443	-77.719368
33	South Fork Catoctin Creek	25,812.1	0.59	39.144064	-77.725165
34	South Fork Catoctin Creek	25,514.6	0.59	39.209180	-77.620686
35	South Fork Catoctin Creek	25,464.3	0.58	39.160054	-77.652318
36	South Fork Catoctin Creek	25,061.2	0.58	39.170040	-77.678281
37	South Fork Catoctin Creek	24,481.8	0.56	39.145197	-77.732025
38	South Fork Catoctin Creek	23,223.7	0.53	39.169917	-77.673280
39	South Fork Catoctin Creek	23.005.0	0.53	39,149862	-77.700074
40	South Fork Catoctin Creek	22,450.2	0.52	39.146903	-77.668126
1	North Fork Catoctin Creek	387.691.3	8.90	39.181596	-77.685147
2	North Fork Catoctin Creek	204.459.5	4.69	39.202095	-77.626074
3	North Fork Catoctin Creek	161.323.0	3.70	39,215292	-77,760249
4	North Fork Catoctin Creek	159,279.1	3.66	39,195432	-77,753596
5	North Fork Catoctin Creek	152 282 4	3.50	39 188108	-77 706942
6	North Fork Catoctin Creek	141,792.9	3.26	39,220719	-77,750281
	North Fork Catoctin Creek	117 252 4	2.69	39 192091	-77 749642
	North Fork Catoctin Creek	116 721 2	2.68	39 194614	-77 649941
0	North Fork Catoctin Creek	107 524 8	2.00	39 195620	-77 768488
10	North Fork Catoctin Creek	105 876 7	2 43	39 200904	-77 738138
11	North Fork Catoctin Creek	72 047 2	1 65	39 103274	-77 671523
10	North Fork Catoctin Creek	12,041.2 44 202 R	1.00	30 21227	-77 7/6526
12	North Fork Catoctin Creek	42 317 5	0.02	30 215060	-77 7//825
1.4	North Fork Catoctin Crock	32 367 0	0.37	30 22/270	_77 750/11
14	North Fork Catoctin Crock	27 009 6	0.74	30 201001	-77 7320411
10	North Fork Catoctin Creek	26 500 0	0.02	39.201001	-77 7/52043
10		20.030.3	0.01	00.200000	

<sup>1</sup>Please note that existing development, infrastructure such as roads, or land features may preclude the reforestation of some of the highlighted potential reforestation areas. In addition, it is also recognized that these areas will need to be groundtruthed and that actual reforestation of these sites is incumbent upon approval of the landowner.

 Table 2. Catoctin Creek - Locations of Potential Riparian Reforestation Sites within 35 ft. Riparian Buffer Cont'd

ID	Stream	Square Feet	Acres	Latitude	Longitude
17	North Fork Catoctin Creek	25,597.5	0.59	39.210242	-77.746563
18	North Fork Catoctin Creek	25,052.4	0.58	39.218028	-77.744224
19	North Fork Catoctin Creek	23,925.0	0.55	39.187689	-77.702969
20	North Fork Catoctin Creek	23,456.0	0.54	39.209840	-77.745485
21	North Fork Catoctin Creek	22,528.1	0.52	39.199200	-77.633377
1	Catoctin Creek Mainstem	37.654.1	0.86	39.226045	-77.596886
2	Catoctin Creek Mainstem	31,909,8	0.73	39.274079	-77.558308
3	Catoctin Creek Mainstem	30.651.9	0.70	39,253880	-77.580618
4	Catoctin Creek Mainstem	25,095.1	0.58	39.248092	-77.600608
5	Catoctin Creek Mainstem	23,765,8	0.55	39.252391	-77.583036
6	Catoctin Creek Mainstem	22,316.8	0.51	39.210073	-77.621371
1	Hamilton Station Rd. Tributary	52.288.1	1.20	39,163105	-77.632436
2	Hamilton Station Rd. Tributary	34.237.8	0.79	39,161590	-77.623530
3	Hamilton Station Rd. Tributary	22,623.7	0.52	39.163189	-77.634420
1	Talbot Farms Tributary	277.504.2	6.37	39,181380	-77.611411
2	Talbot Farms Tributary	178,599,9	4.10	39,182528	-77.596601
3	Talbot Farms Tributary	58,270,4	1.34	39,184241	-77.591029
4	Talbot Farms Tributary	47,645.9	1.09	39.181520	-77.602177
1	Clover Mill Tributary	106.226.0	2.44	39.203927	-77.596834
2	Clover Mill Tributary	104.685.4	2.40	39.207521	-77.605909
3	Clover Mill Tributary	60,838.4	1.40	39.205553	-77.601350
4	Clover Mill Tributary	59,324.0	1.36	39.218900	-77.599304
5	Clover Mill Tributary	42,091.0	0.97	39.212230	-77.606630
1	Featherbed Road Tributary	88,174.5	2.02	39.232083	-77.590468
1	Brens Creek	354,578.6	8.14	39.208870	-77.665749
2	Brens Creek	105,759.6	2.43	39.215990	-77.647045
3	Brens Creek	103,474.7	2.38	39.207403	-77.684387
4	Brens Creek	99,240.4	2.28	39.220320	-77.674977
5	Brens Creek	99,188.4	2.28	39.221036	-77.672007
6	Brens Creek	99,114.6	2.28	39.214185	-77.642969
7	Brens Creek	93,347.5	2.14	39.216383	-77.659779
8	Brens Creek	88,375.6	2.03	39.217841	-77.684470
9	Brens Creek	78,682.0	1.81	39.215659	-77.653176
10	Brens Creek	75,955.7	1.74	39.216468	-77.631836
11	Brens Creek	53,062.0	1.22	39.207310	-77.679927
12	Brens Creek	52,853.7	1.21	39.219906	-77.616293
13	Brens Creek	47,321.9	1.09	39.218898	-77.679867
14	Brens Creek	41,354.5	0.95	39.226041	-77.676065
15	Brens Creek	33,364.3	0.77	39.213417	-77.638332
16	Brens Creek	27,966.3	0.64	39.223347	-77.674693
17	Brens Creek	27,188.0	0.62	39.221456	-77.627141
18	Brens Creek	24,485.3	0.56	39.231445	-77.679041
19	Brens Creek	22,273.2	0.51	39.217382	-77.664442
1	Milltown Creek	92,533.4	2.12	39.235806	-77.612377
2	Milltown Creek	67,060.3	1.54	39.242957	-77.680965
3	Milltown Creek	46,491.6	1.07	39.243855	-77.666723
4	Milltown Creek	43,586.8	1.00	39.243135	-77.668854
5	Milltown Creek	39,001.1	0.90	39.243753	-77.644670
6	Milltown Creek	35,333.9	0.81	39.244248	-77.683600
7	Milltown Creek	27,942.1	0.64	39.244710	-77.651790

 Table 3. Catoctin Creek - Locations of Potential Riparian Reforestation Sites within 100 ft. Riparian Buffer<sup>1</sup>

ID	Stream	Square Feet	Acres	Latitude	Longitude
1 South	Fork Catoctin Creek	948 124 6	21 77	39 177437	-77 634112
2 South	Fork Catoctin Creek	884,722,7	20.31	39,153343	-77.657225
3 South	Fork Catoctin Creek	695.452.8	15.97	39.174855	-77.772076
4 South	Fork Catoctin Creek	618.649.1	14.20	39.167013	-77.705007
5 South	Fork Catoctin Creek	599.451.6	13.76	39.186008	-77.618553
6 South	Fork Catoctin Creek	583,519.0	13.40	39.195154	-77.616754
7 South	Fork Catoctin Creek	454,393.9	10.43	39.142562	-77.719858
8 South	Fork Catoctin Creek	450,113.4	10.33	39.159973	-77.640350
9 South	Fork Catoctin Creek	331,650.9	7.61	39.169405	-77.673700
10 South	Fork Catoctin Creek	248,987.2	5.72	39.170051	-77.683644
11 South	Fork Catoctin Creek	243,748.6	5.60	39. <u>1507</u> 13	-77 <u>.700</u> 111
12 South	Fork Catoctin Creek	234,762.9	5.39	39.146808	-77.663676
13 South	Fork Catoctin Creek	219,007.7	5.03	39.162671	-77.752725
14 South	Fork Catoctin Creek	209,596.9	4.81	39.144649	-77.730132
15 South	Fork Catoctin Creek	209,454.9	4.81	39.189498	-77.614810
16 South	Fork Catoctin Creek	207,092.5	4.75	39.164372	-77.756411
17 South	Fork Catoctin Creek	203,465.8	4.67	39.163903	-77.714763
18 South	Fork Catoctin Creek	187,771.3	4.31	39.146957	-77.654534
19 South	Fork Catoctin Creek	173,099.5	3.97	39.150011	-77.655927
20 South	Fork Catoctin Creek	163,252.9	3.75	39.154224	-77.638790
21 South	Fork Catoctin Creek	147,732.0	3.39	39.169730	-77.677854
22 South	Fork Catoctin Creek	116,403.7	2.67	39.166493	-77.665706
23 South	Fork Catoctin Creek	111,655.4	2.56	39.159525	-77.654644
24 South	Fork Catoctin Creek	110,708.1	2.54	39.148846	-77.741002
25 South	Fork Catoctin Creek	108,304.9	2.49	39.156939	-77.698377
26 South	Fork Catoctin Creek	102,207.6	2.35	39.146921	-77.667831
27 South	Fork Catoctin Creek	101,518.2	2.33	39.168744	-77.699079
28 South	Fork Catoctin Creek	93,131.6	2.14	39.170659	-77.688255
29 South	Fork Catoctin Creek	84,505.1	1.94	39.162958	-77.721244
30 South	Fork Catoctin Creek	84,208.7	1.93	39.163475	-77.719361
31 South	Fork Catoctin Creek	73,040.0	1.68	39.152360	-77.745754
32 South	Fork Catoctin Creek	66,684.5	1.53	39.164779	-77.711812
33 South	Fork Catoctin Creek	63,963.4	1.47	39.144532	-77.704543
34 South	Fork Catoctin Creek	62,869.4	1.44	39.143837	-77.707/10
35 South	Fork Catoctin Creek	62,650.8	1.44	39.159956	-77.652328
36 South	Fork Catoctin Creek	61,117.9	1.40	39.201644	-//.61/90/
3/ South	Fork Catoctin Creek	57,335.0	1.32	39.173050	-//.040390
38 South	Fork Catoctin Creek	52,224.4	1.20	39.164070	-//.098019
39 South	Fork Catoctin Creek	45,294.8	1.04	39.202701	-//.0101/3
40 South	Fork Catociin Creek	40,320.4	0.93	39.209101	-11.020000
41 South	Fork Calocum Greek	30,000.0	0.00	39.101002	-77 609104
42 South	FOR Calocum Creek	30,319.0	0.04	39.109200	77 600260
43 South	FOR Galucuin Greek	30,103.5	0.05	20 1/7865	77 735692
44 South	FOIR Caluciin Creek	28 430 9	0.05	20 155160	-77 700192
45 South	FUIR Caluciiii Creek	20,400.0	0.00	20 120105	77 617154
40 30001	FOIN Calucuin Creek	27,300.2	0.03	20 170471	-77 692090
1 North	Fork Catoctin Crook	1 116 885 4	25.64	20 181635	-77 685182
2 North	Fork Catoctin Creek	630 047 5	14 67	20 216050	-77 760917
2 North	Fork Catoctin Creek	500,047.0	11 50	39.210000	-77 626196
4 North	Fork Catoctin Creek	485 425 5	11.00	20 101407	-77 750037
5 North F	Fork Catoctin Creek	469 192 6	10.77	39.191497	-77 738651
6 North F	Fork Catoctin Creek	459 835 6	10.56	39 195431	-77 753496
7 North F	Fork Catoctin Creek	433 442 3	9.95	39 220454	-77 750260
8 North	Fork Catoctin Creek	407 522 5	9.36	39 188119	-77 706801
9 North F	Fork Catoctin Creek	380,949.7	8.75	39,194553	-77.649717

<sup>1</sup>Please note that existing development, infrastructure such as roads, or land features may preclude the reforestation of some of the highlighted potential reforestation areas. In addition, it is also recognized that these areas will need to be groundtruthed and that actual reforestation of these sites is incumbent upon approval of the landowner.

Table 3. Catoctin Creek - Locations of Potential Riparian Reforestation Sites within 100 ft. Riparian Buffer Cont'd

ID Stream	Square Feet	Acres	Latitude	Longitude
10 North Fork Catoctin Creek	350,847.7	8.05	39.196033	-77.768864
11 North Fork Catoctin Creek	328,666.4	7.55	39.193103	-77.672006
12 North Fork Catoctin Creek	318,908.0	7.32	39.209076	-77.745270
13 North Fork Catoctin Creek	145,318.0	3.34	39.187211	-77.702264
14 North Fork Catoctin Creek	138,737.7	3.18	39.199424	-77.746649
15 North Fork Catoctin Creek	131,091.8	3.01	39.216018	-77.744833
16 North Fork Catoctin Creek	126,830.5	2.91	39.206757	-77.623060
17 North Fork Catoctin Creek	119,915.5	2.75	39.212359	-77.746493
18 North Fork Catoctin Creek	116,955.3	2.68	39.184032	-77.693223
19 North Fork Catoctin Creek	112,742.3	2.59	39.224433	-77.750473
20 North Fork Catoctin Creek	110,435.7	2.54	39.206317	-77.745668
21 North Fork Catoctin Creek	83,842.2	1.92	39.218023	-77.744292
22 North Fork Catoctin Creek	80,744.3	1.85	39.200931	-77.732120
23 North Fork Catoctin Creek	75,691.2	1.74	39.195836	-77.724140
24 North Fork Catoctin Creek	75,202.3	1.73	39.193814	-77.660611
25 North Fork Catoctin Creek	71,581.6	1.64	39.191459	-77.643330
26 North Fork Catoctin Creek	63,744.4	1.46	39.197212	-77.746999
27 North Fork Catoctin Creek	63,636.2	1.46	39.206047	-77.742079
28 North Fork Catoctin Creek	55,174.4	1.27	39.196623	-//./5965/
29 North Fork Catoctin Creek	52,696.2	1.21	39.194114	-77.717052
30 North Fork Catoctin Creek	52,626.7	1.21	39.199206	-77.727025
31 North Fork Catoctin Creek	46,699.4	1.07	39.194401	-77.654963
32 North Fork Catoctin Creek	44,113.3	1.01	39.182914	-77.682041
33 North Fork Catoctin Creek	37,790.0	0.87	39.107142	-77.600373
34 North Fork Catactin Creek	34,100.1	0.76	39.199143	-77.750060
35 North Fork Catoctin Creek	32,994.0	0.76	39.209770	-11.132203
27 North Fork Catoctin Creek	32,073.5	0.75	39.220500	-77.722092
37 North Fork Catoctin Creek	32,009.0	0.73	39.195000	-77.750810
39 North Fork Catoctin Creek	32,309.9	0.74	39.200094	-77 712306
40 North Fork Catoctin Creek	30 698 4	0.74	39 185049	-77 681265
41 North Fork Catoctin Creek	29 253 6	0.67	39 192691	-77 641779
42 North Fork Catoctin Creek	26,512,5	0.61	39.210864	-77,757497
43 North Fork Catoctin Creek	26,313.8	0.60	39.208942	-77.755479
44 North Fork Catoctin Creek	22,437.4	0.52	39.183614	-77.697608
45 North Fork Catoctin Creek	22,187.1	0.51	39.196901	-77.762687
1 Catoctin Creek Mainstem	189,428.2	4.35	39.227034	-77.596774
2 Catoctin Creek Mainstem	116,756.7	2.68	39.253721	-77.580897
3 Catoctin Creek Mainstem	91,445.2	2.10	39.248158	-77.600405
4 Catoctin Creek Mainstem	85,330.0	1.96	39.272622	-77.554738
5 Catoctin Creek Mainstem	74,580.2	1.71	39.274164	-77.557951
6 Catoctin Creek Mainstem	52,321.9	1.20	39.220329	-77.598923
7 Catoctin Creek Mainstem	52,234.3	1.20	39.210169	-77.621446
8 Catoctin Creek Mainstem	49,405.7	1.13	39.252402	-77.583073
9 Catoctin Creek Mainstem	45,334.1	1.04	39.266370	-77.562285
10 Catoctin Creek Mainstem	36,004.3	0.83	39.248579	-77.587224
11 Catoctin Creek Mainstem	34,259.3	0.79	39.235535	-77.589401
12 Catoctin Creek Mainstem	33,005.9	0.76	39.255803	-77.576036
13 Catoctin Creek Mainstem	27,427.4	0.63	39.230717	-77.593124
14 Catoctin Creek Mainstem	22,340.1	0.51	39.241922	-77.590625
15 Catoctin Creek Mainstem	22,169.0	0.51	39.247444	-77.597366
1 Hamilton Station Road Tributary	238,834.5	5.48	39.163038	-77.632732
2 Hamilton Station Road Tributary	178,310.8	4.09	39.161708	-77.623840
3 Hamilton Station Road Tributary	102,232.1	2.35	39.155679	-11.616555
4 Hamilton Station Road Tributary	34,943.9	0.80	39.15/890	-77.620285
5 Hamilton Station Road Tributary	22,219.7	0.51	39.159837	-77.621412

Table 3. Catoctin Creek - Locations of Potential Riparian Reforestation Sites within 100 ft. Riparian Buffer Cont'd

ID	Stream	Square Feet	Acres	Latitude	Longitude
1	Talbot Farms Tributary	1,012,555.1	23.25	39.181661	-77.610247
2	Talbot Farms Tributary	638,297.2	14.65	39.182963	-77.595210
1	Clover Mill Tributary	548,985.1	12.60	39.204624	-77.598810
2	Clover Mill Tributary	297,573.9	6.83	39.207463	-77.605771
3	Clover Mill Tributary	165,915.4	3.81	39.218889	-77.599271
4	Clover Mill Tributary	119,996.7	2.75	39.212443	-77.606370
5	Clover Mill Tributary	68,566.1	1.57	39.214861	-77.602400
6	Clover Mill Tributary	65,560.9	1.51	39.210327	-77.607545
7	Clover Mill Tributary	39,160.5	0.90	39.203235	-77.592386
1	Featherbed Road Tributary	350,112.9	8.04	39.231198	-77.590702
1	Brens Creek	1,029,741.2	23.64	39.208791	-77.665999
2	Brens Creek	738,455.5	16.95	39.219074	-77.679613
3	Brens Creek	642,250.2	14.74	39.215941	-77.656896
4	Brens Creek	630,052.1	14.46	39.215185	-77.645368
5	Brens Creek	357,395.6	8.20	39.220522	-77.671403
6	Brens Creek	295,189.8	6.78	39.207413	-77.684425
7	Brens Creek	228,037.1	5.24	39.216523	-77.631854
8	Brens Creek	145,411.2	3.34	39.219806	-77.616526
9	Brens Creek	132,633.9	3.04	39.207308	-77.680052
10	Brens Creek	125,120.2	2.87	39.225992	-77.676091
11	Brens Creek	110,154.7	2.53	39.207257	-77.676427
12	Brens Creek	103,417.3	2.37	39.231511	-77.679113
13	Brens Creek	102,151.5	2.35	39.217143	-77.663946
14	Brens Creek	83,274.5	1.91	39.223337	-77.674647
15	Brens Creek	81,823.4	1.88	39.221528	-77.626501
16	Brens Creek	63,401.3	1.46	39.213469	-77.638175
17	Brens Creek	50,086.7	1.15	39.233470	-77.681400
18	Brens Creek	40,554.8	0.93	39.214047	-77.661173
19	Brens Creek	32,066.4	0.74	39.230237	-77.677750
20	Brens Creek	23,491.7	0.54	39.213865	-77.633548
1	Milltown Creek	468,857.5	10.76	39.244250	-77.664340
2	Milltown Creek	319,859.6	7.34	39.235934	-77.612319
3	Milltown Creek	315,055.7	7.23	39.243408	-77.681945
4	Milltown Creek	194,228.8	4.46	39.243856	-77.645339
5	Milltown Creek	150,361.7	3.45	39.244623	-77.650976
6	Milltown Creek	131,647.8	3.02	39.238620	-77.632538
7	Milltown Creek	104,130.0	2.39	39.247147	-77.688658
8	Milltown Creek	89,124.1	2.05	39.244684	-77.638077
9	Milltown Creek	59,185.8	1.36	39.242257	-77.634907
10	Milltown Creek	48,758.0	1.12	39.233857	-77.623643
11	Milltown Creek	42,646.8	0.98	39.234402	-77.620816
12	Milltown Creek	33,322.6	0.76	39.239933	-77.632741
13	Milltown Creek	32,933.2	0.76	39.244649	-77.654836
14		24,874.9	0.57	39.235031	-77.625910
1	Tributary 3 to Catoctin Creek	63,834.1	1.47	39.247559	-77.601910
2	Tributary 3 to Catoctin Creek	40,278.8	1.06	39.248748	-77.04031
3	Tributary 3 to Catoctin Creek	29,085.3	0.67	39.256532	-11.015063
4	Tributary 3 to Catoctin Creek	25,441.1	0.58	39.25/01/	-//.01/013
	Tributary 2 to Catoctin Creek	59,488.0	1.37	39.253172	-11.586002
2	Tributary 2 to Catoctin Creek	57,169.5	1.31	39.254/33	-11.588255
3	Tributary 2 to Catoctin Creek	39,492.3	0.91	39.258235	-11.590649
4		33,130.7	0.70	39.2008/9	
1	EcoVillage Tributary	25,501.6	0.59	39.261858	-77.570946